LETHAL WEAPONS – Novel approaches for receptor-targeted cancer cell elimination

Emilia Peuhu





LETHAL WEAPONS – Novel approaches for receptor-targeted cancer cell elimination

Emilia Peuhu

Turku Centre for Biotechnology, University of Turku and Åbo Akademi University Department of Biosciences, Åbo Akademi University Finland

2010

From the Department of Biosciences, Åbo Akademi University, and Turku Centre for Biotechnology, University of Turku and Åbo Akademi University

Supervised by

Professor John Eriksson Department of Biosciences, Åbo Akademi University and Turku Centre for Biotechnology, University of Turku and Åbo Akademi University Turku, Finland

Reviewed by

Professor Jyrki Heino Department of Biochemistry, University of Turku Turku, Finland

and

Professor Ian Cotgreave Karolinska Institute Stockholm, Sweden and Department of Molecular Toxicology, AstraZeneca Södertälje, Sweden

Opponent

Professor Jean-Paul Medema Division of Medical Oncology, University of Amsterdam Amsterdam, Netherlands

To the memory of my father

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	7
ABSTRACT	9
INTRODUCTION	10
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	11
1 CANCER AS A THERAPEUTIC CHALLENGE	11
1 Hallmarks of cancer	11
1.1.1 Conventional chemotherapy	
1.1.2 Challenges in development of cancer therapeutics	12
1.1.3 Targeted cancer therapies	13
1.1.4 Treatment of prostate cancer	14
1.2 Growth factor-induced survival signaling in prostate cancer	15
1.2.1 Receptor tyrosine kinase activation by growth factors	15
1.2.2 Phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase generates lipid second messengers	17
1.2.3 Akt activity promotes cell growth and survival	18
2. REGULATION OF APOPTOTIC CELL DEATH	19
2.1 Activators and inhibitors of apoptosis	19
2.1.1 Caspases – The executers of apoptosis	20
2.1.2 Caspase-inhibitory proteins suppress apoptotic signaling	21
2.1.3 Mitochondrial permeabilization releases proapoptotic factors	22
2.1.4 Regulation of the mitochondrial integrity by the Bcl-2 protein family	23
2.1.5 Bid as a mediator between extrinsic and intrinsic apoptosis pathways	24
2.2 Death receptor-mediated apoptosis	25
2.2.1 Death receptor ligands are important regulators of the immune system	25
2.2.2 Regulation of death receptor ligand activity	27
2.2.3 The initial phases of death receptor activation	28
2.2.4 INFRI- and CD95-induced signaling cascades	29
2.2.5 Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)	31
2.2.5.1 The foles of TRAIL in the immune system	31 22
2.2.5.2 Molecular incentarisms of TRAIL-induced signating	32
2.2.5.5 TRAIL induces apoptosis selectively in earlier cents	35
2.2.5.4 Overcoming ricking resistance in cancer cens	30
3 TARGETED APPROACHES FOR CANCER ELIMINATION	38
3.1 Lignans - Natural polyphenols with anticancer effects	38
3.1.1 Anticancer properties of lignans	40
3.1.2 Cellular effects of lignan activity	
3.2 Mesoporous silica nanoparticles as targeted drug delivery vectors for cancer	
therapy	43
3.2.1 Targeting strategies for specific delivery of nanonarticles to cancer cells	43
3.2.2 Cellular uptake mechanisms and intracellular transport of nanoparticles	
3.2.3 Mesoporous silica nanoparticles as cancer drug delivery vectors	48
AIMS OF THE STUDY	50
EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES	51
1 Cell culture (LV)	51
2 REAGENTS AND TREATMENTS (LILI IV)	
3. PARTICLE SYNTHESIS (III-IV)	

CONTENTS

4. PARTICLE PREPARATION, APPLICATION TO CELLS AND DETECTION OF INTRACELLULAR	
PARTICLES BY FLOW CYTOMETRY (III-V)	52
5. ASSESSMENT OF APOPTOTIC CELL DEATH (I-III,V)	52
5.1 Mitochondrial depolarization (I-II)	52
5.2 Caspase-3 activation (I-II)	52
5.3 Nuclear fragmentation (I-III,V)	53
5.3 Nuclear morphology (I,III-V)	53
6. PLASMID CONSTRUCTION AND TRANSFECTION (I)	53
7. INSULIN RECEPTOR AND IGF-I RECEPTOR IMMUNOPRECIPITATION (II)	53
8. DISC-IMMUNOPRECIPITATION (I)	54
9. Western blotting (I-II)	54
10. RECEPTOR SURFACE EXPRESSION (I,III)	54
11. Immunofluorescence (II)	55
12. LIVE CELL MICROSCOPY (II-V)	55
13. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS (I-II)	55
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	56
1. SENSITIZATION OF PROSTATE CANCER CELLS TO TRAIL-INDUCED APOP	TOSIS
BY LIGNANS	56
1.1 Dibenzylbutyrolactone lignans enhance the death receptor-mediated apoptosis	
pathway in androgen-dependent prostate cancer cells (I)	56
1.2 Structure-activity relationship analysis identifies (-)-nortrachelogenin lignan as an	-
effective compound for sensitization to TRAIL-induced apoptosis (II)	58
1.3 The γ -butyrolactone ring is essential for the TRAIL-sensitizing activity of lignans (I)	1) 59
1.4 Dibenzylbutyrolactone lignans increase TRAIL-induced Bid cleavage and signal	60
amplification through the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway (1,11)	60
2. LIGNANS AS INHIBITORS OF AKT SURVIVAL SIGNALING	
2.1 Dibenzylbutyrolactone lignans sensitize to TRAIL-induced apoptosis by	(2)
downregulating Akt activity (I,II)	
TD A H	()
1 RAIL-sellsitivity are rapidly reversible (11)	04
<i>L</i> : 2.5 Notifiadeletogenin (NTG) is a broad-spectrum initiation of receptor tyrosine kinase activity (II)	65
2 TADGETING OF HYPDID SILICA NANODADTICLES INTO CANCED CELLS	03
3.1 Mesonorous silica nanonarticles can be targeted to folate recentor expressing	07
cancer cells by poly(ethylene imine) and folic acid surface functionalization (III)	67
3.2 EA-functionalized MSNs can be employed for targeted delivery of hydrophobic	07
c_{argo} molecules into the cytoplasm of folate recentor expressing cancer cells (IV V)	70
3 3 FA-conjugated MSNs are non-toxic, but cellular untake of methotrevate-conjugated	
MSNs induces apontosis specifically in folate recentor expressing cancer cells (III IV V) 71
100 to induces upoptosis specificarly in totale receptor expressing cancel cells (11,17, 7)	,, 1
CONCLUDING REMARKS	75
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	77
REFERENCES	79

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications, which are referred to in the text by Roman numbers. In addition, unpublished results are included. The original publications have been reproduced with permission of the copyright holders.

- I <u>Peuhu E</u>, Rivero-Müller A, Stykki H, Torvaldson E, Holmbom T, Eklund P, Unkila M, Sjöholm R and Eriksson JE (2010): Inhibition of Akt signaling by the lignan matairesinol sensitizes prostate cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. *Oncogene* 29: 898–908.
- II <u>Peuhu E</u>, Remes M, Holmbom T, Eklund P, Sjöholm R and Eriksson JE (2010): Screening of lignans for sensitization to TRAIL-induced apoptosis – Novel mechanisms for nortrachelogenin anticancer activity. *Manuscript*.
- III Rosenholm JM, Meinander A*, <u>Peuhu E*</u>, Niemi R, Eriksson JE, Sahlgren C and Lindén M (2009): Targeting of porous hybrid silica nanoparticles to cancer cells. ACS Nano 3:197–206.
- **IV** Rosenholm JM*, <u>Peuhu E*</u>, Eriksson JE, Sahlgren C and Lindén M (2009): Targeted Intracellular delivery of hydrophobic agents using mesoporous hybrid silica nanoparticles as carrier systems. *Nano Letters* 9:3308–3311.
- V Rosenholm JM, <u>Peuhu E</u>, Bate-Eya LT, Eriksson JE, Sahlgren C, and Lindén M (2010): Cancer-cell specific induction of apoptosis using mesoporous silica nanoparticles as drug-delivery vectors. *Small* 6:1234-41.

* equal contribution

ABBREVIATIONS

4E-BP1	4E-binding protein 1	DiI	1,1'-dioctadecyl-3,3,3',3'-
5-FU	5-fluorouracil		tetramethindocarbocyanine
ADT	Androgen-deprivation therapy		perchlorate
AICD	Activation-induced cell death	DiO	3,3-dioctadecyl-oxacarbocyanine
AIDS	Acquired immunodeficiency		perchlorate
	syndrome	DISC	Death-inducing signaling
AIF	Apoptosis-inducing factor		complex
ALPS	Autoimmune	DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
TILI D	lymphoproliferative syndrome	DR	Death receptor
Anaf-1	Apontotic protease activity	EDAR	Ectodysplasin receptor
ripui i	factor 1	EGE	Endermal growth factor
APC	A denomatous polyposis coli	EGFP	Enhanced green fluorescence
	Androgen receptor	2011	protein
	Atavia telangiectasia mutated	EGER	EGE receptor
	A denosine triphosphate	FMT	Enithelial-mesenchymal
AIF	Rel 2 associated dooth protein		transition
Dau Dala	Del 2 hamala anno	END	Enterodiol
Вак	BCI-2-nomologous	EndoG	Endopuelease G
D	antagonistic/killer	ENU	Enterolactone
Bax	Bci-2-associated A protein	EDD	Enhanced permeability and
BCI-2	B-cell lymphoma gene 2	LFK	retention
BH	BCI-2 nomology	EDV	Extracellular signal regulated
BIQ	agonist	LIKK	protein kinase
Bik	Bcl-2-interacting killer	FAb	Fragment antigen binding
Bim	BH3-interacting mediator of cell	FADD	Fas-associated death domain
	death		protein
BIR	Baculovirus IAP-repeat	FGFR	Fibroblast growth factor receptor
Bmf	Bcl-2-modifying factor	FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
ca-Akt	Constitutively active Akt	FLICE	Fas-associated death domain-like
CAR	Carinol		interleukin-1β-converting
CARD	Caspase-associated recruitment		enzyme
	domains	FLIP	FLICE-inhibitory protein
CARS	Carissanol	FoxO	Forkhead Box O
CD95L	CD95 ligand	Gab-1	Grb-2 associated binder 1
cIAP	Cellular IAP	GDP	Guanosine diphosphate
CKI	Casein kinase I	GF	Growth factor
CKII	Casein kinase II	GFR	GF receptor
CME	Clathrin-mediated endocytosis	GFR	Growth factor
CRD	Cystein-rich domain	GLUT4	Glucose transporter type 4
CRPC	Castration-resistant prostate	GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor
eiue	cancer	GSK-36	Glycogen synthase kinase ß
CvME	Caveolin-mediated endocytosis	GTP	Guanosine trinhosnhate
CvtD	Cytochalasin D	HEK	Human embryonic kidney
	40.6 diamidino 2 phenylindole	HMR	7-hydroxymatairesinol
DALL	Decov recentor	Hrk	Harakiri
DED	Deedy receptor Death offector domain	HTRA2	High temperature requirement.
	Deall Checkol dollall	111 KA2	protein A2
DIADLU	low pI	Ir B	Inhibitor kannaP
	low pi		Inhibitor of aportosis
		IAF ICE I	Innotion of apoptosis
		IOT-I	insumi-like growth factor i

IGF-IR	IGF-I receptor	РКС	Protein kinase C
IKK	IkB kinase	PLA	Poly(lactic acid)
IRS-1	Insulin receptor substrate 1	PLAD	Pre-ligand assembly domain
izTRAIL	Isoleucine zipper TRAIL	PLGA	Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase	PP2A	Protein phosphatase 2A
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide	PSA	Prostate-specific antigen
LSB	Laemmli sample huffer	PTB	Phosphotyrosine-binding
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase	PTEN	Phosphate and tensin homolog
MAT	Matairesinol	I I LIV	located on human chromosome
mCD95I	Membrane CD05I		number 10
Mcl-1	Myeloid cell leukemia 1	PUMA	n53-upregulated modulator of
MDM2	Murine double-minute 2	10001	anontosis
mDP5	Mouse DP5	RAIDD	RIP-associated ICH-1/CFD-3
MEI	Maan fluorescence intensity	RADD	homologue with death domain
MOMD	Mita ah an drial autor mambran a	PPD	Pas binding domain
MOMP	normachilization		Raticula and athelial system
MDI	permeabilization	KES DID 1	Reliculdendomenal system
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging	KIP-I DNIA	Receptor-interacting protein 1
MSN	Mesoporous silica nanoparticle	RNA	Ribonucieic acid
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin	ROS	Reactive oxygen species
N-APP	The extracellular fragment of β -	RIK	Receptor tyrosine kinase
	amyloid precursor protein	S6K	S6-kinase
NDGA	Nordihydroguaiaretic acid	SAR	Structure-activity relation
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappaB	sCD95L	Soluble CD95L
NGFR	Neural growth factor receptor	SDG	Seconsolariciresinol diglucoside
NK	Natural killer	SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
NLS	Nuclear localization signal	SECO	Secoisolariciresinol
NTG	Nortrachelogenin	SEM	Standard error of mean
OMM	Outer mitochondrial membrane	SH2	Src-homology 2
PAMAM	Poly(amidoamine)	Sos	Son of sevenless
PARP	Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase	STAT	Signal transducer and activator
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline		of transcription
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor	sTNFα	soluble TNFa
PDGFR	PDGF receptor	TAK1	Transforming growth factor β -
PDK1	Phosphoinositide-dependent		activated kinase 1
	protein kinase 1	TKI	Tyrosine kinase inhibitor
PE	Phycoerythrin	TL1A	TNF-like ligand 1A
PEG	poly(ethylene glycol)	TMRM	Tetramethylrhodamine methyl
PEI	Poly(ethylene imine)	1	ester
PH	Pleckstrin homology	TNFa	Tumor necrosis factor α
PHI PP	Pleckstrin homology domain	TNED	Tumor necrosis factor recentor
1 IILI I	leucine-rich repeat protein		TNEP associated death domain
	nhosnhatase		TNED associated feater 2
DI3V	Phosphatidylinosital 3 OH		The related enertagic inducing
115K	kinasa	IKAIL	The related apoptosis-inducing
DIDD	Killase	LIDD	ligand
PIDD	p53-induced protein with death	UPR	Unfolded-protein response
חוח	uoman Dhamhatidadina aita 1.4.5	VEGF	vascular-endothelial growt
PIP ₂	Phophatidylinositol-4,5-		factor
DID	phosphate	VEGFR	VEGF receptor
PIP ₃	Phophatidylinositol-3,4,5-	XIAP	X-linked IAP
DVD	phosphate		
РКВ	Protein kinase B		

ABSTRACT

The currently used forms of cancer therapy are associated with drug resistance and toxicity to healthy tissues. Thus, more efficient methods are needed for cancer-specific induction of growth arrest and programmed cell death, also known as apoptosis. Therapeutic forms of tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) are investigated in clinical trials due to the capability of TRAIL to trigger apoptosis specifically in cancer cells by activation of cell surface death receptors. Many tumors, however, have acquired resistance to TRAIL-induced apoptosis and sensitizing drugs for combinatorial treatments are, therefore, in high demand. This study demonstrates that lignans, natural polyphenols enriched in seeds and cereal, have a remarkable sensitizing effect on TRAIL-induced cell death at non-toxic lignan concentrations. In TRAIL-resistant and androgen-dependent prostate cancer cells we observe that lignans repress receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) activity and downregulate cell survival signaling via the Akt pathway, which leads to increased TRAIL sensitivity. A structure-activity relationship analysis reveals that the γ butyrolactone ring of the dibenzylbutyrolactone lignans is essential for the rapidly reversible TRAIL-sensitizing activity of these compounds. Furthermore, the lignan nortrachelogenin (NTG) is identified as the most efficient of the 27 tested lignans and norlignans in sensitization of androgen-deprived prostate cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. While this combinatorial anticancer approach may leave normal cells unharmed, several efficient cancer drugs are too toxic, insoluble or unstable to be used in systemic therapy. To enable use of such drugs and to protect normal cells from cytotoxic effects, cancer-targeted drug delivery vehicles of nanometer scale have recently been generated. The newly developed nanoparticle system that we tested *in vitro* for cancer cell targeting combines the efficient drug-loading capacity of mesoporous silica to the versatile particle surface functionalization of hyperbranched poly(ethylene imine), PEI. The mesoporous hybrid silica nanoparticles (MSNs) were functionalized with folic acid to promote targeted internalization by folate receptor overexpressing cancer cells. The presented results demonstrate that the developed carrier system can be employed *in vitro* for cancer selective delivery of adsorbed or covalently conjugated molecules and furthermore, for selective induction of apoptotic cell death in folate receptor expressing cancer cells. The tested carrier system displays potential for simultaneous delivery of several anticancer agents specifically to cancer cells also in vivo.

INTRODUCTION

Approximately one per mille of the 50–70 trillion cells of an adult body is replaced on a daily basis to serve the biological goals of our life, namely survival and reproduction. The balance between cell division and cell death enables us to maintain the relatively constant body size, and to succeed in this, each cell must obediently serve the benefit of the organism, even if it means sacrificing the life of the cell. A process called apoptosis is a mode of programmed cell death that enables cells to die in a well-coordinated manner and the remains to be cleared away by the neighboring cells. The signals that trigger this cellular suicide program can originate from within the cell in response to cellular injury, such as accumulating DNA damage, or from the exterior of the cell in the form of death ligands. In an adult, death ligands are utilized primarily by the cells of the immune system to activate apoptosis in cells the body no longer needs, or in cells that are considered dangerous to the organism. The activation proceeds by binding of the death ligands to cell surface proteins, termed death receptors, capable of transmitting the signal to the interior of the cell. Intracellular signaling leads to amplification of the received message and ultimately to enzymatic decomposition of the cellular structures.

In cancer, individual cells continue to grow and divide despite the internal and external signals that demand the cell to commit suicide. This behavior stems from critical mutations in the cancer cell genome that promote cell survival and growth independent of external stimuli and disrupt mechanisms that normally limit cell division or induce apoptotic cell death. These internal differences in cell signaling can also be manifested at the cancer cell surface as altered expression of molecules, like receptors. Such patterns in cell surface composition can be identified and used for distinction of cancer cells from healthy cells. However, current cancer therapies rely heavily on the induction of apoptosis in dividing cells with the consequence of also damaging non-cancerous cells in tissues that are being rapidly replaced. The second major problem in dealing with cancer is that the cancer cells adapt to new circumstances and, therefore, evade applied treatments by becoming resistant. These critical issues are in the core of the challenges that cancer is currently posing to the aging populations and new more powerful and cost-efficient treatments as well as improved modes of cancer drug administration are desperately sought after.

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

1. CANCER AS A THERAPEUTIC CHALLENGE

1.1 Hallmarks of cancer

In contrast to common perception, cancer is not one disease but a large group of variable diseases that should be treated in different ways in order to be cured. Cancers originate from distinct cell types and gradually harbor specific genome alterations during the course of cancer development and progression. Inherited mutations can predispose to cancer, but most of the diagnosed cancers occur through transformation of cells during our life span. These genetic and epigenetic changes that have capacity to transform cells include gain-offunction mutations in proto-oncogenes, loss-of-function mutations in tumor suppressor genes and mutations that lead to inactivation of genes that control genomic stability (reviewed by Hahn & Weinberg 2002). Cellular proto-oncogenes function in regulation of normal cell growth and proliferation, but can be turned into growth promoting oncogenes, through processes such as gene amplification, chromosomal translocation, enhanced transcription, or impairment of negative regulation. Inactivation of genes that restrain cell proliferation and survival, designated as tumor suppressor genes, can occur through mutations that alter the gene expression, post-translational modifications or functionality of the gene product. Reflecting the variety of genomic changes leading to cancer, all the disease entities take their own clinical course and respond to specific therapy forms, while being resistant towards others.

In order to grow and invade, transforming cells must acquire several functional capabilities (Figure 1). These critical changes in cell physiology include impaired induction of programmed cell death (also called apoptosis), self-sufficiency for growth signals, insensitivity to antigrowth signals, sustained angiogenesis, limitless replicative potential, deregulating cellular energetics, avoiding immune destruction, tissue invasion and metastasis, as well as enabling characteristics, genomic instability and tumor-promoting inflammation (reviewed by Hanahan & Weinberg 2000, Hanahan 2010, oral *communication*). The one feature that makes cancer a lethal disease is tumor metastasis. In order to grow, tumors must acquire blood or lymphatic vessels to the tumor site for sufficient supply of oxygen and nutrients and removal of metabolites. Concomitantly, this process called angiogenesis enables tumor metastasis, but first the primary tumor cells need to obtain migratory and invasive properties. A developmental process called epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is thought to play a central role also in initiation of metastasis, as it transforms well-organized epithelial cells into cells of mesenchymal phenotype with loose cell-cell adhesion and lost cell polarity (reviewed by Thiery et al. 2009). After local invasion and entry into the vasculature, imperative steps for metastasis include survival in the circulation, infiltration to distant organs, and finally colonization (reviewed by Chambers et al. 2002 and Nguyyen et al. 2009). All these processes are potential targets for cancer therapeutics. In addition, recent advances have highlighted the important role of tumor-associated tissues in promotion of cancer survival and metastasis, suggesting that also non-cancer tissues must be taken into consideration when developing new cancer therapeutics (reviewed by Joyce & Pollard 2009).



Figure 1. The hallmarks of cancer. Modified from (Hanahan & Weinberg 2000).

1.1.1 Conventional chemotherapy

Treatment of solid tumors has largely employed surgery, radiation, photodynamic treatment, hyperthermia and chemotherapy. Many of the traditional chemotherapeutics are aimed at the particular weakness of cancer cells, which is their proliferation. Most cells in an adult body have entered post-mitotic state and do not proliferate any longer. Therefore antimitotic drugs, like tubulin-targeting taxanes and vinca alkaloids, can be employed to eliminate dividing cancer cells. Many treatments also take advantage of the vulnerabilities that the cells have once they have discarded critical checkpoint controls. In such cells, induction of DNA and chromosome damage does not cause cell cycle arrest but entry to mitosis occurs, which is likely to lead to cell death by mitotic catastrophe (reviewed by Castedo et al. 2004). Cancer treatments with alkylating agents or platinum drugs are based on these effects. Antimetabolites, such as methotrexate and 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), interfere with DNA and RNA synthesis and thereby prevent cancer cell growth and survival. Antitumor antibiotics, like doxorubicin, actinomycin-D and mitoxantrone, inhibit enzymes that are involved in DNA replication, and topoisomerase inhibitors, such as topotecan and etoposide, inhibit enzymes that separate DNA strands. Treatment with these drug types results in inhibited cell proliferation and induction of cell death. In some cases also corticosteroids, prednisolone and dexamethasone, are used as anticancer treatments due to their anti-inflammatory activity. All the mentioned anticancer agents have been successful in clinic alone or in combination to other compounds, but many patients either do not respond or alternatively develop resistance towards the therapy.

1.1.2 Challenges in development of cancer therapeutics

The side effects caused by chemotherapy are multiple and vary from anemia and nausea to problems in the function of vital organs. Drugs that target cell proliferation particularly harm the tissues that are under constant renewal, such as skin, hair, intestine and bone marrow. Similarly, treatments that damage the genome in order to induce tumor cell death can instead result in unrepaired DNA damage and cell loss or even cell transformation in other tissues (reviewed by Allan & Travis 2005). The risk of bystander toxicity is naturally increased when multiple cancer treatments are used in combination to achieve good drug response.

Tumors that initially respond well to a particular therapy often develop drug resistance. Deregulation of apoptosis and other cell death programs contributes to malignant growth both during the initial tumor development and acquisition of resistance to chemotherapy (reviewed by de Bruin & Medema 2008). During cancer initiation, progression and treatment tumor cells acquire genomic instability that creates new genetic and epigenetic changes that further provide selection advantage in altered environment. This plasticity of cancer cell populations drives the relapse of tumors. The molecular mechanisms behind cancer drug resistance include inhibited import of the drug molecules, acquired ability to pump the drugs out or ability to metabolize and detoxify the administered drugs (reviewed by Gottesman et al. 2002). For example, expression of the ABC transporter P-glycoprotein enables cancer cells to pump out a variety of different drug molecules, thereby lowering their intracellular concentrations to sub-toxic levels (Chen et al. 1986). Resistance can also arise from improved mechanisms for DNA repair or incapacity of the cell to induce apoptosis due to loss of critical effectors in the signaling cascade (Gottesman et al. 2002). To overcome these mechanisms of resistance, application of two or three unrelated cancer drugs simultaneously is often required.

Increasing evidence supports the existence of a particular population of tumor cells called cancer stem cells that maintain their ability for self-renewal, generate differentiated cells as their progeny by asymmetric cell division and most importantly, have the capacity of giving rise to new tumors in animal hosts (Clarke et al. 2006). It has also been reported that reprogramming of somewhat differentiated tumor cells back to cancer stem cells may occur, and that the signals within the tumor microenvironment have a critical role in this process (Gupta et al. 2009). As cancer stem cells are more resistant to conventional therapeutics than the rest of the tumor, optimal cancer therapy is likely to require treatments that successfully eliminate both cancer stem cells and differentiated cancer cells. In order to better identify the subgroups of patients that are most likely to profit from particular therapy forms, researchers are trying to find new molecular markers. For example, in the case of colon cancer individualized data from tumor gene expression arrays can be used for identifying gene signatures that help to predict the patient's response to certain drugs as well as prognosis (reviewed by Gangadhar & Schilsky 2010). When combined to this type of molecular diagnostics, multiagent therapy might turn out to be the most effective weapon against cancer.

1.1.3 Targeted cancer therapies

Cancer treatment is slowly heading towards the assignment of tailor-made drug therapies to each individual patient and the targeted elimination of cancer without inducing undesirable side effects. Targeted cancer therapy is based on using drugs or other substances to identify and eliminate cancer cells while doing little damage to normal cells. In order to distinguish cancer cells from normal cells, cancer-specific features need to be identified, but finding such molecular targets is a big challenge to cancer research. Cancer cells often rely on hyperactive forms of growth and survival-promoting proteins for their proliferation and escape from apoptosis (Hahn & Weinberg 2002). Inhibition of these oncoproteins by small-molecule drugs, monoclonal antibodies and other means has been pursued vigorously in order to develop targeted cancer therapeutics (reviewed by Gschwind *et al.* 2004 and Engelman 2009). Several new therapeutic forms, such as drugs that target the vascular endothelial growth factor receptors (VEGFRs) in tumor angiogenesis or inhibit epidermal growth factor receptors (EGFRs) in breast cancer, have

already been discovered, while many future advances against cancer are likely to arise from this field.

Cancer patients can also be treated with immunotherapies that stimulate the natural immune system to more efficiently identify and attack cancer cells. While the purpose of active immunotherapies, such as therapeutic vaccines, is to stimulate the host's defenses against the disease, passive immunotherapies are based on administering components, such as antibodies, that are created outside the body (reviewed by Melief & Burg 2008, Higano *et al.* 2009). In addition, advances in targeted gene therapy might succeed in curing the disease by replacing the mutated sequences in cancer cell genome. For example, reintroduction of the wild-type tumor suppressor p53 gene, which is mutated in no less than half of all human tumors, has been shown to benefit cancer therapy of head and neck cancers (reviewed by Huang *et al.* 2009).

1.1.4 Treatment of prostate cancer

Prostate cancer is the most common malignancy and the second leading cause of cancer mortality in men of the western world (Jemal *et al.* 2008). The majority of prostate cancer patients are aged and diagnosed with clinically localized, low-risk prostate cancer that can be effectively treated with surgery and radiation. However, prognosis is poor for locally advanced or metastatic disease that has progressed to castration-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC) (reviewed by Shepard & Raghavan 2010). Improved diagnostics with serum prostate specific antigen (PSA) as a relatively good marker for prostate cancer risk have resulted in earlier diagnosis of prostatic carcinomas. For advanced prostate cancer, the typical sites of metastasis are lymph nodes and bone, and the disease-related symptoms are often connected to bone metastasis.

Despite extensive research efforts, androgen-deprivation therapy (ADT) by surgical castration or nowadays more commonly by chemical castration with antiandrogens remains the most effective therapy for advanced metastatic prostate cancer. Recently, novel higher affinity androgen receptor inhibitors have been developed and proven effective in preclinical prostate tumor models (Tran et al. 2009). Successful clinical trials with an inhibitor of the enzyme that catalyzes androgen biosynthesis, cytochrome P17, have unexpectedly demonstrated that CRPC often remains hormone-dependent (reviewed by Attard et al. 2009). Upregulated expression of androgen receptor in seemingly hormoneindependent tumor xenografts might compensate for the low level of androgens upon ADT (Chen et al. 2004). Despite the good initial response, ADT is of limited benefit because of the difficult adverse effects of androgen deprivation, especially on the cardiovascular system, and the CRPC that occurs in most patients within some years (Shepard & Raghavan 2010). However, chemotherapy with docetaxel provides significant survival benefit in patients with CRPC (Tannock et al. 2004, Petrylak et al. 2004), and treatment regimens together with several other chemotherapeutics, such as cabazitaxel, prednisone and sartraplatin, are being investigated in clinical studies as second-line therapy for advanced prostate cancer (Shepard & Raghavan 2010). New therapeutic agents that are not directed against rapidly proliferating cells are urgently needed in treatment of prostate cancer, because the proliferative fraction of prostate cancer cells is usually less than 10% (Berges et al. 1995) and only a fraction of the patients with metastatic prostate cancer responds to current chemotherapeutics. Targeted therapy forms currently in clinical trials for advanced prostate cancer include antiangiogenic and bone-targeted agents, and immunotherapies, like the sipuleucel-T vaccine, as well as specific inhibitors for critical

survival signaling proteins, such as the Src kinases, mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and insulin-like growth factor receptor I (reviewed by Fizazi *et al.* 2010).

1.2 Growth factor-induced survival signaling in prostate cancer

Proliferation of normal cells depends on the presence of mitogenic growth factors (GFs) in the surroundings of the cell. Stimulation of the cell surface growth factor receptors (GFRs) by these ligands leads to activation of intracellular signaling pathways and regulation of cell differentiation, growth, proliferation, survival, migration and metabolism. Cancer cells, in contrast, frequently harbor mechanisms that make them self-sufficient in terms of these signals through acquisition of mutations in key proteins of the pathways. Such oncoproteins include GFRs and their downstream signaling molecules, like the small GTPase Ras, which is found mutated in perhaps one quarter of all human tumors (Hahn & Weinberg 2002).

GFs can function in autocrine, paracrine or endocrine manner with some GFs displaying more local regulatory roles [epidermal growth factor (EGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)] and others regulating growth and metabolism at the whole organism level [insulin, insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I)] (reviewed by Pollak 2009). It has been estimated that upregulation of the GFR signaling and the downstream phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase (PI3K) pathway occurs approximately in 30–50% of prostate cancers (reviewed by Morgan *et al.* 2009). Thus, the PI3K signaling pathway constitutes a key target for prostate cancer therapy (reviewed by Engelman 2009, Morgan *et al.* 2009, Wong *et al.* 2010). In addition, extensive crosstalk exists between the androgen receptor signaling and the PI3K signaling pathways. Activation of PI3K signaling through GFRs may play a critical role in allowing prostate tumors to maintain continued proliferation in low-androgen environments, thereby promoting the development of CRPC (reviewed by Mulholland *et al.* 2006).

1.2.1 Receptor tyrosine kinase activation by growth factors

Growth factor receptors are receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) that convey signals through activation of a conserved tyrosine kinase domain. All the 58 currently known human RTKs divided into 20 subfamilies have a similar molecular architecture, with ligand-binding domains in the extracellular region, a single transmembrane helix, and a cytoplasmic region that contains the protein tyrosine kinase domain as well as additional regulatory regions (reviewed by Lemmon & Schlessinger 2010). Binding of the ligand stabilizes the interaction between the individual receptor molecules in a RTK dimer, which leads to sequential trans-autophosphorylation of the tyrosine kinase domains and subsequent release of the autoinhibitory interactions in each receptor (Lemmon & Schlessinger 2010). Autophosphorylation of the tyrosine kinase domain creates phosphotyrosine-based binding sites for a number of cytoplasmic signaling molecules containing Src homology-2 (SH2) or phosphotyrosine-binding (PTB) domains (Songyang et al. 1993, Kavanaugh & Williams 1994). They may bind directly to RTKs or via docking proteins, such as Grb-2, IRS-1 (Insulin receptor substrate-1) and Gab-1 (Grb-2 associated binder-1), which are recruited to and phosphorylated by RTKs (reviewed by Schlessinger 2000). The assembled complexes initiate signaling cascades leading to enhanced protein synthesis and transcriptional regulation of target genes involved in cell survival, growth, and differentiation.

The two major signaling cascades triggered upon RTK stimulation comprise the PI3K/Akt pathway and the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway (Figure 2), although activation of other signaling proteins, such as phospholipase C γ and signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) also occurs (Schlessinger 2000). The MAPK pathway involves binding of the adaptor Grb-2 directly or via Shc to the tyrosine phosphorylated RTK, and subsequent recruitment of the guanine nucleotide exchange factor son of sevenless (Sos) close to the plasma membrane (reviewed by Margolis & Skolnik 1994). Sos activates membrane-tethered small GTPase Ras proteins by converting them from inactive GDP-bound state to active GTP-bound state. Activated Ras proteins further stimulate c-Raf-1 that phosphorylates mitogen-activated protein kinase kinases 1 and 2 (MEK1/2). MEK, in turn, phosphorylates a variety of substrates in the cytoplasm and in the nucleus.



Figure 2. Growth factor (GF) – stimulated receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK) activate the PI3K and MAPK pathways. Auto-phosphorylated RTK recruits adaptor proteins as well as enzymes like PI3K and Sos. Activation of the small GTPase Ras by Sos induces the MAPK pathway via activation of Raf. Thereafter, sequential phosphorylations lead to activation of MEK and ERK. PI3K, in turn, activates the Akt kinase. Both pathways promote cell survival and proliferation.

Aberrant RTK activation in human cancers is principally mediated by autocrine activation, chromosomal translocations, RTK overexpression or gain-of-function mutations (Lemmon & Schlessinger 2010). Growth of normal and malignant prostate cells is also regulated by RTKs, such as IGF-I receptor (IGF-IR), EGFR, fibroblast growth factor receptor (FGFR), PDGF receptor (PDGFR) and VEGFR (reviewed by Hellawell & Brewster 2002). In the prostate, stromal cells produce most of the GFs, which act on the GFRs on epithelial cells. In prostate cancer, the production of most GFs is upregulated and autocrine pathways emerge in epithelial cells for example for IGF-I and FGF (Hellawell & Brewster 2002). Most prostate cancers arise from the epithelial compartment, where EGF and IGF-I have important functions in promotion of cell growth, proliferation, differentiation and survival.

1.2.2 Phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase generates lipid second messengers

Among RTK-induced signaling pathways, the PI3K pathway has been identified as a key mechanism in carcinogenesis and survival of many different types of cancer (reviewed by Engelman 2009). When PI3Ks are activated by G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs), RTKs or other cell surface receptors that induce tyrosine kinase activity, they phosphorylate the 3'-hydroxyl group of plasma membrane inositol lipids. According to their substrate preference and sequence homology, PI3Ks can be divided into three classes (I-III), of which Class I PI3Ks primarily generate phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate (PIP₃, Figure 3) by phosphorylation of phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PI-4,5-P₂). These PI3Ks are further grouped into two subfamilies with distinct receptors to which they are recruited. Class IA PI3Ks are activated by growth factor RTKs, whereas the class IB PI3Ks are activated upon recruitment to GPCRs. The class IA PI3Ks seem to be most involved in cancer (Engelman 2009).



Figure 3. Phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate (PIP₃).

Phosphate and tensin homolog located on human chromosome number 10 (PTEN) phosphatase counteracts the class I PI3K activity by removing phosphates from PIP₃ promoting formation of PIP₂ (Maehama & Dixon 1998). The function of this tumor suppressor is commonly disturbed in prostate cancer, resulting in constitutive activation of the PI3K pathway (Li *et al.* 1997, Vlietstra *et al.* 1998). Overwhelmingly, loss of heterozygosity or mutation at the PTEN locus occurs in up to 35% and 12% of prostate cancer samples, respectively (Engelman *et al.* 2006). The activity of the PI3K pathway can also be enhanced by increased RTK activation or genetic mutation and amplification of key components of the pathway (Engelman 2009).

The class IA PI3Ks are heterodimers consisting of a p85 regulatory subunit and a p110 catalytic subunit, which both come in numerous isoforms. Three longer p85 regulatory subunits, p85 α , p85 β and p55 γ , as well as two shorter isoforms, p55 α and p50 α , interact via their p110-binding domain with the three catalytic subunits, p110 α , p110 β and p110 δ . In addition to the C-terminal catalytic domain and other regulatory structures, the p110 subunits contain a Ras-binding domain (RBD) that mediates their activation by the small GTPase Ras. The class IA PI3Ks are recruited to the plasma membrane by the SH2 domains of the p85 regulatory subunit that bind tyrosine-phosphorylated consensus sequences at either active RTKs or adaptor proteins that bind to them (Carpenter *et al.* 1993). Inhibition of the catalytic subunit p110 by the regulatory p85 subunit is released upon binding, which leads to enzymatic activation of PI3K (Yu *et al.* 1998). The produced PIP₃ functions as a lipid second messenger that recruits to plasma membrane a wide array of a pleckstrin homology (PH) domain -containing signaling molecules (reviewed by DiNitto *et al.* 2003). The protein serine/threonine kinase Akt (also known as PKB) is a

primary target of PIP₃ (Franke *et al.* 1997, Klippel *et al.* 1997). The PI3K pathway activation has been associated with advanced pathological tumor stage, increased incidence of lymph node metastases and development of androgen-independent growth, which is why PI3K and its downstream signaling molecules offer critical drug targets for therapeutic intervention in prostate cancer (reviewed by Morgan *et al.* 2009).

1.2.3 Akt activity promotes cell growth and survival

c-Akt is the cellular homolog of the transforming oncogene of the AKT8 retrovirus (Staal 1987). The mammalian Akt family of serine/threonine kinases comprises three isoforms (Akt1–3) that are highly conserved throughout evolution, but present different expression profiles and may have overlapping and distinct roles in cancer (reviewed by Altomare & Testa 2005). By phosphorylation of target proteins, Akt regulates a wide range of cellular functions, such as protein synthesis, cell metabolism, cell cycle progression and cell survival (reviewed by Datta *et al.* 1999) (Figure 4). PI3K activation leads to accumulation of PIP3₃, which recruits the normally cytoplasmic Akt as well as phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase 1 (PDK1) to the plasma membrane through PH domain interactions (Franke *et al.* 1997). This colocalization leads to Akt phosphorylation by PDK1 at the Tyr308 (Alessi *et al.* 1997) and by mTOR complex 2 at Ser473 (Sarbassov *et al.* 2005). These two phosphorylation of downstream targets.



Figure 4. Examples of Akt-regulated signaling pathways for cell survival, growth and proliferation. See text for details. Adapted from (Engelman *et al.* 2009).

Akt activates mTOR complex 1 that stimulates cellular translation machinery by phosphorylation of S6-kinase (S6K) and 4E binding protein 1 (4E-BP1) (reviewed by Raught *et al.* 2001), and inactivates glycogen synthesis by phosphorylation of glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK- 3β) (Cross *et al.* 1995). Phosphorylation of GSK- 3β also results

in stabilization the cell cycle proteins c-Myc and cyclin D1 that in the absence of RTK activation become degraded (reviewed by Liang & Slingerland 2003). In muscle and fat, Akt upregulates expression of GLUT4 glucose transporter, thereby promoting glucose uptake (Kohn et al. 1996). Activation of Akt favors G1/S cell cycle transition by blocking the transcription of cell cycle inhibitors, such as p27^{KIP1}, through phosphorylation of Forkhead Box O (FoxO) transcription factors (Liang & Slingerland 2003). Other targets of FoxO that become suppressed upon Akt activation include the proapoptotic molecules BH3-interacting mediator of cell death (Bim) and CD95 ligand. Akt can promote cell survival also directly by phosphorylation of the proapoptotic proteins Bad (Bcl-2antagonist of cell death) and procaspase-9 leading to their inactivation (Datta et al. 1997, Cardone et al. 1998). Furthermore, Akt-mediated phosphorylation of mouse double minute 2 (MDM2) leads to proteasomal degradation of p53, which supports cell cycle progression and inhibits p53-induced apoptosis upon cellular stress (Mayo & Donner 2001). Akt is also able to activate the IkB kinase (IKK), a positive regulator of the nuclear factor kappaB $(NF-\kappa B)$ transcription factors, which promote the transcription of antiapoptotic genes (Kane et al. 1999).

In addition to ubiquitin-dependent Akt degradation and caspase-dependent Akt cleavage, Akt signaling can be attenuated by the protein phosphatases PP2A and pleckstrin homology domain leucine-rich repeat protein phosphatase (PHLPP) that dephosphorylate Akt (reviewed by Liao & Hung 2010). More than 50% of prostate carcinomas exhibit Akt hyperactivity and the therapeutic use of Akt inhibitors is currently being investigated (Altomare & Testa 2005). For example, simultaneous targeting of several Akt isoforms or inhibition of both mTOR complexes by pharmaceutical compounds may be beneficial in prostate cancer treatment (reviewed by Sarker *et al.* 2009).

2. REGULATION OF APOPTOTIC CELL DEATH

2.1 Activators and inhibitors of apoptosis

Apoptosis is the predominant mechanism of programmed cell death that animals employ for coordinated elimination of excess or damaged cells during development and maintenance of tissue homeostasis (Kerr *et al.* 1972). However, as errors occur in biological systems, also regulation of apoptosis may fail. Excessive cell loss due to apoptotic cell death is known to occur in various human pathologies, including cerebral ischemia (reviewed by Broughton *et al.* 2009), AIDS (reviewed by Muthumani *et al.* 2003), and neurodegenerative disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease (reviewed by Rohn 2010). Excessive cell accumulation because of impaired apoptosis is key component of cancer development (reviewed by Hanahan & Weinberg 2000), and contributes to the etiology of several autoimmune diseases (reviewed by Maniati *et al.* 2008).

At the cellular level, apoptosis can be triggered by a variety of stimuli, including DNA damage, chromosomal abnormalities, growth factor withdrawal, viral infection, oncogene activation, substrate detachment, hypoxia and death receptor activation. Apoptosis is an energy-dependent process that occurs in sequential steps of morphological events (Wyllie *et al.* 1980). The dying cell undergoes nuclear and cytoplasmic condensation, blebbing of the plasma membrane, and fragmentation into membrane-enclosed particles. Professional

phagocytes, including neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells, or the neighboring cells rapidly identify and engulf these apoptotic bodies, thereby preventing induction of inflammatory response. The opposite happens when a cell dies a necrotic cell death. Swelling of the cell and rupture of the plasma membrane result in release of the cell contents into surrounding tissues, which is why necrosis can cause inflammation. Necrosis has traditionally been defined as an accidental and uncontrolled process, but accumulating evidence now suggests that also necrosis can occur in a more regulated manner through specific signaling events (reviewed by Golstein & Kroemer 2007). Whether a cell dies by apoptosis, necrosis or by other characterized modalities of programmed cell death between these two classical types, depends on the nature and severity of the stimulus, as well as the cell type. Crosstalk between these cell death pathways even enables switching from one mode to another in case the functional requirements for a particular cell death modality are not met. Of the various forms of programmed cell death, apoptosis is the major regulator of embryogenesis and organismal homeostasis.

2.1.1 Caspases – The executers of apoptosis

The biochemical markers of apoptosis include fragmentation of nuclear DNA, cell surface exposure of phosphatidylserine phospholipids, and activation of caspases, the specialized cysteine-dependent aspartate proteases that execute the apoptotic cell death (reviewed by Hengartner 2000). In contrast, the caspase-independent forms of programmed cell death, including autophagy and necroptosis, are executed typically by other cellular proteases, such as cathepsins and calpains (reviewed by Bröker et al. 2005). Caspases are expressed as inactive zymogens, procaspases, which can be activated by specific proteolysis. Upon apoptotic stimuli, the hierarchical activation of caspases is set off by the activation of the initiator caspases, including caspase-2, -8, -9, and -10, by induced proximity at multiprotein platforms (Muzio et al. in 1998, Chen et al. 2002, Boatright et al. 2003, Bouchier-Hayes et al. 2009). Upon dimerization at the activating complexes, initiator caspases undergo autocleavage that stabilizes the active enzyme (Pop et al. 2007). The stimulated initiator caspases proteolytically activate the downstream effector caspases, including caspase-3, -6 and -7. As the effector procaspases already form constitutive dimers, the only requirement for their activation is the cleavage that allows the caspase to adopt the active conformation (reviewed by Riedl & Shi 2004). The objective of these sequential activation events is the amplification of the original death signal. At the terminal phase of apoptosis, hundreds of structural and regulatory proteins are specifically cleaved by caspases, which leads to death of the cell (reviewed by Lüthi & Martin 2007). Caspase-1, the prototype of inflammatory caspases, which also include caspase-4, -5, -11, -12 and -13, contributes to the maturation of inflammatory cytokines instead of apoptosis-induction, and can be activated in the inflammasome complex (Martinon et al. 2002).

Caspases are subject to multiple regulatory mechanisms. Indeed, the regulation of initiator caspase activation needs to be careful, as the activation of these apical proteases will trigger the cascade of downstream caspase activation and apoptosis. The prodomains of initiator caspases contain conserved interaction modules that serve in formation of homotypic protein interactions and in generation of the first proteolytic signal in the apoptosis pathway. The two death effector domains (DEDs) on caspase-8 and caspase-10 mediate the recruitment and dimerization of these caspases at active cell surface death receptors (DRs) via the adaptor Fas-associated death domain protein (FADD) in activation of the extrinsic apoptosis pathway (Muzio *et al.* 1998). Caspase-9 and caspase-2 initiate apoptosis through the intrinsic pathway via their caspase-associated recruitment domains

(CARDs), which mediate homotypic interactions in formation of the activating platforms for these caspases (Hofmann *et al.* 1997). The extrinsic and the intrinsic apoptosis pathways serve to start the apoptotic process in response to signals of different origin. Extracellular cytokines called death receptor ligands engage the extrinsic pathway through the cell surface DRs, while mitochondria play a critical role in induction of apoptosis by cell intrinsic cues.

2.1.2 Caspase-inhibitory proteins suppress apoptotic signaling

The family of Fas-associated death domain-like interleukin-1β-converting enzyme (FLICE) -inhibitory proteins (FLIPs), comprising three mammalian isoforms, c-FLIP long (FLIP_L), c-FLIP short (c-FLIP_S) and c-FLIP_R, and a viral FLIP, has a critical function in regulation of DR-mediated initiator caspase activation (Thome et al. 1997, Irmler et al. 1997, Hu et al. 1997). As the c-FLIP proteins are homologous to caspase-8 and caspase-10, they contain also the two DEDs and can be recruited to activated DRs and dimerize with caspases (Irmler et al. 1997). c-FLIP, however, lacks both the catalytic active site and the residues that form the substrate-binding pocket of an active caspase. This feature makes c-FLIP enzymatically inactive, unable to promote caspase activation and thereby powerful dominant negative inhibitor of caspase-8 and caspase-10 activation. Not surprisingly, mouse embryonic fibroblasts from c-FLIP knockout animal are more sensitive to extrinsic apoptosis induction (Yeh et al. 2000). c-FLIP_L has an inactive caspase-like catalytic domain at the C-terminus, while the shorter isoforms, c-FLIP_s and c-FLIP_R, completely lack the catalytic domain and instead have unique splicing tails. Differential regulation and function of c-FLIP isoforms are based on these structural differences. The short c-FLIP isoforms simply block recruitment and activation of caspase-8, but c-FLIP_L:caspase-8 dimerization leads to partial cleavage of both proteins and localized proteolytic activity of caspase-8 (Krueger et al. 2001). c-FLIP_L may exert an antiapoptotic role in caspase activation when expressed in large amounts, but when present in lower amounts, c-FLIP_L is likely to promote caspase-8 and caspase-10 activity (Chang et al. 2002). Interestingly, c-FLIP is not only an inhibitor of caspase activation, but can also promote activation of NFκB and ERK survival signaling pathways (Kataoka *et al.* 2000). As accumulating evidence indicates that overexpression of c-FLIP in cancer correlates with inhibition of DRmediated apoptosis and resistance to chemotherapy, c-FLIP has become an attractive target for cancer therapy (reviewed by Safa et al. 2008).

Another critical group of proteins controlling the activity of both initiator and effector caspases is the inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP) protein family (reviewed by Gyrd-Hansen & Meier 2010). IAPs are defined by the presence of 1–3 baculovirus IAP repeat (BIR) protein domains that can bind to caspases. Some of IAPs contain a RING domain with the capability to function as an E3 ubiquitin ligase and to target proteins to proteasomal degradation. The X-linked IAP (XIAP) has been reported to directly inhibit the activity of the executioner caspases-3 and -7 and the initiator caspase-9 (Eckelman & Salvesen 2006). However, caspase-independent actions of IAPs by employment of the ubiquitin ligase activity promote the activation of NF- κ B survival-signaling, which might be the most important contribution of XIAP and the cellular IAPs, cIAP1 and cIAP2, in regulation of cell fate as well as tumorigenesis (Gyrd-Hansen & Meier 2010). IAPs are recruited to NF- κ B activating signaling complexes, where ubiquitination not only regulates degradation of target proteins, but also creates docking sites for interacting proteins (Gyrd-Hansen & Meier 2010).

2.1.3 Mitochondrial permeabilization releases proapoptotic factors

The mitochondria undergo two major alterations upon apoptosis-induction. These are the outer mitochondrial membrane permeabilization (MOMP), and the loss of the electrochemical gradient (mitochondrial polarity) that normally is present across the inner mitochondrial membrane. It is commonly accepted that MOMP precedes the mitochondrial membrane depolarization and dictates the point-of-no-return in cellular apoptosis. The mitochondrial apoptosis pathway, also known as intrinsic pathway, can be triggered by intracellular events through induction of MOMP. Permeabilization of the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) is currently thought to occur by formation of proteolipid pores, when the proapoptotic B-cell lymphoma gene 2 (Bcl-2) family proteins Bcl-2-associated X protein (Bax) and Bcl-2 homologous antagonistic/killer (Bak) homooligomerize within the OMM (Wei *et al.* 2001).

When MOMP is induced, apoptogenic proteins are released from the mitochondrial intermembrane space to the cytosol. These proteins include cytochrome c_{s} SMAC (second mitochondria-derived activator of caspases)/DIABLO (direct inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP)binding protein with low pI), AIF (apoptosis-inducing factor), EndoG (endonuclease G) and Omi/HTRA2 (high-temperature-requirement protein A2) (Susin et al. 1999, Du et al. 2000, Verhagen et al 2000, Li et al. 2001, Suzuki et al. 2001). In intact mitochondria cytochrome c resides in the mitochondrial intermembrane /intercristae spaces and functions as an electron transporter in the respiratory chain. Once released from the mitochondria, cytochrome c binds to the apoptotic protease activity factor-1 (Apaf-1) in the cytosol, which triggers the oligomerization of Apaf-1 into a ring-like structure in the presence of ATP (reviewed by Riedl & Salvesen 2007). Following formation of this structure called the apoptosome, the CARD domains on Apaf-1 molecules become exposed, cytosolic procaspase-9 monomers are recruited to apoptosome via CARD domain interactions, and caspase-9 is activated (Zou *et al.* 1999). The activation does not require caspase-9 cleavage but occurs by dimerization of the procaspase-9 monomers (Renatus et al. 2001). As an initiator caspase, caspase-9 will propagate the apoptotic signal by cleaving and activating effector caspases, like caspase-3, eventually causing cell death. The mitochondrial protein, Smac/DIABLO, which also is released form the mitochondria after MOMP, inhibits IAPs by direct inhibition and induction of their proteasomal degradation, thereby ensuring that the mitochondrial caspase cascade will eventually result in apoptosis of the cell (Chai et al. 2000).

The therapeutic effect of many conventional cancer treatments is based on their ability to initiate the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway by inducing DNA damage or the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (reviewed by Ozben 2007). Following oxidative, genotoxic or oncogenic stress, the tumor suppressor protein p53 is stabilized and transcriptionally regulates many genes involved in apoptosis, cell-cycle arrest, and other cellular functions (Zhao *et al.* 2000). In the cytosol, p53 promotes apoptosis independent of its transcriptional activity by localizing to the mitochondria (Marchenko *et al.* 2000) and interacting with the Bcl-2 family proteins that regulate mitochondrial integrity (reviewed by Yee & Vousden 2005). The stabilized p53 is also involved in activation of caspase-2 in response to genotoxic stress in a complex called the PIDDosome (Tinel & Tschopp 2004). Caspase-2 forms this complex together with RIP-associated ICH-1/CED-3 homologue with death domain (RAIDD) and p53-induced protein with death domain (PIDD). Unlike other initiator caspases, caspase-2 does not directly activate executioner caspases, but instead acts via MOMP to induce apoptosis (Guo *et al.* 2002).

2.1.4 Regulation of the mitochondrial integrity by the Bcl-2 protein family

Permeabilization of the OMM is controlled through interactions of the proapoptotic and antiapoptotic proteins of the Bcl-2 family, which is characterized by Bcl-2 homology (BH) domains in the protein structure (Figure 5) (Reviewed by Chipuk et al 2010). The functional activity of the Bcl-2 family proteins is based on homo- and heterodimerization by interaction of the BH3 domain α helix with a groove formed by the BH1 and BH2 domains (Sattler et al. 1997). The antiapoptotic Bcl-2 protein subfamily members, A1, Bcl-2, Bcl-w, Bcl-xL and Myeloid cell leukemia 1 (Mcl-1), contain four BH domains and act by sequestering the proapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins, thereby preventing their participation in apoptotic complexes (Cheng et al. 2001). The proapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins include the multidomain effector proteins, Bax and Bak, as well as the BH3 domain-only subfamily. The release of the effectors Bax and Bak leads to their homo-oligomerization at the OMM. and formation of pore complexes to promote MOMP. The BH3-only proteins are upstream sensors of cellular damage that can be divided to the "direct activators" and "sensitizers/de-repressors" (reviewed by Chipuk et al. 2010). The direct activators, Bim, BH3-interacting domain death agonist (Bid) and potentially also p53-upregulated modulator of apoptosis (PUMA), interact with both the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins and the effectors Bax/Bak. These BH3-only proteins can directly induce Bax and Bak oligomerization and MOMP (Kim et al. 2006). The "sensitizers/derepressors", Bcl-2associated death protein (Bad), Bcl-2-interacting killer (Bik), Bcl-2-modifying factor (Bmf), Harakiri (Hrk) and Noxa, predominantly bind to the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins with the capacity to competitively liberate Bax and Bak from these repressors. In addition to the direct activator BH3-only proteins, p53 can bind and activate oligomerization of Bax and Bak (Chipuk et al. 2004, Leu et al. 2004).



Figure 5. The Bcl-2 protein family. Schematic overview of the Bcl-2 homology (BH) domains and membrane-inserting domains (TM) in members of each Bcl-2 protein category. Adapted from (Tait & Green 2010).

Bcl-2 is a known oncoprotein that is able to co-operatively drive malignant progression in mouse models *in vivo* by promoting cancer cell survival (Vaux *et al.* 1988, Strasser *et al.* 1990, Schmitt *et al.* 2000). It is clear that also Bax and Bak are critical mediators of apoptosis, as their combined deletion causes severe developmental defects in mice due to abolishment of most apoptotic processes (Lindsten *et al.* 2000). However, the model that regards Bid and Bim as direct activators of Bax and Bak, has been challenged by another model according to which all the BH3-only proteins simply function as neutralizers of the prosurvival Bcl-2 family members and thereby promote the release of Bax and Bak (Willis *et al.* 2007). The induction of Bax and Bak oligomerization can reportedly occur also by non-protein factors, such as heat shock and detergents (Hsu & Youle 1997, Pagliari *et al.*

2005), and Bax and Bak –dependent apoptosis was observed to take place in the absence of Bid and Bim (Willis *et al.* 2007). These studies suggest that mechanisms alternative to Bid and Bim –mediated induction of Bax and Bak activation exist. The *in vivo* results of Merino *et al.* (2009) highlight that the direct interaction with Bax and the ability to engage the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins are both important features in Bim BH3-only protein function, showing that these mechanisms of are not exclusive during MOMP induction.

The Bcl-2 family members are regulated at the level of transcription, as well as by posttranslational mechanisms (reviewed by Chipuk *et al.* 2010). Different BH3-only proteins share little homology, and also seem to function as sensors for distinct cellular stresses. Phosphorylation of BH3-only proteins can lead to their sequestration by other proteins, and prevention of relocalization to the mitochondrial membrane. For example, growth factor stimulation promotes Bad phosphorylation at multiple residues, primarily by Akt, which leads to cytosolic sequestration and inactivation of Bad by the 14-3-3 proteins until Bad becomes dephosphorylated upon apoptotic stimuli (Zha *et al.* 1996, Wang *et al.* 1999). Also Bim is negatively regulated by Akt-mediated phosphorylation in response to survival signals (Qi *et al.* 2006), and by ERK1/2-mediated phosphorylation of Bim by c-Jun Nterminal kinase (JNK) upon cellular stress leads to the release of Bim from the dynein motor proteins and relocalization to the mitochondria where Bim promotes cytochrome *c* release (Lei & Davis 2003).

2.1.5 Bid as a mediator between extrinsic and intrinsic apoptosis pathways

The BH3-only protein Bid is regulated by proteolytic cleavage and subsequent exposure of the BH3 domain (Figure 6). Activated caspase-8 can cleave Bid to its truncated form, the C-terminal tBid, which then accumulates into the mitochondria and promotes MOMP (Li *et al.* 1998, Luo *et al.* 1998). In order to activate the proapoptotic function of Bid, the cleavage and proteasome-dependent degradation of the autoinhibitory N-terminal portion of cleaved Bid need to occur (Chou *et al.* 1999, Tan *et al.* 1999, Tait *et al.* 2007). The chain of events leading to tBid-mediated activation of Bax starts with rapid tBid association with the mitochondrial membrane, followed by Bax or Bak recruitment, insertion, and oligomerization (Wei *et al.* 2001, Kuwana *et al.* 2002, Lovell *et al.* 2008). The translocation of tBid, which promotes its insertion to the mitochondrial membrane (Zha *et al.* 2000). Targeting of tBid for proteasomal degradation functions as a mechanism for limiting the mitochondrial apoptosis cascade (Breitschopf *et al.* 2000).



Figure 6. Schematic presentation of the Bid protein structure. Casein kinase II (CKII) phosphorylation site and cleavage sites for caspase-3, caspase-8, calpain, cathepsin, and granzyme B as well as the JNK-activated cleavage site are indicated. Modified from (Billen *et al.* 2009).

In addition to cleavage by caspase-8, Bid can be cleaved by caspase-3 downstream of cytochrome c release (Li et al. 1998, Slee et al. 2000). Bid may also be a physiologically relevant substrate for caspase-2 in heat shock (Li et al. 1998, Bonzon et al. 2006), granzyme B in T cell-mediated cytotoxicity (Sutton et al. 2000, Heibein et al. 2000), lysosomal proteases upon lysosomal permeabilization (Stoka et al. 2001, Reiners et al. 2002) and calpains in ischemia and cisplatin-induced apoptosis (Chen et al. 2001a, Mandic et al. 2002). Phosphorylation of Bid at multiple sites close to the cleavage region by enzymes of the casein kinase family, and potentially also by other kinases, inhibits the caspase-mediated cleavage of Bid and its proapoptotic activation (Desagher et al. 2001, Degli-Esposti et al. 2003). JNK is involved in generation of a large C-terminal fragment of Bid, jBid, which accumulates to mitochondria but induces selective release of apoptotic factors from the mitochondria due to the longer N-terminal part (Deng et al. 2003). Furthermore, ATM kinase-phosphorylated Bid seems to play a role in DNA damageinduced apoptosis and cell cycle arrest (Zinkel et al. 2005, Kamer et al. 2005). Careful control of the proapoptotic activity of Bid reflects its importance at the cross roads between the caspase-8-activating extrinsic apoptosis pathway and apoptosis signaling through the mitochondria. This link is of major significance, as many cell types require Bid-mediated activation of MOMP and cytochrome c release in order to commit to death receptormediated apoptosis.

2.2 Death receptor-mediated apoptosis

The signals from the extracellular ligands to the intracellular caspase machinery are transmitted via a group of cell surface proteins called the DRs. This route of signaling is known as the extrinsic cell death pathway. DRs belong to the tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) superfamily that comprises 29 proteins characterized by one to six extracellular cystein-rich domains (CRDs) (reviewed by Aggarwal 2003). Although most TNFRs are type I transmembrane proteins, some of them are anchored to plasma membrane by glycophospholipid moieties or secreted as soluble molecules. Once activated, the members of the TNFR family mediate a multitude of cellular functions from differentiation to regulation of immunological responses (Aggarwal 2003). A specific feature of the TNFR members that are classified as DRs, is the relatively conserved cytoplasmic death domain (DD) of approximately 80 amino acid residues that is required for signal transduction (Itoh & Nagata 1993, Tartaglia et al. 1993). To date, six DRs have been identified: TNFR1 (p55), CD95 (Fas/APO-1), DR3 (TRAMP), DR4 (TRAIL-R1/TNFRSF10A), DR5 (TRAIL-R2/TNFRSF10B) and DR6 (Figure 7). Although ectodysplasin A receptor (EDAR) and nerve growth factor receptor (NGFR/p75NTR) also contain intracellular DD, these receptors are not typically designated as DRs. Several decoy receptors that lack functional signaling properties can compete with the DRs in ligand binding and inhibit DR signalling (reviewed by Askenazi & Dixit 1999).

2.2.1 Death receptor ligands are important regulators of the immune system

DRs are activated by their cognate ligands that belong to the TNF family of cytokines (Aggarwall 2003) (Figure 7). Of the 19 identified TNF superfamily ligands, five are known to activate DRs. Tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) and lymphotoxin α (LT α) bind to TNFR1 (Dembic *et al.* 1990), CD95 ligand (CD95L, Fas-ligand) binds to CD95 (Suda *et al.* 1993), and TL1A binds to DR3 (Migone *et al.* 2002). Both CD95L and TL1A can also

interact with the soluble decoy receptor 3 (DcR3) (Pitti et al. 1998, Migone et al. 2002). Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis inducing-ligand (TRAIL/Apo2L) has been shown to bind five receptors, including two DRs, DR4 (Pan et al. 1997a) and DR5 (Pan et al. 1997b, Sheridan et al. 1997), and two decoy receptors, decoy receptor 1 (DcR1/TRIDD/TRAIL-R3/TNFRSF10C; Pan et al. 1997b, Sheridan et al. 1997) and decoy receptor 2 (DcR2/TRUNDD/TRAIL-R4/TNFRSF10D; Marsters et al. 1997). In addition to these four membrane-bound receptors, TRAIL binds with lower affinity to a soluble osteoprotegerin (OPG). with the consequence of blocking receptor. the antiosteoclastogenic activity of OPG and the apoptotic activity of TRAIL (Emery et al. 1998). The extracellular fragment of β -amyloid precursor protein (N-APP), characteristic to Alzheimer's disease pathology, was only recently discovered to bind to DR6 and trigger neuronal degeneration, thereby functioning as a long lost ligand for DR6 (Nikolaev et al. 2009).



Figure 7. The interactions of TNF ligands with death receptors (DRs) and decoy receptors (DcRs). Single DR ligands can interact with the cystein-rich extracellular domains of several death domain (DD) containing DRs (grey) or DcRs (yellow) that do not have a functional DD. See text for details. Adapted from (Gonzalvez & Ashkenazi 2010).

All death receptor ligands, except for lymphotoxin α and N-APP, are expressed as type II transmembrane proteins predominantly on the cell surface of immune cells, such as T cells, B cells, monocytes, dendritic cells and natural killer (NK) cells (Aggarwal 2003). In addition to transmitting apoptosis-inducing signals, DR ligands can activate signaling pathways that promote growth and survival, but some ligands are more potent than others

with this respect. All TNF ligands can activate to varying degree the NF- κ B transcription factor that regulates expression of a large number of target genes involved in cell proliferation and survival as well as apoptosis (reviewed by Hayden & Ghosh 2008). TNF α , for example, is better known as a proinflammatory cytokine that induces proliferation, differentiation and cellular activation, but also elicits activation of caspases and apoptosis in certain cell types. TNF α is involved in various physiological and pathological processes, with the main focus on immune responses and autoimmunity (Aggarwal 2003).

CD95L and TRAIL, in turn, represent the prototypic death receptor ligands that potently trigger cellular apoptosis. Like TNFa, CD95L also plays a critical role in regulation homeostasis in the immune system. The loss-of-function mutations gld or lpr, in mouse CD95L or the CD95 receptor, respectively, induce a severe lymphoproliferative phenotype, similar to the human autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome (ALPS) associated with mutations in the CD95 signaling pathway (Watanabe-Fukunaga et al. 1992, Takahashi et al. 1994, Rieux-Laucat et al. 1995, Fisher et al. 1995). Expression of CD95L and its receptor on activated T cells is involved in a process called activation-induced cell death (AICD) (Brunner et al. 1996) that mediates peripheral deletion of autoreactive T cells (reviewed by Bouillet & O'Reilly 2009). Expression of CD95L on sites of immune privilege, such as brain, uterus, eye and testis, attenuates induction of immune responses against foreign antigens at these locations (Griffith et al. 1995). Inducible cell surface translocation of CD95L from intracellular storage is employed in cytotoxic T cell and NK cell -mediated killing of infected or transformed target cells (Bossi & Griffiths 1999). The ability of CD95L to induce non-apoptotic signals has been evidenced for example by studies demonstrating, how CD95-signaling is able to enhance liver regeneration (Desbarts & Newell 2000), provide co-stimulation for activated T cells (Maksimow et al. 2006) and most recently, how CD95-mediated prosurvival signals promote tumor growth (Chen et al. 2010).

2.2.2 Regulation of death receptor ligand activity

The activity of death receptor ligands can be modulated through their recruitment to dynamic plasma membrane domains, called membrane rafts (reviewed by Simons & Gerl 2010). This membrane compartment, rich in sphingolipids and cholesterol, has been shown to accommodate multiple signaling receptors and their intracellular effectors. CD95L recruitment to membrane rafts enhances its killing activity possibly due to increased aggregation of both the ligand and the bound CD95 receptor at the target cell (Eramo *et al.* 1994, Muppidi & Siegel 1994, Nachbur *et al.* 2006). Regulation of TNF α and TRAIL activity by distribution to plasma membrane rafts has not yet been characterized, but translocation of their receptors to rafts influences the outcome of DR signaling. While raft-localized TNFR1 is more likely to induce survival signaling than apoptosis (Treede *et al.* 2009), DR4 and DR5 have enhanced ability to trigger apoptosis, once recruited to membrane rafts (Rossin *et al.* 2009).

Proteolytic shedding of the membrane-associated ligands by metalloproteases produces soluble forms of TNF α (Black *et al.* 1997) and CD95L (Tanaka *et al.* 1995) further expanding the possibilities for stringent regulation of death receptor ligand activity. In a recent *in vivo* study, O'Reilly and coworkers (2009) elucidated whether the soluble death ligands possess attenuated killing activity. They generated transgenic mice that specifically

lacked either the secreted from (sCD95L) or the transmembrane form of CD95L (mCD95L), and thereby demonstrated that only mCD95L was essential for cytotoxic activity, as only the mice lacking mCD95L developed severe lymphadenopathy and autoimmunity similar to CD95L-deficient mice. Soluble TNF α (sTNF α), on the other hand, has a different action profile than its transmembrane counterpart. Only sTNF α is able to sensitize T-cells for AICD (Muller *et al.* 2009), while non-cleavable TNF α can still kill tumor cells or virally infected cells (Perez *et al.* 1990, Borsotti *et al.* 2007). In contrast to metalloprotease-mediated cleavage of TNF α and CD95L, *in vitro* studies have demonstrated that TRAIL shedding might involve cellular cysteine proteases (Mariani & Krammer 1998). Further studies are required to elucidate if production of soluble TRAIL by shedding also occurs *in vivo*.

2.2.3 The initial phases of death receptor activation

Unlike their ligands, the DRs seem to be present on the surface of most normal and transformed cells. Increasing evidence suggests that several of the DRs and other TNFR family members arrange into preformed receptor complexes by homotypic interactions between the extracellular protein domains. These interactions have been shown to require the proximal N terminus of the receptor called the pre-ligand assembly domain (PLAD). Identification of PLAD interactions for most DRs, including TNFR1 (Chan *et al.* 2000), DR4, DR5 and DcR2 (Clancy *et al.* 2005) and CD95 (Papoff *et al.* 1999, Siegel *et al.* 2000), has changed the common view of ligand-induced trimerization. Inhibition of TRAIL-induced apoptosis by decoy receptor DcR2 was found to function through PLAD-mediated formation of mixed complexes with DR5 in CD8+ T cells (Clancy *et al.* 2005). As for CD95, ligand-independent association of the receptors in lipid rafts dictates sensitivity to CD95L-induced apoptosis in CD4+ T cells (Muppidi & Siegel 2004). These results demonstrate that pre-ligand assembly is an important step in the regulation of DR-mediated cellular responses, and may thereby provide an interesting target for pharmacological intervention (reviewed by Chan 2007).

It has become evident that certain cell signaling pathways require receptor internalization for full activation or generation of a different biological response. Receptor internalizationdependent and -independent signaling pathways also play a role in DR signaling. The seemingly contradicting biological activities of DRs, namely promotion of both survival and apoptosis, might be related to the dynamics of receptor localization at the plasma membrane and endocytosis into the intracellular compartments (reviewed by Schütze *et al.* 2008). For example, transmission of proapoptotic signals in response to TNF α has been shown to depend on internalization of the activated TNFR1 complex, while activation of NF- κ B occurs when the receptor is located at the plasma membrane (Schneider-Brachert *et al.* 2004). Similarly, effective caspase-8 activation in response to CD95 ligation seems to require the post-translational modification of CD95 by palmitoylation, localization at plasma membrane lipid rafts, and internalization, in turn, results in the activation of the MAPK and NF- κ B signaling pathways (Lee *et al.* 2006).

DRs can be divided into two types according to the primary adaptor protein that they recruit upon ligand binding and formation of multiprotein signaling platforms. The adaptor molecules contain domains that bind to DRs and create docking sites for downstream signal transduction. CD95, DR4 and DR5 recruit FADD protein and primarily induce

proapoptotic signaling. Representing the other DR-type, TNFR1 and DR3 bind TNF receptor-associated death domain (TRADD) protein and show mainly proinflammatory and immune-stimulatory activity (Hsu *et al.* 1995). Cross talk between these two signaling modules enables, for example, TNFR1 to signal via FADD to induce apoptosis, and for CD95, DR4 and DR5 to stimulate prosurvival pathways through activation of NF- κ B and MAP kinases in some circumstances (reviewed by Wilson *et al.* 2009).

2.2.4 TNFR1- and CD95-induced signaling cascades

The presence of TNFR1 on almost all nucleated cell types suggests a very versatile role for TNFR1 in regulation of biological functions (reviewed by Vandenabeele et al. 1995). The diversity of TNFR1 signaling is reflected by the capacity of TNFR1 to form two temporary and spatially distinct cytoplasmic signaling complexes that can signal either NF-KB activation form the cell surface or apoptosis from the internalized receptors (Micheau & Tschopp 2003). The TNFR1 signaling complex I is rapidly formed at the plasma membrane and composed of the adaptor proteins TRADD and TNF receptor-associated factor 2 (TRAF2), as well as DD-containing receptor-interacting protein 1 (RIP1) and other proteins. Several of the TNFR1-associated proteins, such as cIAP1/2 and TRAF2, have the ability to regulate the signaling output of the complex through their E3 ubiquitin ligase activity (reviewed by Wertz & Dixit 2010). Once ubiquitinated, RIP1 interacts with transforming growth factor- β -activated kinase 1 (TAK1), which subsequently activates the IKK complex (reviewed by Hayden & Ghosh 2008). This leads to inhibitor kappaB (IkB) phosphorylation, polyubiquitination and proteasomal degradation, liberating NF-KB to move into the nucleus where it regulates target gene transcription. Through TRAF2 interactions, TNFR1 can also activate MAP kinases, such as JNK or p38 (Lee et al. 1997, Yuasa et al. 1998). Thus, TNFR1 complex 1 mediates the proliferative and proinflammatory effects of TNF α . Internalization of the activated TNFR1 receptor complex is a prerequisite for the formation of the secondary intracellular complexes. TNFR1 complex IIA (RIP1/FADD/procaspase-8/10) and IIB (TRADD/FADD/procaspase-8/10) are formed with the participation of the adapter protein FADD and procaspases-8 and -10 in the cytosol (reviewed by Wilson et al. 2009). Activation of the initiator caspases in TNFR complex II leads to activation of caspase-3 and eventually apoptosis. The complex II -mediated TNFR1 pathway resembles the proapoptotic signaling cascades induced by CD95L and TRAIL.

Unlike its ligand, the CD95 receptor is expressed in a wide range of tissues, including the thymus, heart, liver and kidney (reviewed by Nagata 1997). It was initially identified as an antigen for a monoclonal antibody that induced apoptosis in tumor cells (Trauth *et al.* 1989, Itoh *et al.* 1991, Oehm *et al.* 1992), after which studies of CD95-induced apoptosis have greatly elucidated the mechanisms and regulation of DR signaling. CD95-induced apoptosis can be counteracted by expression of the soluble DcR3, which has been reported to occur in tumors through genomic DcR3 amplification (Pitti *et al.* 1998). Ligand binding to preformed CD95 complexes initiates rapid clustering of the receptors into micromolecular aggregates and further into larger surface clusters that can even be visualized by fluorescence microscopy (Algeciras-Schimnich *et al.* 2002, Siegel *et al.* 2004, Feig *et al.* 2007) (Figure 8). In these structures, CD95 directly recruits FADD and caspase-8 via homotypic interactions to form the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) at the cytoplasmic death domain (Boldin *et al.* 1995, Chinnaiyan *et al.* 1995, Kischkel *et al.* 1995, Muzio *et al.* 1996). DISC serves as a platform for activation of caspase-8 and caspase-10 by induced proximity (Medema *et al.* 1997, Vincenz & Dixit 1997, Muzio *et al.*

1998). Recruitment of c-FLIP to CD95–DISC regulates activation of caspase-8 and caspase-10 and participates in transmission of antiapoptotic CD95-signaling (reviewed by Thome & Tschopp 2001).



Figure 8. The extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic signaling pathways. Programmed cell death can be triggered by the extrinsic pathway that is mediated by death receptors (DRs) or the intrinsic pathway that is induced upon cell damaging stresses. Binding of a death ligand leads to formation of a death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) at the intracellular death domain of the DR and activation of initiator caspases like caspase-8. In the DISC, c-FLIP is capable of inhibiting caspase activation. The proapoptotic (Bax, Bak) and antiapoptotic (Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, Mcl-1) Bcl-2 proteins regulate the integrity of the mitochondrial outer membrane Upon initiation of the intrinsic apoptosis pathway, apoptogenic factors, like cytochrome c, Smac/DIABLO and AIF, are released from mitochondria. Formation of apoptosis. Inhibitor caspases cleave and activate effector caspases, like caspase-3, that execute the cellular apoptosis. Inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (IAPs) that inhibit caspases can, in turn, be inactivated by cytosolic Smac/DIABLO. The DR pathway can be coupled to the intrinsic apoptosis pathway by caspase-mediated cleavage of Bid protein to truncated Bid (tBid) that promotes mitochondrial permeabilization.

Cells that are sensitive to CD95L-induced apoptosis can be categorized into type I and II cells based on their requirement of MOMP for apoptosis-induction (Scaffidi *et al.* 1998, reviewed by Barnhart *et al.* 2003). Type I cells release large amounts of activated caspase-

8 upon CD95 stimulation through efficient DISC formation followed by direct cleavage and activation of caspase-3. Type II cells, by contrast, produce only little active caspase-8 at the DISC, and therefore require further amplification of the apoptotic signal through the activation of MOMP. Bid cleavage by active caspase-8 is likely to serve as the link between DISC formation and MOMP (Li *et al.* 1998, Luo *et al.* 1998). Consequently, overexpression of antiapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins rescues only type II cells from CD95incuced apoptosis (Scaffidi *et al.* 1998). Hepatocytes from mice expressing the human Bcl-2 transgene were protected from CD95-mediated apoptosis, suggesting that they are type II cells, while thymocytes from the same mice remained susceptible to CD95L, and later became categorized as type I cells (Strasser *et al.* 1995, Lacronique *et al.* 1996). Further evidence for the type II nature of hepatocytes was provided in a study with Bid-deficient mice, which were found resistant to CD95-mediated hepatocellular apoptosis (Yin *et al.* 1999).

Most of the studied CD95L-sensitive type I tumor cells have mesenchymal-like features, whereas type II tumor cells display a more epithelial phenotype, suggesting that type I and II signaling might correlate with different stages of carcinogenesis during the EMT (Algeciras-Schimnich *et al.* 2003). However, many tumors are resistant to CD95-mediated apoptosis, and instead of promoting cell death, CD95-signaling may promote tumor growth *in vivo* (Chen *et al.* 2010). CD95L can induce cell motility and invasion in apoptosis-resistant tumor cell lines and clones that are selected under chemotherapy, suggesting that CD95 may even contribute to metastasis (Barnhart *et al.* 2004, Ametller *et al.* 2010). More research efforts are needed to understand the tumor-promoting role of CD95 and how it may influence the outcome of cancer therapy.

2.2.5 Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)

TRAIL was originally identified through sequence homology with TNF α and CD95L, as a novel proapoptotic member of the TNF superfamily (Wiley *et al.* 1995, Pitti *et al.* 1996). Like other members of the TNF superfamily, TRAIL is a homotrimeric molecule, and the principles of TRAIL trimer binding to three DR5 receptors, revealed by crystallography of the complex, resemble the receptor-ligand interactions observed for other TNFR superfamily members (Hymowitz *et al.* 1999). A unique feature of TRAIL is a zinc ion buried at the TRAIL trimer interface (Hymowitz *et al.* 2000). Binding of this zinc ion to a single cysteine residue on each monomer maintains the native structure and stability and, hence, the biological activity of TRAIL (Hymowitz *et al.* 2000).

2.2.5.1 The roles of TRAIL in the immune system

The physiological roles of TRAIL are not yet fully understood, but there are clear indications that TRAIL participates in regulating immune responses and in killing of potentially harmful cells. In addition to being widely expressed in hematopoietic cells, TRAIL has also been detected in other tissues, like prostate, lung, colon, placenta, and small intestine (Wiley *et al.* 1995). Expression of TRAIL can be induced in dendritic cells, macrophages, T cells and NK cells in an activation-dependent manner by cytokines, such as interferons (Kayagaki *et al.* 1999 Halaas *et al.* 2000, Liu *et al.* 2001, Sato *et al.* 2001). For example, viral infections upregulate TRAIL expression in T cells and NK cells, thereby enhancing the clearance of infected cells (Sato *et al.* 2001, Ishikawa *et al.* 2005).

Experimental work with transgenic mouse models has given new insight into the biological functions of TRAIL, including an important role in maintenance of self-tolerance. In mice, mDR5 (mTRAIL-R2, mKILLER) acts as a single ortholog of both human DR4 and DR5 (Wu *et al.* 1999), and two decoy receptors (mDcTRAILR1 and mDcTRAILR2), which lack the cytoplasmic domain, have been identified (Schneider *et al.* 2003). Mice lacking expression of either TRAIL or mDR5 develop normally, suggesting that TRAIL-induced signaling is not essential in embryonic development (Cretney *et al.* 2002, Sedger *et al.* 2002, Diehl *et al.* 2004, Finnberg et al. 2005). Unlike the mice with CD95 mutations, TRAIL or mDR5 knockout mice also seem to have normal resting immune cell populations (Cretney *et al.* 2003, Diehl *et al.* 2004, Cretney *et al.* 2008). Instead, mDR5-deficiency increases innate immune responses against certain types of pathogens, suggesting that TRAIL receptor activation may also negatively regulate innate immunity (Diehl *et al.* 2004).

Mice deficient in TRAIL demonstrate increased susceptibility to experimental autoimmune disease (Lamhamedi-Cherradi *et al.* 2003, Cretney *et al.* 2005), and treatment with antibodies that block endogenous TRAIL have been shown to exacerbate the disease condition in mouse models for arthritis and multiple sclerosis (Song *et al.* 2000, Hilliard *et al.* 2001, Cretney *et al.* 2005). These results strongly suggest that one of the functions of TRAIL *in vivo* is to inhibit autoimmune inflammation. Indeed, elevated serum levels of soluble TRAIL have been detected in patients with autoimmune diseases, such as lupus erythematosus and multiple sclerosis (Wandinger *et al.* 2003, Lub-de Hooge *et al.* 2005). The cellular mechanisms employed by TRAIL to prevent autoimmunity might be different from those used in TRAIL-mediated target cell killing. Instead of increasing T cell apoptosis, TRAIL was shown to inhibit T cell proliferative response and to induce cell cycle arrest (Song *et al.* 2000, Hilliard *et al.* 2001, Lunemann *et al.* 2002), demonstrating that TRAIL can also function through inhibition of immune cell activation and proliferation. Taken together, these findings indicate that TRAIL has an important regulatory role in both innate and adaptive immunity.

2.2.5.2 Molecular mechanisms of TRAIL-induced signaling

Binding of trimeric TRAIL to DR4 or DR5 promotes receptor clustering into larger aggregates and induces the formation of the DISC (Wagner et al. 2007) (Figure 9). Similar to the CD95 activation discussed above, recruitment of FADD at the cytoplasmic death domain of DR4 and DR5 and subsequent binding of caspase-8 and caspase-10 to FADD are essential steps for TRAIL-induced caspase activation and apoptosis (Bodmer et al. 2000, Kischkel et al. 2000, Kuang et al. 2000, Sprick et al. 2000). The ligand-induced receptor clustering and caspase-8 activation can be modulated by enzymatic Oglycosylation of conserved residues at the extracellular domain of DR4 and DR5 (Wagner et al. 2007). Recruitment and activation of caspase-10 at the DISC may be able to substitute for lack of caspase-8 in some model systems in induction of TRAIL-induced apoptosis (Kischkel et al. 2001, Wang et al. 2001), although the opposite has also been reported (Sprick et al. 2002). Furthermore, binding of c-FLIP to TRAIL-induced DISC modulates the outcome of DR4 and DR5 signaling. For example, selective knockdown of c-FLIP_s and especially c-FLIP₁, in several cancer cell lines enhances the recruitment and activation of caspase-8 at the TRAIL-DISC as well as sensitizes the cells to TRAILinduced apoptosis (Sharp et al. 2005). Ubiquitylation of caspase-8 at TRAIL-DISC has been shown to promote its translocation to intracellular ubiquitin-rich foci, where activation of the caspase-8 is enhanced (Jin et al. 2009). Bid cleavage, Bax/Bak-dependent release of cytochrome c and caspase-9 activation have been shown to occur downstream of caspase-8 activation, when cells are treated with TRAIL (LeBlanc et al. 2002, Ravi & Bedi 2002, Kandasamy et al. 2003) (Figure 8).



Figure 9. Current model for TRAIL-induced signaling. Activation of pre-ligand assembled DR4 and DR5 receptors by TRAIL induces formation of DISC with FADD and caspase-8/10, and translocation to lipid raft membrane compartment that is linked to actin cytoskeleton. Lipid raft localization enhances the activation of initiator caspases in the TRAIL-DISC, which promotes apoptotic signaling. An activation platform for non-apoptotic TRAIL-signaling has been reported to form downstream of DISC assembly. This complex II consists of the adaptors FADD or TRADD, caspase-8/10, RIP-1, TRAF2 and NEMO/IKK γ , and can promote survival signaling via Akt, MAPK and NF- κ B pathways. c-FLIP proteins are able to inhibit caspase activation at the DISC, but also to mediate NF- κ B activation. Although the TRAIL–DISC has been shown to undergo clathrin-mediated endocytosis, it is not yet known, how internalization influences TRAIL-induced signaling. Adapted from (Gonzalvez & Ashkenazi 2010).

Besides caspase activation via FADD, DR4 and DR5 are able to recruit TRADD and RIP1 to activate the transcription factor NF- κ B (Chaudhary *et al.* 1997, Schneider *et al.* 1997, Sheridan *et al.* 1997, Lin *et al.* 2000) (Figure 9). NF- κ B activation by TRAIL is less efficient than the activation of NF- κ B by TNF α (Sheridan *et al.* 1997), but it involves a similar activation platform downstream of DISC formation, also called complex II,

consisting of RIP1, TRAF2 and NEMO/IKK γ (Varfolomeev *et al.* 2005). TRAIL-induced NF- κ B activity is likely to protect cells from apoptosis by inducing transcription of antiapoptotic proteins, but it has also been suggested to upregulate chemokines that mediate phagocytosis of the dying cell (Varfolomeev *et al.* 2005). In addition, TRAIL-induced NF- κ B activity was reported to account for increased proliferation, survival and invasiveness in cancer cells that are resistant to TRAIL-induced apoptosis (Ehrhardt *et al.* 2003, Ishimura *et al.* 2006). It is very important for the use of TRAIL in cancer therapy that the physiological role of TRAIL-induced activation of the NF- κ B signaling pathway is clarified.

DR4 and DR5 have also been shown to activate MAPK and Akt kinase pathways. Although the TRAIL-induced signaling cascades to activation of the MAP kinases JNK and p38 seem to have cell type specific features, they have been reported to involve TRAF2 and RIP1 as well as caspase activity (Mühlenbeck *et al.* 1998, Hu *et al.* 1999, Lin *et al.* 2000, MacFarlane *et al.* 2000, Varfolomeev *et al.* 2005). The mechanisms that mediate activation of Akt or ERK1/2 signaling in response to TRAIL stimulation are less clear (Tran *et al.* 2001, Secchiero *et al.* 2003, Zhang *et al.* 2003), but may require similar complexes as JNK, p38 and NF- κ B activation (Figure 9).

Kinase-mediated phosphorylation events can, in turn, modulate the components of the TRAIL signaling pathway (reviewed by Tran *et al.* 2004). Transcription-independent effects of ERK1/2 signaling have been shown to inhibit caspase-8 activation upon TRAIL stimulation, but the molecular targets of ERK1/2 within TRAIL–DISC have not yet been defined (Tran *et al.* 2001, Söderström *et al.* 2002). Protein kinase C (PKC) was shown to phosphorylate c-FLIP and increase the stability of the short c-FLIP isoforms, thereby inhibiting caspase-8 activation in the TRAIL–DISC (Kaunisto *et al.* 2009), whereas recruitment of FADD to TRAIL–DISC can also be reduced by PKC (Harper *et al.* 2003). Although the antiapoptotic activity of Akt in TRAIL-induced apoptosis has often been attributed to the promotion of c-FLIP expression (Panka *et al.* 2001), several studies suggest that Akt is able to inhibits TRAIL signaling downstream of caspase-8 activation at the level of Bid cleavage (Chen *et al.* 2001). Furthermore, Akt has been shown to inhibit apoptosis by phosphorylating other effectors of TRAIL signaling, including Bad (Datta *et al.* 1997), caspase-9 (Cardone *et al.* 1998) and XIAP (Dan *et al.* 2004).

DR4 and DR5 localization to plasma membrane lipid rafs upon TRAIL-stimulation was demonstrated to play an important role also in TRAIL-induced apoptosis (Song *et al.* 2007). Similar to the mechanisms observed for CD95, palmitoylation of DR4 at the cytoplasmic juxtamembrane region promotes localization to lipid rafts and generation of more efficient TRAIL-signaling (Rossin *et al.* 2009). Interestingly, the non-raft localized receptors were able to induce NF- κ B and ERK1/2 survival signals upon TRAIL stimulation, even when the cells were treated with cholesterol-depleting agent, methyl- β -cyclodextrin, that disrupts lipid rafts (Song et al. 2007). Clathrin-dependent death receptor internalization follows after DR4 and DR5 activation (Austin *et al.* 2006, Kohlhaas *et al.* 2007), but unlike the TNF α -TNF-R1 and CD95L-CD95 receptor complexes, the TRAIL receptor-ligand complexes need not be internalized for DISC formation and apoptosis to occur (Austin *et al.* 2006, Kohlhaas *et al.* 2007) (Figure 9). In contrast, inhibition of endocytosis by dominant negative dynamin or hyperosmotic sucrose increases TRAIL-induced apoptosis (Austin *et al.* 2006, Kohlhaas *et al.* 2007). Although receptor endocytosis appears not to regulate non-apoptotic and apoptotic signaling through DR4 and

DR5, as it has been shown to do for TNFR-1 and CD95 signaling (Schneider-Brachert *et al.* 2004, Lee et al. 2006), lipid raft localization could be one of the determinants that dictate, whether apoptosis or survival signaling is induced by TRAIL.

The decoy receptors are unable to recruit DISC upon ligand binding, as the intracellular death domain of DcR2 is truncated (Marsters *et al.* 1997), and DcR1 completely lacks the cytoplasmic domain (Pan *et al.* 1997b, Sheridan *et al.* 1997). The GPI-anchored DcR1 acts as a competitor for TRAIL binding, preventing DR5-associated DISC assembly in lipid rafts, while interaction of DcR2 with DR5 allows DISC formation, but prevents DR4 correcruitment and initiator caspase activation within the DR5 DISC (Mérino *et al.* 2006). Whether DcR2 spontaneously interacts with DR4 and DR5 via the extracellular PLAD (Clancy *et al.* 2005), or whether the interaction is TRAIL-dependent (Mérino *et al.* 2006), remains controversial.

2.2.5.3 TRAIL induces apoptosis selectively in cancer cells

Employment of CD95L in cancer therapy is limited by induction of fatal liver damage by in vivo engagement of CD95 (Ogasawara et al. 1993). Systemic toxicity limits also the use of TNF α as an anticancer agent, but the harmful effects of TNF α are rather caused by NF- κB -induced inflammatory responses than activation of caspases through TNFR-1 (reviewed by Vassalli 1992). However, substantial amount of preclinical data indicate that TRAIL can in vitro and in vivo specifically trigger apoptosis in cancer cells without harming non-transformed cells. First, TRAIL was shown to induce apoptosis in a range of tumor cell lines (Wiley et al. 1995, Pitti et al. 1996). Repeated injections with soluble recombinant TRAIL were found to be safe in experimental animal models, and the injections actively suppressed growth of established human tumor xenografts in immunocompromised mice (Ashkenazi et al. 1999, Walczak et al. 1999). Since then, a large number of studies have shown that TRAIL and agonistic antibodies against DR4 and DR5 are able to induce apoptosis in wide range of cancer cell lines and primary tumor cells, while being non-toxic to most of normal cells (reviewed by LeBlanc & Ashkenazi 2003, Hylander et al. 2005). Interestingly, TRAIL can enhance apoptosis in cancer cells that have lost functional tumor suppressor p53 (Ravi et al. 2004).

The initial discrepancy between several studies demonstrating tumor-specific activity of soluble TRAIL (Lawrence *et al.* 2001, Hao *et al.* 2004, Ganten *et al.* 2005) and studies, which reported that human primary hepatocytes are very sensitive to TRAIL-induced apoptosis (Jo *et al.* 2000, Ichikawa *et al.* 2001, Mori *et al.* 2004), was shown to stem from different *in vitro* culture procedures as well as different versions of recombinant TRAIL used in the experiments (Lawrence *et al.* 2001, Ganten *et al.* 2006). *In vitro* cytotoxicity to hepatocytes was observed only when the investigators used recombinant TRAIL that contained an exogenous tag, such as polyhistidine or Flag, as this was shown to cause overaggregation of TRAIL receptors and apoptosis of hepatocytes (Lawrence *et al.* 2001, Ganten *et al.* 2006). Therefore, an untagged version of trimerized TRAIL has been used in further studies without toxicity normal cells.

The significance of TRAIL in immune surveillance against cancer has been demonstrated in studies with TRAIL-deficient mice or mice treated with TRAIL-neutralizing antibody. These animals displayed increased susceptibility to initiation, growth and metastasis of experimental tumors (Cretney *et al.* 2002, Sedger *et al.* 2002, Takeda *et al.* 2002).
However, some studies could not detect a critical role for TRAIL in tumorigenesis, as loss of mDR5 or TRAIL did not increase the *in vivo* formation of intestinal tumors in adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) mutant mice (Yue *et al.* 2005) or Her2/neu-initiated mammary tumors (Zerafa *et al.* 2005), respectively. An age-related increase in malignancy was, however, observed in the latter study, in which aged TRAIL-/- mice developed lymphoma with higher occurrence than the wild type mice (Zerafa *et al.* 2005). When Grosse-Wilde *et al.* (2008) aimed at resolving the conflicting data with respect to the physiological role of the TRAIL system during tumorigenesis, they observed that mDR5-deficiency did not increase the growth rate or progression of tumors in multistage mouse model of squamous cell carcinoma, but instead significantly enhanced metastasis to lymph nodes (Grosse-Wilde *et al.* 2008). Increased metastasis was also seen in mDR5 -/- mice on lymphoma-prone genetic background, even though the development of lymphomas was not influenced by the loss of mDR5 (Finnberg *et al.* 2008). These results suggest that TRAIL-induced signaling may play a role specifically in the suppression of metastasis.

2.2.5.4 Overcoming TRAIL resistance in cancer cells

Although some TRAIL-sensitive cancer cell lines have been reported to undergo TRAILinduced apoptosis independent of the mitochondrial pathway (type I signaling) (Özören et al. 2000, Walczak et al. 2000), most of the tested cancer cells appear to behave in type II manner requiring the mitochondrial pathway to be activated for efficient caspase activation upon TRAIL treatment (Özören & El-Deiry 2002). Consequently, overexpression of Bcl-2 or Bcl-xL inhibits TRAIL-induced apoptosis in a variety of transformed cells (Hinz et al. 2000, Sun et al. 2001, Fulda et al. 2002). The type II behaviour of cancer cells might be caused by higher expression of inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (IAPs) that oppose efficient caspase activation (Srinivasula et al. 2000). However, it has become obvious that the TRAIL-sensitive cancer cells are not as common as initially thought. Approximately half of the tumor cell lines tested so far and the large majority of primary tumors are resistant to TRAIL-mediated apoptosis (reviewed by Koschny et al. 2007 and Mellier et al. 2010, Todaro et al. 2008). The mechanisms of TRAIL resistance are diverse and range from activation of antiapoptotic signaling pathways (NF-KB, MAPKs and PI3K/Akt), overexpression of antiapoptotic proteins (FLIP, Bcl-xL, Bcl-2 and IAPs) and deficiency of proapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins (Bax) to increased expression of TRAIL decov receptors and reduced DR4/DR5 expression (reviewed by Mellier et al. 2010). For example, mutated Bax is often the reason for TRAIL resistance in colon cancer (LeBlanc et al. 2002), whereas deregulated PI3K/Akt signaling can be an important source of TRAIL resistance in prostate cancer (Chen et al. 2001b).

As the initiation of cancer cell apoptosis via the intrinsic pathway can cause DNA damage in the surviving cells, like many chemotherapeutic agents do, sublethal TRAIL treatment has also been reported to provoke mutations (Lovric & Hawkins 2010). Therefore, further studies are required to determine the effects of TRAIL-treatment in TRAIL-resistant cells, which could respond to the treatment with enhanced survival signaling and even DNA damage (Secchiero *et al.* 2003, Lovric & Hawkins 2010), and careful selection of patients that would benefit from TRAIL treatment is needed. The extracellular domains of DR5 and DR4 can be *O*-glycosylated at specific residues by *O*-glycosylation enzymes, such as GALNT14, with the consequence of facilitating ligand-induced clustering of DR4 and DR5, DISC formation and capsase-8 activation (Wagner *et al.* 2007). Gene expression profiles of specific *O*-glycosylation enzymes may serve as important biomarker to predict the sensitivity of cancer cells to TRAIL-based therapy, as comparison of 119 cancer cell lines revealed a strong correlation between expression of these enzymes and TRAIL-sensitivity (Wagner *et al.* 2007).

Various strategies are employed in preclinical studies to restore cancer cell sensitivity to TRAIL (reviewed by Ashkenazi & Herbst 2008). Many chemotherapeutics upregulate surface expression of TRAIL receptors by increasing their transcription or protein half-life, downregulate expression of antiapoptotic proteins, including IAPs, c-FLIP, Bcl-2, Bcl-xL and Mcl-1, or enhance TRAIL-DISC redistribution into lipid rafts, thereby causing a synergistic apoptotic effect when combined with TRAIL (reviewed by Mellier et al. 2010). Downregulation of c-FLIP by compounds, such as proteasome inhibitors and cytotoxic drugs, or by RNA interference is an efficient way to enhance TRAIL-induced signaling at the level of caspase-8 activation (reviewed by Safa et al. 2008). Inhibition of IAPs by using small molecule IAP antagonists enhances antitumor activity of TRAIL (Li et al. 2004, Voggler et al. 2009). ABT-737 is a BH3-mimetic small-molecule inhibitor of the antiapoptotic proteins, Bcl-2, Bcl-xL and Bcl-w, that does not directly induce apoptosis, but enhances the effects of other death signals, such as TRAIL treatment (Oltersdorf et al. 2005, Nieminen et al. 2007a). Inhibition of cancer cell survival signaling by compounds, like the tyrosine kinase inhibitor sorafenib, also sensitizes cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis (Rosato et al. 2007). The combinatorial treatments can only be of clinical benefit if they do not harm normal human cells. Ganten et al. (2006) tested a range of common chemotherapeutics together with TRAIL and found that most combinations were not toxic to primary human hepatocytes. However, the actual safety profile of each combination will not be defined until investigated in clinical phase I studies.

2.2.5.5 TRAIL receptor agonists in clinical trials for cancer therapy

Recombinant human TRAIL (dulanermin) and fully human or humanized monoclonal agonistic antibodies against DR4 (mapatumumab) or DR5 (conatumumab, CS-1008, lexatumumab and PRO95780) are currently investigated in phase Ib/II clinical trials for cancer therapy. Altogether, these agents have been well tolerated at the tested doses and most agents did not reach the maximum tolerated dose (reviewed by Wiezorek et al. 2010). Modest single-agent antitumor activity has been observed in phase I trials in two patients with refractory disease; one partial response in non-small cell lung carcinoma treated with conatumumab and one in chondrosarcoma treated with dulanermin (Herbs et al. 2006, LoRusso et al. 2007). In a single-agent phase II study with mapatumumab, two partial responses and one complete response were observed among 40 patients with pretreated follicular non-Hodgkin lymphoma (Younes et al. 2005). As TRAIL receptor agonist monotherapy appears not to be potent enough, several on-going trials combine TRAILbased treatments with chemotherapy (Wiezorek et al. 2010). Significant increase in TRAIL antitumor activity has been observed in preclinical studies when the intrinsic apoptosis pathway is activated simultaneously with cytotoxic drugs or by sensitizing pretreatments that target the key mediators of TRAIL resistance. As these advances are anticipated to translate into improved results in clinical trials, various cytotoxic drugs and targeted therapeutics are investigated in different combinations together with TRAIL receptor agonists. These clinical studies did not reveal increased toxicity in phase Ib, and the ongoing randomized phase II studies will soon provide further information about the safety and antitumor efficacy of the TRAIL receptor agonists in wide range of combinations and tumor types (Wiezorek et al. 2010).

3. TARGETED APPROACHES FOR CANCER ELIMINATION

3.1 Lignans - Natural polyphenols with anticancer effects

Lignans are plant polyphenols traditionally classified into two types, classical lignans and neolignans. Classical lignans are formed from two phenylpropanes linked in a β - β' (8–8') fashion, while neolignans are those dimers whose coupling patterns differ from β - β' linkage (reviewed by Ayres & Loike 1990). Lignans are formed as secondary metabolites throughout the plant kingdom, while coniferous trees present one of the richest sources of lignans (reviewed by Holmbom *et al.* 2003). There is great diversity in lignan structures with several hundred naturally occurring lignans found in different plant parts, and the number of identified lignans is still increasing (reviewed by Pan *et al.* 2009, Ayres & Loike 1990). Some lignans and neolignans participate in the synthesis of lignin, an important component of the plant cell walls, while others act as antioxidants, biocides and perhaps even as plant hormones (Ayres & Loike 1990). The reported antimicrobial, antifungal, antiviral, antifeedant, nematocidal and insecticidal properties suggest an important role for lignans in the plant defense system against various pathogens and pests (reviewed by Lewis *et al.* 1995).

In human diet, lignans are enriched in whole-grain products, vegetables, berries, tea and fruits (reviewed by Adlercreutz 2007). Some of the best dietary sources of lignans are flaxseed and other oilseeds, such as sesame seeds. Plant lignan precursors can be converted into enterolignans, enterodiol (END) and enterolactone (ENL), by the activity of the microflora in the proximal colon of mammals, and therefore END and ENL are termed mammalian lignans (Setchell *et al.* 1981, Axelson *et al.* 1982, Boriello *et al.* 1985). Currently, at least secoisolariciresinol (SECO), matairesinol (MAT), pinoresinol, sesamin, lariciresinol, syringaresinol, 7-hydroxymatairesinol (HMR) and arctigenin are known to function as plant lignan precursors for the mammalian lignans (Axelson *et al.* 1982, Boriello *et al.* 1985, Saarinen *et al.* 2000, Heinonen *et al.* 2001, Peñalvo *et al.* 2005). For example, trachelogenin, isolariciresinol and nortrachelogenin (NTG) seem not to be converted to enterolactone or enterodiol in the gut, but are instead absorbed from the intestine and secreted as such or as metabolites to urine (Heinonen *et al.* 2001, Kitamura *et al.* 2003, Saarinen *et al.* 2005). Figure 10 shows the molecular structures of most lignans discussed in this thesis.

Various lignans also exist as glycosides that are transformed into the aglycones in the gastrointestinal track (Setchell *et al.* 1981). The major lignan component (1% of dry weight) in flax seed is secoisolariciresinol diglucoside (SDG), although smaller amounts of MAT, pinoresinol, lariciresinol, isolariciresinol and SECO can also be found in flax seed (reviewed by Adolphe *et al.* 2010). The bioactivity of dietary SDG and its metabolites, SECO, ENL and END, has been reported to protect against cardiovascular disease, diabetes and cancer (Adolphe *et al.* 2010). Like many other lignans, SECO, ENL and END possess antioxidative activity (Prasad 2000), which can reduce oxidative stress and thereby mediate the observed health effects.



Figure 10. Molecular structures of dibenzylbutryrolactone lignans and some other precursors for mammalian lignans.

The ability of lignans to inhibit inflammatory responses has also been investigated with interest of potential pharmacological benefit. For example arctigenin and MAT were shown to display antiasthmatic activity in guinea pigs in a dose-dependent manner (Lee *et al.* 2010) and inhibition of the inflammatory cytokine TNF α production by arctigenin or HMR was reported to occur in lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-stimulated macrophages or monocytes, respectively (Cho *et al.* 2001, Cosentino *et al.* 2010). Lignans share a structural resemblance with 17 β -estradiol and can be considered as phytoestrogens with especially ENL and END displaying the ability to modulate estrogen bioactivity (reviewed by Adlercreutz 2002). ENL is able to inhibit the enzyme aromatase, which converts androgens to estrogens, (Adlercreutz *et al.* 1993) and to bind to estrogen receptors with relatively weak affinity (Mueller *et al.* 2003). The effects of lignans on estrogen receptor signaling are likely to depend on the endogenous estrogen levels, as lignans are capable of exerting both estrogenic and antiestrogenic activities (Adlercreutz 2007).

3.1.1 Anticancer properties of lignans

Various structurally different lignans have demonstrated the ability to decrease cancer cell viability, growth and metastasis (reviewed by Saleem *et al.* 2005). The studies reviewed in this chapter have been conducted with the mammalian lignan ENL, other dibenzylburtyrolactone type lignans or the plant lignan precursors of ENL. *In vitro* studies with cultured cancer cell lines have demonstrated lignans have cytotoxic and antiproliferative characteristics. MAT and arctigenin have been reported to suppress growth of leukemic HL-60 cells (Hirano *et al.* 1994), whereas ENL inhibits the growth of prostate cancer cells (Lin *et al.* 2001, McCann *et al.* 2008). MAT, arctiin and trachelogenin, and most efficiently arctigenin, reduce viability in human gastric adenocarcinoma AGS cells (Kang *et al.* 2007), and wikstromol has demonstrated antileukemic properties (Lee *et al.* 1981). Additionally, ENL and END have been shown to reduce adhesion and the invasive potential of breast cancer cells (Chen & Thompson 2003).

Due to their phytoestrogenic nature, lignans have been extensively studied *in vivo* in hormone-responsive breast cancer models (reviewed by Saarinen *et al.* 2007). Recent studies have shown that lignans are indeed accessible to human breast cancer xenografts in athymic mice, but also display sex-related differences in tissue distribution (Saarinen *et al.* 2008, Saarinen & Thompson 2010). Dietary flax seed or purified SDG inhibit formation and growth of carcinogen-induced mammary tumors in rat (Thompson *et al.* 1996), while HMR can decrease the number of growing tumors and increase the proportion of regressing and stabilized tumors in the same experimental model (Saarinen *et al.* 2000). The enterolignans and their precursors lariciresinol, arctiin and sesamin have also been found to reduce mammary tumor multiplicity or growth *in vivo* (Saarinen *et al.* 2007). In contrast, NTG and tracheloside, both of which are lignans that are not converted to ENL or END, were not able to inhibit carcinogen-induced mammary tumorigenesis (Saarinen *et al.* 2002, Kitamura *et al.* 2003). Hence, breast cancer research on dietary lignans has become more focused on those compounds that can be metabolized to enterolignans with reported estrogen modulating activity (Saarinen *et al.* 2007).

Lignans have been reported to exert antitumorigenic effects also on other forms of cancer. Dietary HMR extract can inhibit the appearance of intestinal adenomas in the adenomatous polyposis colimultiple ApcMin mouse model for intestinal neoplasia (Oikarinen *et al.*)

2000), and is able to suppress the growth of hormone-dependent human prostate cancer xenografts in atymic mice (Bylund *et al.* 2005). Intraperitoneal administration of a plant extract containing wikstromol, MAT and dibenzylbutyrolactol inhibits the growth of intramuscular xenografts of Ehrlich ascites carcinoma and colon carcinoma cells in mice (Singh *et al.* 2007), whereas arctigenin and arctiin exhibited inhibitory effects on skin carcinogenesis as well as formation of pulmonary tumors (Takasaki *et al.* 2000).

Tumor metastasis has also been observed to reduce upon lignan exposure. HMR and ENL inhibited the growth and metastasis of subcutaneous hepatomas in rats (Miura et al. 2007), while SDG reduced pulmonary metastasis of injected murine melanoma cells (Li *et al.* 1999) and prevented lymph node and lung metastasis of ortotopical breast cancer xenografts in nude mice (Chen *et al.* 2006). Flax seed, lariciresinol, ENL and END were able to significantly decrease VEGF secretion and tumor microvessel density in human breast cancer xenografts or carcinogen-induced mammary tumors *in vivo* (Bergman Jungeström *et al.* 2007, Saarinen *et al.* 2008). This suggested inhibition of tumor angiogenesis might play a role in the antimetastatic activity of lignans.

The incidence of breast, colorectal and prostate cancer is higher in the Western world compared to countries in Asia, and dietary factors are likely to play an important role in risk of these malignancies (reviewed by Adlercreutz & Mazur 1997). As high levels of circulating estrogens have been associated with increased breast cancer risk (Hankinson & Eliassen 2007), modulation of estrogen bioactivity by lignans can be beneficial. Epidemiological studies concerning the association between plasma levels of ENL and risk of breast cancer have been conflicting, and the association might be different depending on whether premenopausal or postmenopausal women are studied (Pietinen et al. 2001, Hultén et al. 2002, McCann et al. 2002, Kilkkinen et al. 2004). A case-control study nested within a cohort of more than 15 000 Finnish females by Kilkkinen et al. (2004) did not support the hypothesis that high serum ENL concentration would be associated with reduced risk of breast cancer. Nevertheless, a recent meta-analysis of 23 individual studies revealed that plant lignan intake might be associated with a 15% reduction in postmenopausal breast cancer risk (Velentzis et al. 2009). Further studies are required to confirm the results of this analysis and to decipher whether ENL is protective against breast cancer, or simply a biomarker of a healthy fiber-rich diet. One aspect that is likely to have a significant impact on lignan intake is the use of oral antibiotics that decrease the intestinal microflora and thereby also serum ENL concentration (Kilkkinen et al. 2002).

Most epidemiological studies do not support linear correlation between serum enterolactone concentration and prostate cancer risk (Kilkkinen *et al.* 2003, Stattin *et al.* 2004, Hedelin *et al.* 2006, Park *et al.* 2009a). Only one case–control study found a 60% reduction in prostate cancer risk associated with a high concentration of serum ENL (Heald *et al.* 2007). The failure of other studies to detect similar correlations might be due to too low ENL plasma concentrations in the studied population (Park *et al.* 2009a). Interestingly, dietary flaxseed lignan extract can improve lower urinary tract symptoms in patients with benign prostate cancer formation or progression in men needs to be studied further before any definitive conclusions can be made.

3.1.2 Cellular effects of lignan activity

The reported molecular mechanisms for lignan-induced cellular effects are diverse and vary between cell types and lignan compounds assayed. Many lignans function as antioxidants preventing DNA damage induced by reactive oxygen species (ROS), which might be one of the general mechanisms behind the anticarcinogenic activity of lignans (Saleem *et al.* 2005). For example, MAT, NTG, SDG, SECO, ENL and END are all antioxidants *in vitro* (Kitts *et al.* 1999, Prasad 2000, Willför *et al.* 2003). Arctigenin treatment has been neuroprotective and hepatoprotective in primary cultures of rat cells possibly due to its antioxidative activity (Jang *et al.* 2001, Kim *et al.* 2003). Also hinokinin has significant antioxidative effects and the ability to reduce doxorubicin-induced chromosome damage in *in vivo* mouse model (Medola *et al.* 2007). However, the *in vivo* antioxidative effects of lignans require further investigation, as enhanced ENL plasma concentration in humans was not associated with reduced genetic damage in peripheral blood lymphocytes (Pool-Zobel *et al.* 2000).

Cancer cell proliferation relies on growth-stimulatory signaling pathways and lignans have been associated with suppression of several critical signaling pathways. HMR was shown to normalize deregulated signaling through the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway in the intestinal adenoma tissue of the ApcMin mice (Oikarinen et al. 2000). Also arctigenin inhibited growth of human colon cancer cells via inhibition of Wnt/β-catenin signaling (Yoo et al. 2010). Interestingly, a study by Sharma et al. (2008) suggests that treatment with a plant extract containing wikstromol, MAT and dibenzylbutyrolactol may also inhibit the Wnt/Wg pathway in the fruit fly. Arctigenin can inhibit LPS-induced activation of MAPKs including ERK1/2, p38 kinase and JNK, possibly through inhibition of the upstream MAPK kinase activity in murine macrophages (Cho et al. 2004). While arresting growth of hormone-responsive breast cancer xenografts, SDG inhibits MAPK activity and expression of growth factor receptors, IGF-IR and EGFR (Saggar et al. 2010). Lignans have also been shown to modulate the signaling via growth factor receptors and the PI3K/Akt pathway (Vasilcanu et al. 2004, Lee et al. 2009, Chen et al. 2009a). Furthermore, the NF-KB pathway for survival and inflammatory signaling can be suppressed by lignans, such as arctigenin and sesamin, as both compounds have been shown to inhibit IkB degradation and NF-kB-p65 nuclear translocation (Cho et al. 2002, Harikumar et al. 2010).

Induction of apoptotic cell death or sensitization to apoptosis-inducing signals can lead to the cytotoxic effects that lignans have been reported to produce. This might be accomplished by p53 stabilization, which in turn can induce cell cycle arrest and initiation of the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway (Chen *et al.* 2007, Fini *et al.* 2008). The unfolded protein response (UPR) in glucose-deprived conditions supports survival of cancer cells in stressful environment, whereas arctigenin is able to inhibit this response and to induce apoptosis through the mitochondrial pathway in colon cancer cells (Kim *et al.* 2010, Sun *et al.* 2010). Lignan compounds have been reported to downregulate the expression of the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins that counteract signals that promote mitochondrial permeabilization (Giridharan *et al.* 2002, Hausott *et al.* 2003, Saggar *et al.* 2010) and to reduce expression of c-FLIP, a protein which protects cells from the extrinsic death pathway (Raja *et al.* 2008), but also other molecular mechanims for enhanced induction of apoptosis are likely to be employed by lignans.

3.2 Mesoporous silica nanoparticles as targeted drug delivery vectors for cancer therapy

The efficacy of a drug compared to its toxicity to normal tissues, also termed the therapeutic index, is often a critical issue for cancer treatment, particularly when several different therapeutic agents are used in combination. To have a pharmacological response, clinicians generally have to administer far more drug molecules than would be needed if the drug was concentrated at the target site. Drug molecules may become degraded in the blood stream and tissues, and active detoxification can chemically modify the compound by conjugating reactions (reviewed by Meijerman *et al.* 2008). Another significant challenge in cancer therapy stems from the fact that many effective anticancer compounds are hydrophobic, and due to their poor solubility cannot be administrated properly in significant concentrations. More soluble derivatives from these compounds might be easier to administer, but can have problems to cross the plasma membrane to have the required effects in cells. Both increased therapeutic index and more efficient drug delivery can be accomplished by targeting the therapeutic agents specifically into cancer cells.

Nanoparticle carriers could meet many of the critical challenges in drug delivery (reviwed by Farokhzad & Langer 2009). Firstly, due to their small size (up to few hundred nanometers), nanoparticles can bypass biological barriers, be internalized by cells, and thereby allow efficient drug accumulation at the target sites. Secondly, sustained drug release at the target site can be obtained for a prolonged period of time to achieve optimal therapeutic efficacy. Thirdly, the particle surface can be engineered so that desired biodistribution occurs or conjugated to biospecific ligands, which direct them to the target tissues. Currently over twenty therapeutic products employing nanotechnology have been approved for clinical use, the majority of which improve the pharmaceutical efficacy or dosing of clinically approved drugs (Wagner *et al.* 2006). Research efforts are being placed on generating delivery systems that target drugs to specific tissues and cells of the body, including tumors.

Various different nanoparticles of both inorganic (ceramic) and organic (polymeric) materials have been developed for drug delivery purposes. Organic nanoparticles include poly(lactic acid) (PLA) and poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) polyester-based particles, polymeric micelles, liposomes, dendrimers and protein cages. Inorganic nanocarriers are made of materials, such as metal or metal oxides. The developed nanoparticle systems are different in terms of parameters, including the size and hydrophobicity of the particle core, particle size distribution, biocompatibility, charge, mechanical strength and stability. Surface coating of nanoparticles with polymers like poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) can create a 'stealth' layer that reduces protein adsorption as well as inhibits the particle from being recognized as foreign by the immune system (reviewed by Moghimi *et al.* 2001). Furthermore, the particle surface may be functionalized with specific targeting ligands or tracers, such as fluorophores for light microscopy and magnetic components for magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

3.2.1 Targeting strategies for specific delivery of nanoparticles to cancer cells

Nanoparticles have been observed to concentrate at the tumor site through the fenestrated and leaky blood vessels that are typical for tumor vasculature (Matsumura & Maeda 1986). Although this enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect allows passive

accumulation of optimally sized nanoparticles to the tumor, further targeting mechanisms may be needed for efficient and cancer-specific delivery of cytotoxic drugs (Figure 11). Such active targeting systems can be obtained by conjugation of nanocarriers with cancer-specific targeting ligands that enhance the internalization of the particles into the tumor cells, while accumulation to normal cells is minimized (Table 1.). Increased cellular uptake may further promote the passive targeting mechanisms, as the nanocarrier concentration at the tumor interstitial compartment becomes lower creating a stronger diffusion gradient across the vasculature (Paulos *et al.* 2004).



Figure 11. Passive and active targeting of nanoparticles. The EPR effect plays a major role in the passive accumulation of nanoparticles from the blood stream to the tumor site. Targeting ligands conjugated on the surface of the nanoparticle are recognized by cancer cell-specific receptors, which mediates the enhanced cellular uptake of the particles by endocytosis (magnification).

Indeed, tumor cells and tumor-associated endothelial cells have been shown to display cell surface receptors that are associated with the malignant phenotype, and which are rare or absent on the surfaces of healthy cells. Targeted delivery via these specific receptors may result in higher bioavailability of the therapeutic agent at the tumor site and simultaneously reduce the side effects (reviewed by Brannon-Peppas & Blanchette 2004). Cancer-targeting ligands that specifically bind to these surface receptors can be antibodies, antibody fragments (FAb), protein ligands, small molecular enzyme inhibitors, receptor agonists/antagonists, peptides, hormones, venoms, or DNA/RNA aptamers (Table 1.). The attached ligand must preserve the active conformation when conjugated to the nanoparticle, exhibit high affinity for the corresponding receptors and induce high rate of receptor-mediated endocytosis. In addition to the physicochemical properties of the nanoparticle system, the efficiency of cellular uptake depends on the surface expression level of the target receptor. High affinity peptides for designated tumor specific receptors can be identified for example by phage display screening (reviewed by Brown 2010). In addition to the ligands listed in Table 1, various peptides that bind to endothelial cells at angiogenic vasculature have been investigated as potential tumor-targeting moieties. These peptides have been reported to specifically bind the platelet-derived growth factor receptor β (Joyce *et al.* 2003), the angiopoietin receptor Tie2 (Mai *et al.* 2009) or adhesion molecules, such as E-selektin (Shamay et al. 2009) and integrins (Arap et al. 1998, Hood et

al. 2002). For many other peptides with tumor specific affinity the receptors remain to be identified (Brown *et al.* 2010). Some ligands have been investigated for targeted drug delivery to intracellular organs, such as the nucleus and the mitochondria. For example, the nuclear localization signal (NLS) has been coated onto gold nanoparticles (Tkachenko *et al.* 2003).

Targeting ligand	Receptor	Nanocarrier	Reference
Monoclonal antibodies			
HER2/Neu mAb	ErbB2	Liposome	Nielsen et al. 2002
Proteins			
Epidermal growth factor (EGF)	EGFR	Peptide-lipid nanocarrier	Zhang et al. 2010
Transferrin	Transferrin receptor	Liposome	Ishida et al. 2001
Peptides			
Fibronectin mimetic peptide	α5β1 Integrin	Liposome	Garg et al. 2009
Urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) peptide	uPA receptor	Iron oxide	Yang <i>et al.</i> 2009
SDFa derived peptides	CXCR4	-	Egorova et al. 2009
Chlorotoxin	Matrix metalloproteinase-2	Iron oxide	Veiseh et al. 2009
Glucose-regulated protein- 78 kDa (GRP-78) targeted peptide	GRP-78	Hybrid polymer	Wood <i>et al.</i> 2008
Nucleic acids			
RNA aptamer A10	Prostate-specific membrane antigen	PLGA-b-PEG copolymer	Farokhzad et al. 2006
DNA aptamer sgc8	-	MSN	Zhu et al. 2009
Small molecules			
Folic acid (FA)	FA receptor, FA carrier	Liposome	Goren <i>et al.</i> 2000
Riboflavin (RF)	RF binding protein, RF carrier, RF transporter	Dendrimer	Thomas et al. 2010
Testosterone	Androgen receptor	Liposome	Mishra et al. 2009
Galactose	asialoglycoprotein receptors	Solid lipid nanoparticles	Xu et al. 2009
Anisamide	Sigma receptor	Liposome	Banerjee et al. 2004

Table 1. Examples of cancer cell targeting ligands.

3.2.2 Cellular uptake mechanisms and intracellular transport of nanoparticles

Both non-specific and receptor-mediated cellular uptake mechanisms function in nanoparticle internalization (Figure 12). The physicochemical properties of the particle play an important role in the process, but for ligand-targeted particles also the receptor in question determines, which endocytic pathway is utilized. Internalization of engineered nanoparticles occurs via pathways that are employed by cells to take up extracellular material, but also viruses use these gateways to enter cells (reviewed by Mercer *et al.* 2010). In addition to being internalized by the cells of the target tissue, nanoparticles are often recognized as foreign objects in the blood stream and taken up by the professional

phagocytes of the reticuloendothelial system (RES) (reviewed by Dobrovolskaia & McNeil 2007). These immune cells reside in the liver and spleen, where nanoparticles may accumulate in case particle opsonization by immunoglobulins, complement and other serum proteins occurs in the bloodstream. Whether or not opsonization and subsequent phagocytosis are induced, depends mostly on the size of the particle as well as the stealth properties of the particle surface (reviewed by Hillaireau & Couvreur 2009). Drug delivery to RES organs can also be preferential, for example in the case of hepatocarcinoma or liver metastasis (Hillaireau & Couvreur 2009). However, in most cases avoidance of phagocytosis is considered desirable. Targeting-ligands have been observed to inhibit RES phagocytosis (reviewed by Wang & Thanou 2010), but too high coverage of the particle with the ligand should be avoided, as this might reduce the stealth properties and increase clearance by RES (Gu *et al.* 2008, Shmeeda *et al.* 2009).



Figure 12. Endocytosis and intracellular trafficking of nanoparticles. Nanoparticles can be internalized via various routes, including macropinocytosis (red), clathrin-mediated endocytosis (black) and caveolar/raft-dependent endocytosis (blue). Vesicles containing the particles fuse with the endosomes characterized by gradually decreasing pH as the particles travel towards lysosomal compartment. The endosomal pathway from caveolar/raft-dependent endocytosis is directed to endoplasmic reticulum (ER) instead of leading to the acidic environment of the endolysosomes. RE, recycling endosomes; EE, early endosomes; ME, maturing endosomes; LE, late endosome; TGN, trans-golgi network. Adapted from (Mercer *et al.* 2010).

Clathrin-mediated endocytosis (CME) is a process that is taking place in all mammalian cells (reviewed by Conner & Schmid 2003). It is involved in nutrient uptake and intracellular communication, but also in uptake of nanocarriers (Hillaireau & Couvreur 2009). The pathway comprises the assembly of clathrin-coated pits that develop into deep invaginations and the fission of the vesicles by dynamin GTPase activity (Conner & Schmid 2003) (Figure 12). The clathrin-coated vesicles will thereafter become uncoated and deliver the contents into the endosomal compartment. The mildly acidified (pH~6)

"early" and "maturing" endosomes will transform into "late" endosomes also known as multivesicular bodies (pH~5), that subsequently fuse with prelysosomal vesicles containing acid hydrolases. Thus, CME causes the endocytosed material to end up in the degradative conditions in the lysomes, which can be utilized as a drug release mechanism in the cell interior (Hillaireau & Couvreur 2009). An alternative pathway from early endosomes leads to recycling endosomes and back to the plasma membrane after dissociation of the ligands forms their receptors.

The caveolar/raft-dependent endocytosis pathway occurs in membrane invaginations enriched in caveolin, cholesterol and/or sphingolipids (Conner & Schmid 2003) (Figure 12). Dynamin is required also for the generation of cytosolic caveolar vesicles that join the endosomal pathway. However, instead of being acidified in endolysosomes, the cargo from this uptake pathway is typically directed to endoplasmic reticulum. The caveolar/raftdependent endocytosis occurs at slower rate than CME and involves more complex signaling and regulatory mechanisms. For delivery of pH-sensitive molecules, such as nucleic acids, proteins or peptides, which cannot tolerate the lysosomal environment, targeting via the caveolar/raft-dependent endocytosis pathway may turn out advantageous (Hillaireau & Couvreur 2009). Also macropinocytosis as well as clathrin- and caveolinindependent endocytic pathways have been described as means of nanoparticle uptake (Hillaireau & Couvreur 2009). Nanoparticle size has been shown to influence the mode of endocytosis. Particles with diameter less than 200 nm were found to internalize via CME, whereas the larger particles (500 nm) might favor the caveolar/raft-dependent pathway (Rejman et al. 2003). Again, the surface properties play a major role in determining how effectively particle uptake occurs. Because of the negatively charged cell plasma membrane, nanocarriers with positive surface charge generally demonstrate increased adherence and internalization (Harush-Frenkel et al. 2007). It should be noted that multiple endocytic pathways might be simultaneously functional in nanoparticle internalization.

Nanoparticle systems can be made multifunctional by combining cell-specific targeting ligands with other features that allow for more efficient internalization into cancer cells, escape from the endosomal compartment and even organelle targeting. This can be accomplished for example through pH-sensitive systems that enable new features to emerge on the particle surface in acidic environment of the endo/lysosomes (Lee et al. 2005). Furthermore, the shape of the particle may influence intracellular compartmentalization, which could be exploited in organelle targeting (Xu et al. 2008). It is important that the nanocarrier or at least its cargo makes a successful escape from the endosomal compartment into the cytoplasm or nucleus, where the drug targets typically reside. Molecules that respond to the pH lowering, such as poly(ethylene imine) (PEI), can be used for destabilization of endosomes (reviewed by Demeneix et al. 2004). PEI has been reported to function as a 'proton-sponge' because of its the high buffering capacity that upon decrease of the pH causes PEI to become highly protonated (Boussif *et al.* 1995). This leads to osmotic swelling due to water entry into the vesicle and finally disruption of the vesicle, allowing the release of endosomal content to the cytoplasm. Another suggested mechanism for PEI-induced endosomal escape involves swelling of the polymer network due to increasing repulsion of the protonated groups (Demeneix et al. 2004).

3.2.3 Mesoporous silica nanoparticles as cancer drug delivery vectors

Inorganic nanoparticles based on silica have been receiving increasing attention as sufficiently stable vehicles for drug delivery (reviewed by Tan *et al.* 2004). As an inherent component of cells, silica is non-toxic, biocompatible, becomes degraded in biological systems and ultimately gets excreted in urine. Preparation of porous silica nanoparticles by the sol-gel method allows control of the particle and pore size on a nanometric scale. Co-condensation approach enables covalent incorporation of functional groups to the pore walls during particle synthesis and subsequently facilitates further funtionalization with molecules, like fluorophores and bioactive ligands (reviewed by Rosenholm *et al.* 2010). Mesoporous silica nanoparticles (MSNs) have pore sizes in the molecular size range (typically 2-10nm), high pore volume and surface area, 0.6-1cm³/g and 700–1000 m²/g respectively, which permits efficient accommodation of small molecules (Rosenholm *et al.* 2010). Drug-loading capacities of up to 30 w% has been reported for mesoporous silica (Vallet-Regi *et al.* 2001). MSN loading with drug molecules can reduce the access of water into the pores, and thereby increase the hydrolytic stability of initially well-soluble particles (Andersson *et al.* 2004).

Introducing organic functions, such as the amino groups of PEI, on the MSN surface can significantly reduce particle aggregation that might pose a threat in biological applications (Rosenholm *et al.* 2006). Also avoiding serum protein adsorption to the particle surface is important, as this could lead to decreased targeting of the particles and increase the clearance of the particles from circulation by RES. Covering the particles with optimized PEG layer can create a 'shield' around the particle inhibiting adsorption of serum proteins (He *et al.* 2010). Furthermore, MSNs have been conjugated to cancer specific targeting-ligands, such as folic acid (Slowing *et al.* 2006, Gu *et al.* 2007, Liong *et al.* 2008), DNA aptamers (Zhu *et al.* 2009), sugar moieties (Gu *et al.* 2007, Park *et al.* 2008, Brevet *et al.* 2009) and HER2/Neu antibodies (Tsai *et al.* 2009).

The rate of MSN degradation in a biological setting needs to be carefully engineered to meet the needs of effective drug delivery. The hydrolytic stability of MSNs determines the ability of the particle to endure until it reaches the target site from the blood circulation and the rate of degradation in the intracellular compartment. Optimization of such particle behavior is complicated by the fact that intracellular and extracellular decomposition kinetics are likely to be different. For *in vivo* targeting of MSNs also the particle size, charge and polarity of the particle coating (stealth layer) are important parameters (Rosenholm *et al.* 2010). For example, the size of the nanoparticle is critical for permeability through biological membranes, but also influences internalization by target cells and the phagocytes of the RES (Hillaireau & Couvreur 2009). In the case of MSNs, particle diameter between 50-200 nm is considered suitable for cellular targeting *in vivo*, as particles larger than 200 nm cannot easily cross biological membranes, whereas smaller mesoporous particles are difficult to synthesize (Rosenholm *et al.* 2010).

Loading of the cargo drug into MSNs can be done by adsorption from organic solvent or pH-matched aqueous solvent (Rosenholm & Lindén 2008). Drug molecules can also be covalently linked to the functional groups of the pore walls of the MSNs (Tournée-Péeteilh *et al.* 2003). In this case, the drug molecule must be able to reacquire the active conformation upon release from the MSN. MSNs have been employed for intracellular delivery of hydrophobic anticancer agents, such as camptothecin (Lu *et al.* 2007a, Liong *et al.* 2008) and paclitaxel (Lu *et al.* 2007b, Xia *et al.* 2009, Vivero-Escoto *et al.* 2009), as

well as the hydrophilic cancer drug doxorubicin (Chen *et al.* 2009b, Zhu *et al.* 2009). Other membrane-impermeable agents, including propidium iodide (Lu *et al.* 2008), calcein (Liu *et al.* 2009), cytochrome c (Slowing *et al.* 2007) and nucleic acids (Radu *et al.* 2004, Park *et al.* 2008, Xia *et al.* 2009, Torney *et al.* 2007, Zhu *et al.* 2009) have been loaded in MSNs and delivered into cultured cancer cells. The high drug-loading capacity of MSNs could also allow multidrug delivery (Chen *et al.* 2009b), which is the likely scenario for successful cancer treatment.

An optimal drug delivery system releases the cargo in the right concentration at the target site within a predetermined amount of time. Although drug release rates can be easily measured in test tube conditions, the actual biological effect is the most important readout of successful drug delivery and release. Depending on the delivered substance, the outcome can vary from inhibited kinase activity or cell proliferation to induced gene expression, gene silencing or programmed cell death. MSNs allow versatile design of gate-keeping functions for minimal premature drug release and controlled release at the target site. The release of the drug from its carrier may be designed to occur in response to specific exogenous cues, such as heat or magnetic field (reviewed by Cotí *et al.* 2009). Alternatively, the nanoparticle can be engineered to disassemble in the intracellular milieu, where differences in pH, redox state and enzymatic activity may activate the releasing mechanism (Cotí *et al.* 2009). The gate-keeping properties at the particle surface are in a key role regulating the release dynamics.

AIMS OF THE STUDY

The aim of this thesis work was to discover and validate new methods for cancer cellspecific apoptosis induction. Previous studies in the laboratory had addressed the mechanisms of death receptor-mediated apoptosis and the role of kinases as regulators of death receptor signaling. I aimed at finding novel combinatorial approaches to sensitize resistant cancer cells to death ligand stimulation and apoptosis. Prior to the work described in this thesis, relatively little was known about cellular activities mediating the anticancer effects that had been attributed to lignan polyphenols. The goal of my study was to examine if lignans could be employed to sensitize androgen-dependent prostate cancer cells to TRAIL, a death ligand that has been reported to initiate tumor-specific apoptosis. During this work it became evident that lignans are powerful sensitizers to death receptormediated apoptosis, and my further studies focused on elucidating the cellular mechanisms and molecular determinants of lignan structure that bring about the observed effects, the latter being conducted in collaboration with the Department of Organic Chemistry in Åbo Akademi University.

Furthermore, I aimed at testing a novel nanoparticle drug carrier system under *in vitro* conditions for cancer cell targeting. A laboratory at the Department of Physical Chemistry in Åbo Akademi University had previously developed this drug delivery system with several advantages over conventional nanoparticle systems. The goal of this thesis work was to demonstrate cancer cell-specific nanoparticle internalization, drug delivery and apoptosis induction by the functionalized mesoporous hybrid silica nanoparticles.

Briefly, the aims of this thesis were

1) To investigate lignans as sensitizers for TRAIL-induced apoptosis in androgendependent prostate cancer cells

2) To test if mesoporous hybrid silica nanoparticles could be employed in development of targeted cancer therapies.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

1. Cell culture (I-V)

HeLa cervical carcinoma cells and human embryonic kidney (HEK) 293 cells were purchased from ATCC and cultured on 12-well plates in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (Sigma) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (BioClear), 2 mM L-glutamin, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/mL streptomycin in 37°C, 5% CO2. The LNCaP prostate cancer cells (clone FGC; EACC) were cultured in RPMI-1640 medium (Sigma) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (BioClear), 2 mM L-glutamin, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin and 1mM sodium pyruvate (Sigma). As the androgendependence of LNCaP cells can be maintained when the passage number is restricted, we cultivated the cells only up to 20 passages. Before growth factor stimulation, the cells were serum-starved (1 % serum) overnight. When the role of androgen-stimulation was investigated, the medium was changed to phenol red free RPMI-1640 (Gibco) with or without 1 nM synthetic androgen (Mibolerone) one day before the experiment. This medium was supplemented with 10% charcoal/dextran treated fetal bovine serum (Hyclone), L-glutamine, penicillin and streptomycin. SV40 transformed prostate epithelial RWPE-1 cell line was kindly provided by Professor Olli Kallioniemi. RWPE-1 cells were cultivated in Keratinocyte medium (Gibco) with 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin, 1% fetal calf serum (BioClear), 5 ng/ml human recombinant epidermal growth factor (EGF; Gibco) and 50 µg/ml Bovine Pituitary Extract (Gibco).

2. Reagents and treatments (I-II, IV)

Lignan synthesis was performed at the Department of Organic chemistry, Åbo Akademi University. A 100 mM stock solution of each lignan compound was prepared in EtOH or DMSO and stored at +4°C or room temperature. The cells were treated with 0–100 μ M lignans or solvent control for indicated times. Human recombinant isoleucin-zipper TRAIL (izTRAIL; kindly provided by Professor Henning Walczak) was used at 0–1 μ g/ml with incubation time of 20 hours. Alternatively, doxorubicin (Sigma) was used at 0.2–1 μ M for 20 h. Insulin receptor (IR) and IGF-IR were stimulated with 10 nM IGF-1 (Millipore) or 10 nM insulin (Sigma) for 10 minutes. EGFR activation was performed with 20 ng/ml EGF for 5 minutes (a kind gift from Professor Klaus Elenius laboratory). Treatment with 1 μ M staurosporine for 24 h was used as a positive control in an apoptosis assay. Inhibition of actin polymerization was done by pretreating the cells with 10 μ M cytochalasin D (CytD) for 30 min and incubating in 5 μ M CytD during nanoparticle uptake. Dose-response to methotrexate (MTX) was measured after treatment with 0.2 ng–2 μ g/ml MTX for 72 h.

3. Particle synthesis (III-IV)

Fluorescent MSNs with diameter of approximately 400 nm were synthesized according to the procedure described by Nakamura et al. (2007), but with the thiol-silane replaced by 3-aminopropyltrimethoxysilane together with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) in order to create inherently fluorescent particles. Functionalization of the particles was performed as explained by Rosenholm et al. (2006) and Rosenholm & Lindén (2007). Folic acid (FA) conjugation was performed according to standard bioconjugation protocols leading to 0.2 or 2 weight percent (wt %) of FA or methotrexate (MTX) on the particle. The 2 wt% MTX conjugation in 1 μ g/ml particle concentration and the 0.2 wt% MTX conjugation in 10

 μ g/ml particle concentration corresponded approximately to 20 ng/ml free MTX. DiI (1,1'dioctadecyl-3,3,3',3'-tetramethindocarbocyanine perchlorate) or DiO (3,3-dioctadecyloxacarbocyanine perchlorate) dissolved in cyclohexane were loaded to 1 wt % in the MSNs. After vacuum drying overnight to remove any excess solvent, the particles were washed in a HEPES buffer solution (25 mM, pH 7.2). All particles were resuspended in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) or HEPES buffer at a concentration of 1 mg/ml.

4. Particle preparation, application to cells and detection of intracellular particles by flow cytometry (III-V)

FITC-, FITC/PEI-, FITC/PEI/FA- or FITC/PEI/MTX-functionalized MSNs with or without DiI/DiO loading were suspended in growth medium at a concentration of 1-10 μ g/mL. After 20–30 min of sonication in a water bath, the medium with particles or control medium was added to the 50-70% confluent cells and incubated for 3-72 h at 37°C depending on the experimental setup. The cells were cultured in folate-free RPMI medium (Gibco) with supplements for 24 h before incubation with MTX-functionalized nanoparticles or the FA-functionalized reference particles. For FA competition experiments, the cells were cultured overnight with 0-3 mM FA (Sigma) prior to addition of the particles. After incubation with MSNs, the cells were trypsinized and the extracellular fluorescence was quenched by resuspension in trypan blue (200 mg/ml; Fluka) for 5–10 min at room temperature. The cells were washed once and resuspended in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Intracellular FITC fluorescence was used as a measure of the number of endocytosed particles inside the cells, and it was analyzed by using a FacsCalibur or an LSRII flow cytometer (BD Pharmingen). The MFI of the cells at the FITC channel (FL-1 or FITC-A) was measured, and the data were analyzed with BD FacsDiva, Cyflogic and Flowing softwares. The fraction of cells with fluorescent particles was gated above the background fluorescence.

5. Assessment of apoptotic cell death (I-III,V)

5.1 Mitochondrial depolarization (I-II)

Tetramethyl Rhodamine Methyl Ester (TMRM; Invitrogen) was stored as 20 mM DMSO stock and diluted in medium prior to use. Floating and trypsinized cells were incubated in 20 nM TMRM for 10 min in 37°C waterbath. The cells were placed on ice and analysed immediately by FACSCalibur flow cytometer (FSC; FL-2 channel). When the labeling was done in a 96-well format, the plate was centrifuged with a culture plate rotor (1000 rpm, 3 minutes), the cells were trypsinized and prewarmed medium containing 20 nM TMRM was incubated with the cells for 10 minutes. The plate was analyzed with LSRII flow cytometer equipped with HTS platform (FSC, PE-A channel). The cells dsiplaying decreased labeling with TMRM that accumulates into active mitochondria, were considered to have undergone mitochondrial membrane depolarization.

5.2 Caspase-3 activation (I-II)

Activated caspase-3 in cells was labeled with phycerythrin (PE)-conjugated antibody according to manufacturer's protocol (BD Pharmingen). Briefly, the floating and attached cells were collected by trypsinization, and placed on ice. After washing once with cold PBS the cells were fixed in Fix/Perm buffer for 20 minutes on ice. The cells were subsequently washed twice with Perm/Wash buffer and resuspended to the same buffer containing 10 μ l antibody. After 30 minutes incubation at room temperature, the cells were washed and resuspended to Perm/Wash buffer. The samples were analyzed by FacsCalibur

flow cytometry (FL-2, FSC channel). Cells with high PE labeling were considered apoptotic cells with activated caspase-3. For flow cytometric analysis of transfected LNCaP cells, GFP-positive cells were gated (FL-1) and measured for caspase-3 activation (FL-2).

5.3 Nuclear fragmentation (I-III,V)

The cells were collected by trypsinization and resuspended in propidium iodide (PI) buffer (40mM Na citrate, 0.3% Triton X-100, 50 mg/ml PI; Sigma). After 10 min of incubation at room temperature the samples were analyzed for nuclear fragmentation with a FacsCalibur flow cytometer (FL-2, BD Pharmingen). When the cells were grown on 96-well plates, the culture plate was centrifuged with a culture plate rotor (1000rpm, 3 minutes), and PI buffer was added to the wells. After 10 minutes incubation at room temperature, the plate was analyzed with LSRII flow cytometer equipped with HTS platform (PE-A channel). The fraction of sub-G0/G1 events (nuclear fragmentation) was gated as a measure of apoptotic cell death.

5.3 Nuclear morphology (I,III-V)

For examination of nuclear fragmentation, the cells were collected, washed once in PBS and fixed for 15 minutes in 3% paraformaldehyde at room temperature. Cytospin (Thermo Shandon) preparations were made and mounted in 40,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) Vectashield (Vector Laboratories). The nuclei were viewed with Leica DMRE fluorescence microscope (40x objective) and the images collected with Wasabi (1.4) software (I, Figure 2C). Alternatively, when nanoparticles were applied to cells, the samples were fixed on glass-bottom culture plates (MatTek Corp), labeled with DAPI Vectashield and viewed by using Zeiss LSM 510 META laser-scanning confocal microscope (40x or 63x oil objective, 405/488 nm excitation) (III-V).

6. Plasmid construction and transfection (I)

The coding sequence for a constitutively active gag-Akt (kindly provided by Julian Downward) was amplified from the pSG5-PKBGAG vector by PCR and cloned in-frame into pEGFP-N1 vector (Clontech) in EcoRI and KpnI sites. LNCaP cells were seeded on 24-well plates and grown to 30–50% confluency. The JetPEITM transfection complexes (PolyPlus-transfection) were prepared and transfected according to the manufacturer's protocol. Empty pEGFP-N1 vector was transfected to control cells. The culture medium was replaced by medium with or without androgen 24 h post-transfection, and the cells were cultured for further 24 hours.

7. Insulin receptor and IGF-I receptor immunoprecipitation (II)

The LNCaP cells cultured on 10ml plates were placed on ice, rinsed with cold PBS and lysed in 1 ml of cold lysis buffer (50 mM Tris pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1.25% CHAPS, 1 mM Na3OV4, 2 mM NaF, 10 mM sodium pyrophosphate and complete protease inhibitor cocktail [Roche Applied Science]) for 10 minutes. After centrifugation at 15 000 x g for 10 minutes, the supernatant was collected and subjected to preclearing with Protein A sepharose beads (Sigma) and Protein G sepharose beads (Amersham Biosciences) for 1 hour at +4°C. After preclearing, the lysate sample was collected and rest of the sample was divided in two for immunoprecipitation with 5 μ g anti-Insulin receptor β or 5 μ g anti-IGF-I receptor β antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology). After overnight incubation at +4°C, Protein A and Protein G sepharose beads were added to samples and

incubated for 4 hours. The beads were washed 4 times with lysis buffer, resuspended to 50 μ l of Laemmli sample buffer (LSB) and boiled for 10 minutes.

8. DISC-immunoprecipitation (I)

To stimulate TRAIL receptors LNCaP cells were detached, pelleted by centrifugation and resuspended in 1 ml of the collected medium. Thereafter 1 μ g izTRAIL was added to the cell suspension. The cells were incubated at 37 °C for 15–60 minutes after which the reaction was stopped by adding 10 ml of ice-cold PBS. Control cells were incubated without TRAIL at 37 °C for 60 min. After washing, the cells were lysed in 1 ml of lysis buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 10% glycerol, 0.2% Nonidet P40, and Complete protease inhibitor mixture [Roche Applied Science]) for 30 min on ice. The cell debris was removed by centrifugation at 15 000 x g for 15 min at 4 °C. Equal amount of protein from each sample was precleared with Sepharose CL-4B for 1,5 h at 4 °C. Monoclonal anti-DR4 (Clone HS101; Alexis) and anti-DR5 (Clone HS201, Alexis) were added 2.5 μ g each to the samples and immunoprecipitated with 15 μ l of protein G beads (Amersham Biosciences) for 2.5 h at 4 °C. The beads were washed 6 times with lysis buffer, resuspended in LSB, and finally boiled for 5 minutes.

9. Western blotting (I-II)

Whole cell lysates were prepared by lysing floating and attached cells in LSB and boiling the samples for 10 minutes after which proteins were separated with sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS)-PAGE. The DISC-immunoprecipitated samples and corresponding cell lysates (input) were analyzed by 10% Criterion SDS-PAGE (BioRad). The proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose (Schleicher & Schuell) or PVDF membrane (Millipore), which was then blocked with 5% non-fat milk or 5% bovine serum albumin. Western blotting was performed using antibodies against Akt, phospho(Ser473)-Akt, Bid, Bax, Bim, GSK-3B, phospho(Ser9)-GSK-3B and phospho-Tyr(1068) EGF receptor (Cell Signalling Technology), Bcl-xL, DR5, EGF receptor, Insulin receptor ß and IGF-I receptor ß (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), FADD (Transduction Laboratories), poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP, clone C-2-10; Sigma-Aldrich), Actin (clone AC-40; Sigma-Aldrich), caspase-8 (clone C15; Alexis) and c-FLIP (clone NF6; Alexis), PI3K p85α (clone 4/PI3-Kinase; BD Pharmingen) and phospho-tyrosine (clone 4G10; Millipore). HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies were from Southern Biotechnology Associates, Promega, and Amersham Biosciences. The results were visualized using the enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) method (Amersham Biosciences) on x-ray film. For densitometric analysis of Western blots, the x-ray films were scanned and the analysis was done with the MCID M5+ software. The values were normalized to the untreated control sample, which was given the value 1. The histograms present a relative change in ratio of phosphorylated vs. non-phosphorylated protein in treated samples as compared to control samples.

10. Receptor surface expression (I,III)

Surface expression of TRAIL receptors was evaluated by indirect immunostaining using the anti-DR4 (clone HS101), anti-DR5 (clone HS201), anti-DcR1 (clone HS301) and anti-DcR2 (clone HS402) primary antibodies (5 μ g/ml). Surface expression of the folate receptor was detected by labeling with anti-folate receptor α primary antibody (2 μ g/ml, clone Mov18/ZEL, Alexis). Alexa 488 -conjugated anti-mouse secondary antibody (Alexis Biochemicals) was used for labeling of all primary antibodies. Nonspecific fluorescence was assessed using the secondary antibody only. Flow cytometric analyses of the mean

fluorescence intensity (MFI) were performed using a FACSCalibur (FL-1) or an LSRII flow cytometer (FITC-A).

11. Immunofluorescence (II)

After treatments, the cells cultured on coverslips were washed with PBS and fixed with 3% paraformaldehyde for 15 minutes at room temperature. The samples were permeabilized and blocked for one hour in 3% BSA 0.1% Tween in PBS. Akt was labeled with rabbit anti-Akt antibody (Cell signaling) and Alexa 546 -conjugated anti-rabbit secondary antibody (Molecular Probes). After washing with PBS, the samples were mounted with DAPI Vectashield (Vector Laboratories) and viewed by Zeiss LSM 510 META laser-scanning confocal microscope (63x oil objective, 543 nm excitation).

12. Live cell microscopy (II-V)

For microscopic assessment of nanoparticle endocytosis, cells were plated on glassbottomed culture dishes (MatTek Corp). In some studies, the cells were labeled with 20 μ M CMAC CellTracker (Invitrogen) or 5 μ M CellTracker Red (Invitrogen) in medium without additives for 30 min, after which the medium was replaced with normal culture medium. For assessment of lysosomal compartmentalization of particles, the cells were labeled with Lysotracker Red (Molecular Probes) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cells were incubated with nanoparticles (10 μ g/ml) for up to 72 h and viewed with Leica DM Ibre inverted fluorescence microscope (16x, 20x objective) or Zeiss LSM 510 META laser-scanning confocal microscope (63x oil objective, 543 nm excitation) at indicated time points.

13. Statistical analysis (I-II)

The statistical significance of differences in the data were calculated with a two-way Student's t-test by using the GraphPad Prism software. The p-value < 0.05 was considered to indicate significant differences. The graphs in the figures represent mean values±standard error of mean (SEM) and numbers of independent experiments is indicated in the figure legends.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

1. SENSITIZATION OF PROSTATE CANCER CELLS TO TRAIL-INDUCED APOPTOSIS BY LIGNANS

1.1 Dibenzylbutyrolactone lignans enhance the death receptor-mediated apoptosis pathway in androgen-dependent prostate cancer cells (I)

Activation of death receptor-mediated apoptosis by TRAIL has been shown to play an important role in immune surveillance against tumors *in vivo* (reviewed by Gonzalvez & Ashkenazi 2010). Because TRAIL is able to induce apoptosis selectively in cancer cells, different forms of TRAIL receptor agonists are investigated in clinical trials. However, TRAIL resistance has been reported in many primary tumors and combinatorial treatment approaches will be needed for successful TRAIL-based anticancer treatment. The initial aim of the study was to discover new combinatorial treatments that would be non-toxic *per se*, but able to selectively promote TRAIL-induced apoptosis in prostate cancer. Lignans had previously been reported to inhibit growth of prostate cancer cells (Lin et al. 2001), induce anticancer effects in prostate cancer (Bylund *et al.* 2005), and potentially reduce the risk of prostate cancer in humans (Heald *et al.* 2007). As these compounds have been extensively studied at the Department of Organic chemistry at Åbo Akademi University, we began to examine the possibilities to employ lignans as sensitizers to TRAIL.

The group of polyphenols, termed lignans, comprises compounds that are structurally very different from each other, and the existing information about the effects of lignans at the cellular level also reflects this variability. When this thesis project was initiated, the lignans arctigenin, SDG, SECO, ENL and END had been demonstrated to induce antioxidative effects in cultured cells (Prasad 2000, Jang et al. 2001, Kim et al. 2003), and some lignans, such as arctigenin, HMR and picropodophyllin had been investigated for their role in cellular signaling (Oikarinen et al. 2000, Cho et al. 2002, Cho et al. 2004, Vasilcanu et al. 2004). These studies showed that lignans are able to inhibit various important survival signaling pathways, including the Wnt/ β -catenin, NF- κ B, MAPK and PI3K pathways. Later ENL was shown to inhibit Akt signaling and to induce p53 stabilization, cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in prostate cancer cells (Chen et al. 2007). As the mechanisms of lignan activity in cells had been investigated mainly with single compounds or with extracts of several lignan components, the understanding the structure-activity relationship of lignan effects in cells was poor. Thus, more systematic approach was taken in order to elucidate the effects of lignans in prostate cancer cells, and the focus of the study was placed on dibenzylbutyrolactone (DBL) lignans, like the mammalian lignan ENL, and their derivatives (Figure 13).

The androgen-dependent LNCaP cell line that was used as a prostate cancer model in this thesis originates from a lymph node metastasis of human prostatic adenocarcinoma (Horoszewicz *et al.* 1983). A single point mutation in the ligand-binding domain of the androgen receptor (AR) broadens the steroid binding specificity of the AR expressed in LNCaP cells (Veldscholte *et al.* 1992). The model systems for human prostate cancer contain around 20 established cell lines and derivate sublines, only minority of which display androgen-sensitivity (reviewed by Russell & Kingsley 2003). The androgen-

dependent cell lines can be employed for developing new therapeutic strategies to eradicate locally advanced prostate cancer that is currently treated by ADT. In our studies, the LNCaP cells were grown the presence or absence of androgen in order to study the effects of androgen-deprivation in combination with the new treatment protocol. Unlike the commonly studied androgen-independent prostate cancer cell lines, PC3 and DU-145, LNCaP cells are resistant to TRAIL-induced apoptosis (Nesterov *et al.* 2001, Bucur *et al.* 2006), even though they express the TRAIL receptors DR4 and DR5 as well as only low levels of the decoy receptor DcR2 on the cell surface (I, Figure 3A). Like various other prostate cancer cells, the LNCaP cells have lost the tumor suppressing function of PTEN that negatively regulates PI3K activity (Li *et al.* 1997, Vlietstra *et al.* 1998). This feature of LNCaP cells is linked to the mechanisms of TRAIL-resistance, which have been been shown depend on the constitutive Akt activity downstream of PI3K and to result from impaired Bid cleavage upon TRAIL-stimulation leading to less efficient mitochondrial amplification of the signal (Chen *et al.* 2001b, Nesterov *et al.* 2001).



Figure 13. Molecular structures of 7-hydroxymatairesinol, enterolactone and matairesinol.

To examine if lignans can sensitize LNCaP cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis, we first tested three lignans, the mammalian lignan ENL and two plant lignans, MAT and HMR, which can be converted to mammalian lignans by the gut microflora. All three compounds were non-toxic at the tested concentrations, whereas only MAT was found to be efficient in sensitization of the cells to TRAIL (I, Figure 1B and 2A). When the LNCaP cells were pretreated with 0-100 µM MAT for 1 hour prior to addition of trimeric human recombinant izTRAIL for 20 hours, both the androgen-deprived and -stimulated LNCaP cells became significantly sensitized to izTRAIL-induced apoptosis in a dose-dependent manner (I, Figure 2AB). When 40 µM MAT was combined to izTRAIL treatment, much lower izTRAIL concentrations were able to induce caspase-3 activation and the maximum percentage of apoptotic cells was clearly higher. The observed sensitization was more pronounced in the androgen-deprived LNCaP cells suggesting that androgen is able to promote the mechanisms of TRAIL resistance, and combination of ADT to lignan and TRAIL treatment could be considered as an attractive therapeutic approach (I, Figure 2B). MAT pretreatment did not increase apoptotic cell death of LNCaP cells in response to doxorubicin, a commonly used chemotherapeutic agent that activates mitochondrial apoptosis pathway primarily by inhibition of topoisomerase II enzyme (I, Figure 2D). These results imply that lignans can have synergistic effects with the TRAIL-induced extrinsic apoptosis pathway, whereas the cytotoxic action of agents that promote the intrinsic mitochondrial pathway is probably not equally enhanced.

The rate of apoptosis in TRAIL-sensitive PC3 prostate cancer cells was not significantly enhanced by identical MAT pretreatment (I, Supplementary Figure 3), and longer MAT pretreatment (24 h) augmented TRAIL-induced apoptosis only to some extent in TRAIL-sensitive leukemic Jurkat T cells and HeLa cervical carcinoma cells (I, Supplementary Figure 1). No further increase in the TRAIL treatment efficacy could therefore be seen in already TRAIL-sensitive cells. However, both ENL and MAT were capable of sensitizing HeLa cells to CD95-induced apoptosis (I, Supplementary Figure 2), which implies that common mechanisms of resistance in death receptor-mediated apoptosis can be overcome by lignan treatment. These mechanisms might be linked to the inhibitory effects that DBL lignans have previously been shown to exert on survival signaling pathways (Oikarinen *et al.* 2000, Cho *et al.* 2002). Further studies on lignan influence should be performed in cell types that are involved primarily in CD95-signaling, including various immune cells, in order to elucidate this matter. In addition, the potential effects of lignans on CD95-mediated processes need to be taken into account when *in vivo* effects of TRAIL and lignan treatment are evaluated.

1.2 Structure-activity relationship analysis identifies (-)-nortrachelogenin lignan as an effective compound for sensitization to TRAIL-induced apoptosis (II)

The results obtained with MAT, ENL and HMR lignans prompted us to test 27 naturally occurring lignans and lignan derivatives in a structure-activity relationship (SAR) analysis (II, Table 1). A panel of 18 lignans (II, Figure 1) and 9 norlignans (II, Figure 2), including several ENL precursors and DBL lignans, was assayed for the ability of the compounds to sensitize androgen-deprived LNCaP prostate cancer cells to TRAIL-induced mitochondrial depolarization and nuclear fragmentation (II, Figure 3). Our results demonstrate that the DBL skeleton in its non-cyclic form (MAT, ENL, NTG, Me-MR, demetyl-MR) is the most active lignan structure in sensitizing to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. The substitution pattern of the aromatic rings only has a small effect on the activity, while addition of methyl, hydroxyl or oxo groups at position C-7 completely abolishes the active conformation. However, we discovered that an aliphatic OH-group in the lactone ring at position C-8 significantly enhances the lignan activity (II, Figure 1). The (-)-nortrachelogenin (NTG) lignan containing this structure sensitizes androgen-deprived LNCaP cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis more efficiently than MAT (II, Figure 3).

NTG, also called (-)-wikstromol or pinopalustrin, is not found in human nutrition, but it can be isolated in relatively large amounts from soft wood species such as *Pinus sylvestris* (Ekman et al. 2002). Early reports on the NTG enantiomer, (+)-wikstromol, suggest that wikstromol has antileukemic activity (Torrance *et al.* 1979, Lee *et al.* 1981), and both NTG and wikstromol have been shown to function as antioxidants (Tiwari *et al.* 2001, Willför *et al.* 2003). However, there is very limited experimental data on the *in vitro* and *in vivo* effects of NTG. In the only available *in vivo* study by Saarinen *et al.* (2005), NTG failed to inhibit the growth of carcinogen-induced mammary tumors, while HMR was able to increase the number of regressing and stabilized tumors in the same experimental setting (Saarinen *et al.* 2000). Unlike HMR, NTG is not converted into the mammalian lignans, ENL or END, in the colon, but is excreted in urine as such or as metabolites (Saarinen *et al.* 2005). Therefore, the effects of NTG are likely to differ from those obtained with HMR. Daily exposure to NTG beginning from the pregnancy showed weak endocrine-modulatory effects in adult rats, whereas the influence of HMR with same dosing was not statistically significant (Saarinen *et al.* 2005).

Arctigenin and wikstromol are examples of the interesting DBL lignans that could not be tested in our screening study due to availability problems, but have the structural determinants for activity in TRAIL-induced apoptosis. Also lignans that have methylenedioxy ring(s) (eg. savinin) or more than two substituent groups in the aromatic rings (eg. traxillagenin), would be attractive compounds for further SAR analysis of lignans as sensitizers to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. The enhanced TRAIL-induced apoptosis with NTG treatment suggests that the possible antitumorigenic effects of NTG might yet be revealed in other types of animal models for cancer. As TRAIL has demonstrated antimetastatic functions *in vivo* (Finnberg *et al.* 2008, Grosse-Wilde *et al.* 2008), the influence of NTG on tumor metastasis alone or in combination to TRAIL treatment deserves to be studied *in vivo*.

Interestingly, NTG did not sensitize non-malignant human epithelial prostate cells (RWPE-1) to TRAIL, indicating that the combination of lignans and TRAIL may leave normal cells unharmed (II, Figure 4C). Due to the potential hepatotoxicity of the combinatorial treatments involving TRAIL (Ganten *et al.* 2006), the influence of TRAIL and NTG should also be assayed in primary human hepatocytes. We are still on our way to understand what kind of molecular mechanisms determine that tumor cells selectively become victims of TRAIL-induced apoptosis while normal cells remain unharmed. It has been suggested that the mechanisms for tumor-selective apoptosis-induction by TRAIL would lie downstream of receptor activation and DISC formation, as inhibited FADD and caspase-8 recruitment would abrogate also TRAIL-induced survival signaling in normal cells (reviewed by Nieminen et al. 2007a, Varfolomeev et al. 2005). Concequently, it has been proposed that activation of oncogenes, such as c-Myc, might predispose cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis by enhancing mitochondrial permeabilization via proapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins and inhibiting NF- κ B survival signaling and c-FLIP transcription upon TRAIL-treatment (Nieminen et al. 2007b).

1.3 The γ -butyrolactone ring is essential for the TRAIL-sensitizing activity of lignans (II)

We had observed that MAT was an active lignan and SECO could not sensitize the LNCaP cells to TRAIL, while the only structural difference between these two molecules is that the γ -butyrolactone ring is not present in SECO (II, Figure 1). As only the DBL lignans, including MAT, ENL and NTG, were able to enhance TRAIL-induced apoptosis, the γ butyrolactone ring was considered likely to play an important role. To further study the importance of the γ -butyrolactone ring for sensitization to TRAIL-induced apoptosis, we synthesized two NTG derivatives lacking this functional group. To this end, NTG was reduced to corresponding lactol (CARS) and diol (CAR) derivatives (Figure 14). These compounds were tested and found inactive, while NTG could potently sensitize LNCaP cells to TRAIL stimulation (II, Figure 4D). The lactone ring has been mentioned as a critical structural determinant also in other SAR analyses of DBL lignans. Muta et al. (2004) observed in vitro that lignans with DBL structure could inhibit the enzymatic activity of matrix metalloproteinase-7, an extracellular protease that may play a critical role in tumor invasion and metastasis. They postulated that the lignan lactone ring may be involved in the binding to the active site of the enzyme, whereas the introduction of methylenedioxy ring(s) and hydroxyl group(s) to the aromatic rings was shown to contribute only to enhancement of the inhibitory activity (Muta et al. 2004). The lactone ring and its polar position may also play an important role in inhibition of $TNF\alpha$ production in macrophages, but the underlying mechanisms remain to be determined in further studies (Cho *et al.* 2001). The carbonyl group of the DBL lignans can serve as a hydrogen bond acceptor in intermolecular interactions, while the additional hydroxyl group in NTG may enable enhanced hydrogen bonding between lignans and their target molecules (Figure 14). In this respect, the stereochemistry of NTG is likely to be important for the lignan activity, but this remains to be shown experimentally. The results of this study suggest that lignan derivatives with further increased activity in sensitization to TRAIL-induced apoptosis may possibly be synthesized and employed as anticancer agents.



Figure 14. Molecular structures of nortracelogenin and the inactive derivatives, carissanol and carinol.

1.4 Dibenzylbutyrolactone lignans increase TRAIL-induced Bid cleavage and signal amplification through the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway (I,II)

To determine the molecular mechanisms by which DBL lignans permit the increased caspase activation and apoptosis upon TRAIL stimulation, we studied the effect of MAT on the main components of TRAIL receptor signaling: 1. Cell surface expression of the TRAIL receptors, 2. Formation of the TRAIL–DISC at the cytoplasmic death domain, 3. Depolarization of the mitochondrial membrane, and 4. Activation of the initiator and effector caspases. Lignans without DBL structure, namely nordihydroguaiaretic acid (NDGA), silibinin and honokiol, have recently been shown to facilitate TRAIL-induced apoptosis by induction of DR5 expression and downregulation of the apoptosis inhibitors c-FLIP and survivin (Son et al. 2007, Yoshida et al. 2007, Raja et al. 2008). Our results show that the membrane proximal events in TRAIL-induced signaling, including TRAIL receptor surface expression, TRAIL-DISC formation, and caspase-8 activation in the DISC, are not amplified by MAT treatment in androgen-stimulated or androgen-deprived LNCaP cells (I, Figure 3). These findings suggest that MAT and other DBL lignans may exert their sensitizing effect downstream of DISC formation. We noticed that androgen stimulation increases DR5 cell surface expression, enhances TRAIL-DISC formation and accelerates caspase-8 activation, although these proapoptotic events do not correlate with the apoptosis sensitivity of the cells. Our data, however, support the reported role of androgens as enhancers of TRAIL-DISC formation in LNCaP cells (Rokhlin et al. 2002).

Like most cancerous cells, the LNCaP prostate cancer cells have been shown to require mitochondrial amplification of the death receptor-initiated signals for efficient apoptosis induction. This has been demonstrated in experiments where the inhibition or downregulation of antiapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins has resulted in enhanced apoptosis in response to TRAIL receptor activation (Kim *et al.* 2005, Ray *et al.* 2005). This type II behavior in death receptor-mediated apoptosis often plays an important role in cancer cell TRAIL resistance, and involves high expression of antiapoptotic proteins, such as c-FLIP, XIAP, Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, survivin or Mcl-1, able to inhibit caspase activation at different steps of the cascade (reviewed by Mellier *et al.* 2010). Thus, overcoming these mechanisms of resistance upon TRAIL receptor engagement is likely to promote the execution of cancer cell death. Our results demonstrate that 40 μ M DBL lignan pretreatment is able to increase TRAIL-induced mitochondrial depolarization and caspase-9 cleavage in LNCaP cells (I, Figure 4A; II, Supplementary Figure 2). The enhanced MOMP downstream of TRAIL-DISC formation is a probable source for the boosted caspase activation and TRAIL-induced apoptosis, when DBL lignans are combined with TRAIL.

Although some lignans have been reported to downregulate the expression of the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins (Giridharan et al. 2002, Hausott et al. 2003, Saggar et al. 2010), we did not detect any MAT-induced changes in the expression of the Bcl-2 proteins known to regulate mitochondrial apoptosis pathway upstream of mitochondrial permeabilization (I, Figure 4C). In addition, the expression of the downstream caspaseinhibitor XIAP remained uninfluenced by MAT treatment (unpublished results). ENL has been reported to induce p53 stabilization (Chen et al. 2007) and to inhibit the proliferation of the LNCaP cells (McCann et al. 2008). Chen et al. (2007) also showed that a 48–72h incubation with $50-100 \ \mu M$ ENL may induce apoptosis in LNCaP cells by initiation of the mitochondrial pathway of apoptosis. MAT has also been shown to reduce viability in human gastric adenocarcinoma AGS cells (Kang et al. 2007), but these effects were observed at concentrations corresponding to 150-500 uM MAT. We have also noticed that DBL lignans induce growth arrest in LNCaP cells (data not shown), and MAT has a minor effect on mitochondrial polarity (I, Figure 4A), but our data indicate that neither MAT (Figure 15) nor NTG (II, Supplementary Figure 1) is an effective inducer of apoptotic cell death at the concentration of $0-100 \,\mu\text{M}$ when incubated up to 72h. Therefore, we conclude that treatment with 40 µM MAT or NTG clearly requires TRAIL -induced signals to provoke apoptosis in LNCaP prostate cancer cells. In addition to the TRAIL-sensitizing influence, the growth suppressing effects of DBL lignans, which may result from inhibition of mitogenic signaling, are likely to contribute to the anticancer effects observed in vivo (Bylund et al. 2005).

The caspase-cleaved form of the Bcl-2 BH3-only protein Bid, tBid, has been implicated as an important mediator between the death receptor-induced caspase activity and induction of the mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization, or MOMP (Li *et al.* 1998, Luo *et al.* 1998). As the TRAIL resistance of LNCaP cells has previously been shown to arise from defective Bid cleavage (Chen *et al.* 2001b, Nesterov *et al.* 2001), we investigated if DBL lignans can amplify this link between the two cell death pathways. Our results show that MAT or NTG pretreatment increases the TRAIL-induced cleavage of the full-size Bid in androgen-deprived LNCaP cells (I, Figure 4B; II, Supplementary Figure 2). We were only able to detect the cleaved tBid after proteasomal inhibition by epoximicin (data not shown), suggesting that the active tBid protein fragment may be subject to fast turn over. Nevertheless, the efficient Bid processing upon TRAIL receptor activation was found caspase-dependent (data not shown), and is a likely reason for the enhanced mitochondrial depolarization when the androgen-deprived cells are pretreated with DBL lignans. In the presence of androgen, TRAIL–DISC formation and caspase-8 activation are increased, and TRAIL treatment as a single-agent is enough for inducing Bid cleavage (I, Figure 4B; II, Supplementary Figure 2). The cellular processes that prevent the mitochondrial depolarization and apoptosis execution in response to TRAIL in the androgen-stimulated cells are likely to require androgen-induced transcription, but we have not investigated this matter further. How these mechanisms of resistance are influenced by DBL lignans to enable enhanced apoptosis induction in androgen-stimulated cells, remains also to be examined in future studies.



Figure 15. Matairesinol (MAT) is not a potent initiator of apoptosis in LNCaP cells. The cells were cultured in the presence or absence of androgen and incubated with $0-100 \,\mu$ M MAT for 0-72 hours. The percent of apoptotic cells was determined by labeling of activated caspase-3 and analyzing by flow cytometry.

In summary, our data demonstrate that DBL lignans are able to sensitize cancer cells to receptor-mediated apoptosis. In LNCaP cells, DBL lignans facilitate TRAIL-induced Bid cleavage, mitochondrial depolarization and caspase activation, especially when the cells are also deprived of androgen. Nortrachelogenin was identified as the most effective DBL lignan for TRAIL-sensitization in the systematic SAR screening study, which also recognized the γ -butyrolactone ring of DBL lignans as a critical structure in sensitization to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. Our results suggest that sensitization to TRAIL-induced apoptosis may be a key mechanism of DBL lignan anticancer activity *in vivo*, and this ability could be employed in cancer treatment to overcome resistance to therapeutic TRAIL receptor agonists.

2. LIGNANS AS INHIBITORS OF AKT SURVIVAL SIGNALING

2.1 Dibenzylbutyrolactone lignans sensitize to TRAIL-induced apoptosis by downregulating Akt activity (I,II)

Recent studies indicate that inhibition of the PI3K pathway with chemotherapeutic agents is an attractive strategy to treat prostate cancers (reviewed by Sarker *et al.* 2009). The approach is based on the increasing evidence suggesting frequent deregulation of the PI3K survival pathway in prostatic carcinomas (reviewed by Engelman et al. 2009). In LNCaP cells, the loss of PTEN can be observed as constitutive activity of Akt, one of the most

important downstream targets of PI3K (Carson *et al.* 1999). Akt is a serine/threonine kinase that activates or inhibits a range of signaling molecules via phosphorylation, and thereby promotes cell growth, proliferation and survival. For example, GSK-3 β , a protein that amongst other functions induces glycogen synthesis and suppresses cell cycle progression, is inhibited by Akt-mediated phosphorylation in order to promote growth and proliferation (Cross *et al.* 1995).

As the tested DBL lignans were found to be non-toxic to LNCaP cells, lignans are likely to exert their anticancer activity by influencing factors that prevent effective TRAIL-induced apoptosis. As ENL was shown to inhibit Akt activity (Chen et al. 2007), we decided to investigate if DBL lignans could sensitize LNCaP cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis by inhibition of Akt activity. Our results show that MAT and NTG are more efficient than ENL in reducing the level of phosphorylated, and therefore active, Akt kinase especially in androgen-deprived LNCaP cells (I, Figure 5A; II, Figure 5). In addition, we observed that NTG treatment downregulates phosphorylation of the Akt target protein GSK-3 β (II, Figure 5D). The inhibitory effect on Akt activity reaches the maximal repression at 2h NTG incubation and starts to recover somewhat thereafter (II, Figure 5C). These results suggest that the three investigated DBL lignans, MAT, NTG and ENL, have a common mode of action. MAT has previously been shown to function as a direct inhibitor of kinase activity. Already in 1981, MAT was demonstrated to inhibit cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase (Nikaido et al. 1981), and more recently, to prevent casein kinase-I (CKI) activity in vitro (Yokoyama et al. 2003). It is interesting to speculate that these inhibitory activities might be connected to the observed downregulation of Akt activity. Furthermore, several of the previously described DBL lignan effects on cell survival signaling could be linked to the observed reduction of Akt activity, but further studies are needed to investigate these possibilities

The constitutive Akt signaling has been reported to protect hormone-dependent prostate cancer cells from TRAIL-induced apoptosis by inhibition of efficient Bid cleavage (Chen et al. 2001b. Nesterov et al. 2001). The recent results of Goncharenko-Khaider et al. (2010) also highlight Akt as a critical mediator of cancer cell TRAIL resistance that inhibits cleavage of Bid, prevents accumulation of tBid and also donwregulates Bid expression level. The mechanisms behind Akt inhibited Bid function have only recently been clarified, when Akt was shown to inhibit Bid localization to the mitochondria upon TRAIL stimulation by phosphorylation of PACS-2, a multifunctional sorting protein (Aslan et al. 2009). These results suggest that inhibited Akt activity is a likely reason for the enhanced Bid cleavage and apoptosis rate in response to TRAIL when the cells are also treated with DBL lignans. Consistently, synthetic PI3K inhibitors have been demonstrated to sensitize LNCaP cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis, while overexpression of antiapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins is able to protect the cells from this combinatorial treatment (Chen et al. 2001b, Nesterov et al. 2001). We also observed that LNCaP cells can be sensitized to TRAIL by the PI3K inhibitor LY294002, and simultaneous treatment with LY294002 and MAT only showed minor additive effects in TRAIL-induced apoptosis, suggesting that these compounds are inhibiting at least partially the same mechanism of TRAIL resistance, the PI3K/Akt pathway (data not shown). To verify the involvement of PI3K/Akt pathway inhibition in DBL lignan action, we introduced a constitutively active form of Akt (ca-Akt) into androgen-deprived LNCaP cells. We found that ca-Akt is able to rescue a large portion of the cell population from MAT-mediated sensitization to TRAILinduced apoptosis (I, Figure 5C). These results provide evidence for the importance of DBL lignan-mediated inhibition of the PI3K/Akt pathway signaling as a mechanism of sensitization to TRAIL treatment. Deregulated activation of PI3K/Akt signaling may play a critical role also in allowing prostate tumors to survive and maintain proliferation in androgen-deprived environments (reviewed by Mulholland *et al.* 2006). Although the constitutive Akt phosphorylation did not markedly differ between androgen-deprived and androgen-stimulated LNCaP cells (I, Figure 5A; II, Figure 5), inhibition of Akt by DBL lignans was more pronounced in the androgen-deprived cells. These results suggest that androgen stimulation counteracts the effects of the lignans by promoting Akt activity. Therefore, ADT is likely to enhance the anticancer activity of DBL lignans in treatment prostate cancer.

Various naturally occurring polyphenols, such as flavonoids, stilbenes and phenolic acids, have been shown to sensitize cancer cells to TRAIL, and some of them inhibit Akt (reviewed by Jacquemin *et al.* 2010). For example, quercetin and genistein that belong to plant flavonoids are able to inhibit Akt activity while sensitizing to TRAIL (Kim & Lee 2007, Siegelin *et al.* 2009). Curcumin, the yellow pigment in turmeric, has been shown to inhibit Akt by activation of PP2A and/or some other calyculin A-sensitive protein phosphatase (Yu *et al.* 2008), but also to enhance the apoptosis-inducing potential of TRAIL in prostate cancer cells both *in vitro* (Deeb *et al.* 2007) and *in vivo* (Shankar *et al.* 2008). In addition, the stilbene resveratrol, found enriched in red wine, possesses ability to downregulate Akt activity as well as to sensitize prostate cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis (Gill *et al.* 2007). However, these studies do not demonstrate a direct link between Akt inhibition and increase in TRAIL-induced apoptosis. Our data show that inhibition of the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway is one of the major mechanisms by which DBL lignans sensitize androgen-deprived prostate cancer cells TRAIL-induced apoptosis.

2.2 The effects of the lignan nortrachelogenin on Akt activity and TRAIL-sensitivity are rapidly reversible (II)

Intriguingly, the effect of NTG on Akt activity and TRAIL-induced apoptosis was found to be rapidly reversible (II, Figure 7). When the medium with lignan pretreatment was removed and replaced by fresh culture medium prior to addition of izTRAIL, the apoptosis-enhancing effect was abrogated completely. Similarly, the inhibited Akt activity rapidly recovered to the phosphorylated state after medium replacement. Even a longer pretreatment (24h) with MAT was ineffective if the culture medium was replaced before addition of izTRAIL (data not shown). These results suggest that NTG may act directly on the Akt signaling pathway or other molecular targets regulating the cellular susceptibility to TRAIL-induced apoptosis, and imply that the cellular effects of lignans are likely to be membrane proximal or even occur outside of the cell. Preliminary results from biochemical studies with artificial membranes suggest that MAT or NTG are unlikely to spontaneously traverse the plasma membrane due to their polar nature. Instead, recent results suggest that both lignans tend to adhere at the lipid interphase (Bjorkbom A, unpublished results). Therefore, the Akt inhibition we observed might result from lignans effecting plasma membrane-tethered molecules involved in PI3K/Akt signaling, such as the receptor tyrosine kinases.

2.3 Nortrachelogenin (NTG) is a broad-spectrum inhibitor of receptor tyrosine kinase activity (II)

In the prostate, the PI3Ks are generally activated upon growth factor stimulation by RTKs, such as IGF-IR, EGFR, FGFR, PDGFR and VEGFR (reviewed by Hellawell & Brewster 2002). Inhibition of the catalytic subunit p110 by the regulatory p85 subunit in the heterodimeric class IA PI3Ks is relieved upon binding of p85 to tyrosine phosphorylated RTKs or RTK-bound adaptor proteins, which leads to enzymatic activation of PI3K (Yu et al. 1998). Recently, ENL was shown to suppress IGF-IR signaling and Akt activity in PTEN-deficient prostate cancer cells along with inhibition of cell proliferation and migration (Chen et al. 2009a). Prompted by these data and the efficient Akt inhibition we had observed with NTG treatment, we investigated how NTG influences the growth factor signaling of LNCaP cells in serum-starved conditions resembling low androgen environment. According to our results, NTG is not only able to inhibit activation of IGF-IR, but also insulin receptor (IR) and EGFR, by suppressing tyrosine autophosphorylation of the receptors upon ligand binding (II, Figure 6). We also observed that the p85 PI3K subunit is constitutively bound to IR and IGF-IR, and this recruitment is enhanced upon RTK activation. Importantly, NTG treatment reduced the amount of RTK-bound p85 in a dose-dependent manner (II, Figure 6B).

In the PTEN-deficient LNCaP prostate cancer cells, however, basal PI3K activity was recently found not to depend on RTK tyrosine phosphorylation (Jiang *et al.* 2010). The authors postulated that particular p110 subunits of PI3K may have a modest level of constitutive activity in the absence of RTK or GPCR stimulation that would be sufficient for the maintenance of PI3K pathway activation in PTEN-deficient cells. We also discovered that in LNCaP cells Akt activity remains surprisingly unaltered both in low-serum conditions and upon growth factor treatment (II, Figure 6B), suggesting that such RTK-independent mechanisms of PI3K activation may be functional. Nevertheless, we noticed that NTG is able to downregulate Akt phosphorylation regardless of the growth factor supply. Therefore, it remains to be clarified, whether NTG induces the observed Akt inhibition by 1. Interfering with RTK signaling, 2. Suppressing the basal PI3K activity, 3. Inhibiting Akt activity, 4. Activating pathways that promote Akt inactivation, or 4. Employing a mechanism, which is yet to be identified (Figure 16).

As RTK-induced signaling has a critical role in malignancy, various therapeutic approaches have already been developed against GFR families, such as the VEGFRs, EGFRs, PDGFRs and IGF-IR. It would be worth examining if NTG is able to inhibit RTK. activity in other cancer cell types, and what the consequences of NTG treatment are in cells that have wild type PTEN. Furthermore, sensitization of LNCaP cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis by NTG may involve the inhibition of RTK activity. Karasic et al. (2010) have previously observed such mode of action for a cyclolignan, picropodophyllin, which was shown to inhibit IGF-IR signaling and to sensitize melanoma cells to TRAIL. The neolignan magnolol has been reported to inhibit EGFR signaling without influencing insulin-induced pathways in prostate cancer cells (Lee et al. 2009). In the same study, it was proposed that the binding affinity of magnolol to EGFR may depend on the intracellular redox state, and differences between cancer cells and normal cells with this respect would allow cancer cell-specific effects. Whether or not such mechanisms operate and can be applied to functions of NTG warrants further investigation. As we now observed that the reversibility and dynamics of the TRAIL-sensitizing NTG effect is equal in the presence and in the absence of androgen, the molecular mechanisms of lignan activity may involve same targets in both conditions despite the differences in apoptotic signaling responses. Although the RTK/PI3K/Akt pathway seems to be one of the major lignan targets that regulate TRAIL sensitivity, other cell surface receptors and their downstream signaling cascades could be influenced by lignans. The Frizzled receptor could be such a target, as lignans have been shown to inhibit activity of the Wnt signaling pathway (Oikarinen *et al.* 2000, Yoo *et al.* 2010), but this possibility has not yet been experimentally addressed.



Figure 16. A schematic presentation of the potential DBL lignan targets in the RTK signaling pathway of LNCaP prostate cancer cells. Activated PI3K induces generation of PIP₃ at the plasma membrane, which leads to Akt recruitment and activation by phosphorylation. The lack of the phosphatase PTEN causes constitutive Akt activity and survival signaling in LNCaP cells, which accounts for suppression of TRAIL-induced apoptosis in these cells. The resistance to TRAIL has been shown to occur at the level of impaired Bid cleavage and mitochondrial permeabilization. DBL lignans, such as NTG, were found to inhibit Akt activity and RTK activation by growth factors. Both of these effects can result from inhibition of RTK activity, but independent effects on RTK, PI3K and Akt activity cannot be ruled out in the light of current evidence. Furhermore, other regulatory mechanisms ('X') that influence RTK/PI3K/Akt signaling can be targeted by DBL lignans.

Due to the antioxidative nature of DBL lignans (Jang *et al.* 2001, Kim *et al.* 2003, Willför *et al.* 2003, Cosentino *et al.* 2010), it is tempting to hypothesize that DBL lignans would mediate the inhibitory effects on RTK signaling by reducing intracellular levels of ROS. Several lines of evidence suggest that low concentrations of ROS, such as hydrogen peroxide, may function as essential second messengers in mitogenic signaling pathways (reviewed by Lander 1997). RTK stimulation by insulin or EGF has been demonstrated to induce hydrogen peroxide production that inhibits protein tyrosine phosphatases and thereby further promotes tyrosine phosphorylation of IR β and EGFR, respectively (Bae *et al.* 1997, Mahadev *et al.* 2001). Subsequently, inhibition of growth factor-induced positive feedback loops by lignans could lead to the observed inhibition of RTK activity. The NADPH oxidase (Nox) localized at the plasma membrane generates extramitochondrial superoxide and hydrogen peroxide in mitogenic signaling, and the activity of this enzyme has been seen to increase in cancer, including prostate cancer (Kumar *et al.* 2009). Furthermore, physiological levels of androgen increase ROS production in LNCaP cells (Ripple *et al.* 1997), and the androgen-induced ROS levels in prostate epithelial cells play

a key role in prostate cancer occurrence, recurrence as well as progression (Basu *et al.* 2009). Inhibition of Nox activity or use of general antioxidants reduces Akt signaling, proliferation and survival of prostate cancer cells, including the LNCaP cells (Kumar *et al.* 2009). Interestingly, also TRAIL induces ROS production through activation of Nox in a caspase-dependent manner (Choi *et al.* 2010). The effect, however, is opposite to the mechanisms of RTK signaling, as ROS was found to counteract TRAIL-induced apoptosis by inhibiting caspase-3 activation. Sesamin and honokiol are lignans that have been reported to inhibit Nox activity in aortic cells and endothelial cells, respectively (Nakano *et al.* 2008, Sheu *et al.* 2008), and ROS is an important mediator of several signaling pathways that lignans have been shown to suppress, including the PI3K/Akt and MAPK pathways. Thus, it would be worth examining if DBL lignans are able to inhibit production of extramitochondrial ROS in LNCaP cells, and thereby reduce RTK activity at the plasma membrane makes it also available for DBL lignan activity from the outside of the cell.

The observed effects of DBL lignans on growth factor signaling may account for some of the health benefits that mammalian lignans have been attributed with, including reduced risk of diabetes, cardiovascular diseases and cancer (reviewed by Adolphe et al. 2010). Whether dietary DBL lignans are a sufficient source for these effects to be detected in human subjects, warrants further studies. In our *in vitro* studies, the cellular effects were observed with DBL lignan doses in micromolar range, and doses that high can be challenging for sufficient drug delivery into the tumor site. The results from these in vitro studies are likely to be relevant for intravenous administration protocols in the preclinical uses, but not for nutritional intake of lignans. Our preliminary in vivo results in an experimental mouse model demonstrate that NTG is non-toxic at 15 mg/kg daily dose when administered intravenously. The future studies will address, how NTG influences in vivo growth of TRAIL resistant tumor xenografts in combination with TRAIL treatment. The stability as well as solubility of plant lignans, like MAT and NTG within the blood may have to be increased by carries systems such as liposomes or other nanoparticulate systems, previously applied for delivery of other polyphenols (Fang et al. 2006, Yuan et al. 2006). It must, however, be noted that these delivery systems should allow extracellular release of the lignan cargo as the effects observed in this study are likely to be mediated by lignans from outside of the cancer cell plasma membrane. Also the halflife of TRAIL in blood circulation can be increased via conjugation to albumin (Müller et al. 2010) or encapsulation to liposomes (Martinez-Lostao et al. 2010). Furthermore, TRAIL can be targeted to tumor site for increased local concentration by expression of biologically active soluble TRAIL in a bacterial strain that selectively grows inside tumors (Zhang et al. 2010).

3. TARGETING OF HYBRID SILICA NANOPARTICLES INTO CANCER CELLS

3.1 Mesoporous silica nanoparticles can be targeted to folate receptor expressing cancer cells by poly(ethylene imine) and folic acid surface functionalization (III)

Liposomes and polymer nanoparticles have been the leading materials for current nanomedical research, but novel approaches may help to meet the properties of the optimal nanocarrier, namely the carrier biocompatibility, size control, stability and versatile surface functionalization possibilities as well as high drug-loading capacity and controlled drug release without premature leakage of drug molecules (reviewed by Vivero-Escoto *et al.* 2010). The beneficial features of mesoporous silica include tunable pore dimensions in the nanometer range, high pore volume and surface area, morphology control, and possibility for versatile surface function and controlled release strategies. As a biocompatible material, mesoporous silica has recently been used in development of potential nanocarriers for drug delivery and bioimaging approaches (Vivero-Escoto *et al.* 2010). The preceding work had established the synthesis of poly(ethylene imine), PEI –functionalized porous hybrid silica nanoparticles (Rosenholm *et al.* 2006, Rosenholm & Lindén 2008). In this novel hybrid nanoparticle system, the covalently conjugated hyperbranched PEI layer creates a positive charge at the particle surface preventing particle aggregation, but may also provide stealth properties, molecular gate properties, RES evasion and endosomal escape ability as well as a high surface density of reactive groups for further functionalization (Figure 17).



Figure 17. Mesoporous hybrid silica nanoparticles.

We sought to further test the developed system for its applicability to cancer cell targeting under *in vitro* conditions. To this end, the particles were functionalized with FITC molecules for imaging with fluorescence microscopy and analysis by flow cytometry (Figure 17). The mean diameter of the synthesized MSNs in our study was approximately 400 nm, as surface-functionalized particles with smaller size (100 nm) had previously been shown to readily enter cells in the absence of targeting ligands (Slowing *et al.* 2006). Although it has been demonstrated that active targeting provides only a relatively modest improvement in tumor tissue accumulation of drug delivery systems when compared to non-targeted systems, a clear difference is observed in cellular uptake of the nanoparticles and the cytotoxic drug action at the tumor site (reviewed by Pirollo & Chang 2008). Due to this advantage, we introduced a targeting ligand to the MSNs by covalent conjugation of FA to the PEI layer. FA has high affinity to folate receptors (FRs) that are normally expressed at the luminal surface of certain epithelial cells, inaccessible to the blood stream (Weitman *et al.* 1992). However, approximately one third of human cancers, including ovarian, endometrial, colorectal, breast, lung, renal cell carcinoma, overexpress the FR (reviewed by Sudimack & Lee 2000, Paulos *et al.* 2004). Furthermore, FRs have been observed to undergo internalization and cell surface recycling at a regular rate in cancer cells as well as tumors *in vivo* (Paulos *et al.* 2004), which provides effective means for receptor-mediated endocytosis of an FA-conjugated nanocarrier. Interestingly, FA-targeted liposomes can also enter FR expressing tumor-associated macrophages, a feature that may be utilized in targeted cancer therapy (Turk *et al.* 2004). These things make FA a promising ligand for tumor-targeted drug delivery, which is why both FA-targeted therapeutic drugs and a FA-linked imaging agent are currently under evaluation in human clinical trials for cancer therapy (reviewed by Low & Kularatne 2009).

Our strategy to selectively transport the MSN carriers into cancer cells by FR-targeting would ideally allow delivery of therapeutic agents to the interior of the cancer cells and specific induction of apoptosis in targeted cell population. MSNs have previously been conjugated to FA with the aim of active cancer targeting in vitro (Slowing et al. 2006, Liong et al. 2008), but the particle design in these studies differs significantly from ours concerning the particle coating. The conventional particle functionalization with aminosilanes (Slowing et al. 2006) or phosphonate silanes (Liong et al. 2008) does not provide the advantageous properties of PEI described above. To evaluate the cellular internalization of the PEI-functionalized and FA-targeted MSNs, we employed the HeLa cervical carcinoma cells as a cancerous cell model that expresses high amount of FR on the cell surface and human embryonic kidney 293 cells as a FR negative non-cancerous cell type (III, Figure 7). Prior to analysis of the cell samples, extracellular fluorescence was quenched with the cell-impermeable label, Trypan blue, in order to detect solely the MSNs that have been internalized (Slowing et al. 2006). Our result show that after 4h incubation with the particles, approximately 20% of HeLa cells internalize the PEI-functionalized MSNs (FITC/PEI), while further conjugation of a FA targeting ligand (FITC/PEI/FA) increases the fraction of particle-containing cells to 40% (III, Figure 4). The cationic PEI layer is likely to enhance MSN interaction with the negatively charged plasma membrane, and thereby contribute to non-targeted particle endocytosis. Xia et al. (2009) have recently observed that non-covalent coating with PEI enhances cellular MSN uptake and cargo delivery, but compromises cell viability if the polymer size is increased. In the approach of Slowing et al. (2006) the FA-conjugation significantly increased positive charge of the aminosilane-coated MSNs and thereby attraction to plasma membrane, which complicates evaluation of the suggested targeting into HeLa cells.

The uptake efficiency of the FITC/PEI/FA particles by HeLa cells was observed to decrease in a concentration-dependent manner, when free FA was added to the medium (III, Figure 5), suggesting that competition with free FA inhibits specific particle endocytosis. When the effect of free FA on non-targeted uptake of MSNs was recently examined in our laboratories, the higher FA concentrations (>2mM) where found to also influence the unspecific endocytosis of FITC/PEI –particles in HeLa cells (Mamaeva *et al. submitted for publication*). However, the non-targeted uptake remained unaffected at 1mM free FA, while FA-targeted endocytosis is reduced 40–50% (Mamaeva *et al.*). It is important to note that ideally the non-targeted uptake should be examined using particles that are conjugated to a mock/scrambled ligand, as the physicochemical properties of the particle may change when no ligand is present. New means of diminishing the non-targeted MSN uptake, for example by optimization of the FA and PEI density or by including additional targeting-ligands on the MSNs, will be investigated in the future.

Importantly, our data demonstrate that the uptake of FITC/PEI/FA particles is substantially lower in non-cancerous 293 cells that also have very low FR surface expression (III, Figure 8 and Supplementary Figure 6). Taking into account both the fraction of cells that have internalized particles and the amount of particles internalized per cell, the observed total particle internalization in HeLa cells is ten times higher than in 293 cells. Moreover, a significant difference in targeted endocytosis of FA-conjugated MSNs is observed when HeLa cells and 293 cells are co-cultured. In these conditions the FITC/PEI/FA particles preferentially accumulate to HeLa cells (III, Figure 9). Ectopic expression of FR in 293 cells or in other FR-low cell types would elucidate the mechanism other than FR expression that can mediate the selective uptake of the FR-targeted MSNs by cancer cells. The recent results of Mamaeva et al. show that there are, indeed, cell type-specific differences that dictate the total level of FITC/PEI/FA uptake independent of the level of FR surface expression. However, when the uptake of FA-conjugated MSNs is compared to internalization of non-targeted MSNs in each cell type, FA-mediated uptake correlates well with the FR surface expression level (Mamaeva et al.). For example, while the FAconjugation increases particle uptake in HeLa cells, 293 cells internalize even less particles when FA is added to the MSNs (Mamaeva et al.). These results validate the cancer cell targeting capacity of the developed MSN system and serve as an important basis for the *in vivo* application of the drug carrier system.

3.2 FA-functionalized MSNs can be employed for targeted delivery of hydrophobic cargo molecules into the cytoplasm of folate receptor expressing cancer cells (IV, V)

The mechanisms of nanoparticle internalization are varied and depend greatly on the particle size, shape and surface properties (reviewed by Hillaireau & Couvreur 2009). According to our results, internalization of the FA-functionalized MSNs is sensitive to actin cytoskeleton inhibition as well as cold temperature (IV, Figure 1C), indicating that particle uptake requires active endocytosis mechanisms. The pathway by which FR is internalized may involve several modes of endocytosis with many sorting events in multiple organelles (Paulos et al. 2004). Our data do not clarify the existing confusion of the FR recycling mechanisms (Paulos et al. 2004), as actin has been suggested to play a role in most, if not all endocytic pathways from caveolin-mediated and clathrin-mediated endocytosis to phagocytosis and macropinocytosis (reviewed by Engqvist-Goldstein & Drubin 2003). However, others have recently proposed that FA-conjugated MSNs may be preferentially endocytosed via the clathrin-dependent pathway (Fisichella et al. 2010). After successful entry into target cells, the drug cargo needs to be released from the nanoparticle carrier as well as from the endosomal compartment within the desired timeframe. The ability of the FITC/PEI/FA particles to release their cargo through endosomal escape was evaluated by loading 1wt% non-toxic poorly water-soluble molecules into the MSNs. The fluorescent dyes, Dil and DiO, were used as model cargo and their trafficking in cells was observed by live-cell confocal microscopy. We were able to image the release of Dil from the FITC-labeled MSNs and from the endocytic vesicles into the cytoplasm within 24h, as well as to demonstrate that equal cargo release occurs when DiI and DiO are simultaneously loaded into the particles (IV, Figure 2). Furthermore, quantitative analysis demonstrates that selective model drug delivery can be accomplished to FR-expressing HeLa cells, as the FR-negative 293 cells internalize only one third of the DiO amount delivered to HeLa cells (IV, Figure 3).

Our results indicate that the developed hybrid MSN system may be employed for FRtargeted co-delivery of multiple drug molecules. Lately, Chen et al. (2009b) simultaneously delivered Bcl-2 targeting siRNA molecules and the cancer drug doxorubicin to cells by hybrid MSNs, further highlighting the extensive drug-loading capacity of MSNs. The inherently fluorescent doxorubicin was shown to evade the polyamidoamine (PAMAM) -functionalized MSNs and also somewhat from the endosomal compartment, but the MSN-delivered doxorubicin resided at the perinuclear region and for an unknown reason did not accumulate to the nucleus like the free doxorubicin did. The endosomal escape of MSN cargo inside the cells is likely to stem from the proton 'sponge property' of particle coating when dendritic structures, like PEI or PAMAM that promote endosome rupture at lowering pH, are used for surface functionalization (Demeneix et al. 2004, Rosenholm et al. 2010). Indeed, we observed that within 4h the particles colocalize with an acidotropic probe, LysoTracker, suggesting that the intracellular compartment where the particles resign becomes acidified (V, Figure 7B). Interestingly, we can see that the MSNs remain compartmentalized inside the cell up to 72h (V, Figure 7A). The intracellular localization of non-functionalized MSNs was reported to depend on particle size, as only MSNs ≤420 nm localized in the lysosomal compartment (He et al. 2009). PEI may also function as a 'gate-keeper' and contribute to the fact that the loaded DiI is not released to a neutral pH-buffered solution during 24h incubation (data not shown). Further studies will address how other release mechanisms, such as pH, redox, light, heat or magnet-controlled release systems, could be introduced to the developed drug carrier system (reviewed by Slowing et al. 2008). For example, azobenzene derivative -functionalized MSNs have been designed to release the loaded molecules in response to specific light wavelength, while modification of light intensity and excitation time allows graded drug release (Lu et al. 2008).

3.3 FA-conjugated MSNs are non-toxic, but cellular uptake of methotrexateconjugated MSNs induces apoptosis specifically in folate receptor expressing cancer cells (III,IV,V)

Nanoparticle toxicity to living organisms is a critical issue that researchers must carefully manage in order to develop truly biocompatible drug carrier systems (reviewed by Nel *et al.* 2009). Materials such as silica have the advantage of being biodegradable as well as being synthesized by methods that permit careful control over the particle size, morphology, porosity and surface properties, all of which are factors that determine how the particle will interact in a biological system and whether the particle is going to be cytotoxic. It has been demonstrated that mesoporous silica is less cytotoxic than non-porous (amorphous) silica (Lin & Haynes 2010), and thiol- or amino-functionalization, that creates a positive charge on the particle surface, further reduces cytotoxic effects of MSNs *in vitro* (Di Pasqua *et al.* 2008, Tao *et al.* 2009). Importantly, the surface functionalized MSNs have not induced acute toxicity in animal models indicating that the drug carrier system is likely to have clinically relevant implications (reviewed by Rosenholm *et al.* 2010).

According to our results, the PEI- and FA-functionalized hybrid MSN carrier is non-toxic *in vitro*, but only within certain concentrations and time limits. A microscopic and flow cytometric analysis of HeLa cells after 24h incubation with 10µg/ml FITC/PEI/FA particles suggested a normal nuclear morphology (III, Figure 6). However, quantification
of the nuclear integrity after long-term incubation (72h) with 10 µg/ml MSNs shows a detectable increase in apoptotic cell death of HeLa cells (V, Supplementary Figure 2A). The reason for toxicity was found to not be the particle per se, but DMSO that is used as a solvent, because particles suspended in HEPES were not toxic in same circumstances. However, DMSO provides better stability of the synthesized particles. To avoid these undesired effects of DMSO dissolved particles, we chose to use a ten times lower particle concentration (1 µg/ml), which was harmless to cells, when long term incubations were required (V, Figure 6). Our results support the previous reports showing that functionalized MSNs are non-toxic when used at low concentrations (Radu et al. 2004, Di Pasqua et al. 2008, Tao et al. 2009). The information concerning the potentially cytotoxic effects of mesoporous silica or PEI is limited, and the only reported data suggest that very high doses (>200µg/ml) of non-functionalized mesoporous silica may induce puncture of cell membranes, generation of reactive oxygen species, mitochondrial dysfunction and caspase activation (Di Pasqua et al. 2008, Heikkilä et al. 2010), whereas high molecular weight PEI promotes mitochondrial depolarization (Xia et al. 2009). However, the doses of silica and PEI used in our experiments, however, are considerably lower.

Our next aim was to investigate if the targeted MSN system could be used for selective induction of apoptosis in FR-expressing cancer cells. To this end, we took advantage of the folate analog, MTX, which is a commonly used cytostatic anticancer drug that inhibits the biosynthesis of nucleotides and proteins (reviewed by Schmiegelow 2009). Currently, the dose-related toxic side effects and occurrence of drug resistance limit the clinical application of MTX in cancer therapy. Linking MTX to macromolecular carrier systems, such as albumin or PAMAM dendrimers, has previously been shown to reduce the side effects, increase the plasma half-life as well as promote the antitumor efficacy of MTX in vivo (Wosikowski et al. 2003, Kukowska-Latallo et al. 2005). Because of the structural similarity between FA and MTX, both are internalized by common cellular uptake mechanisms, which is why we were able to use MTX as an FR-targeting ligand for MSNs in addition to its function as an active drug molecule. In folate free culture conditions, we observed that the cellular endocytosis of MSNs with covalently conjugated MTX is slightly more efficient than the uptake of FA-conjugated MSNs, but still a clear difference in particle endocytosis can be seen between FR-expressing HeLa cells and 293 cells that have low FR expression (V, Figure 4). The total amount of endocytosed MTX-conjugated MSNs was calculated to be ten times higher in HeLa cells than in 293 cells, a difference large enough to affect the delivered drug concentration. Therefore, the developed drug carrier with MTX functioning both as a targeting ligand and as a cytotoxic agent may be used to selectively induce apoptosis of FR-expressing cells.

Our results show that non-cancerous 293 cells and HeLa cancer cells have very similar sensitivity to free MTX, with concentrations of 200ng/ml and upwards clearly inducing apoptotic cell death within 72h in both cell types (V, Figure 2). To demonstrate that utilizing the MTX-conjugated MSNs instead of free MTX increases selectivity of MTX-induced cell death, we incubated 293 and HeLa cells with FA-conjugated control particles or MTX-conjugated particles in a concentration corresponding to 20ng/ml of free MTX. In the free drug form this concentration was found to induce approximately 10–15% of nuclear fragmentation in the treated samples (V, Figure 2), while the corresponding values for particle-attached MTX were 33% in HeLa cells and 7% in 293 cells, the latter being close to level of apoptosis in response to free MTX (V, Figure 6). These data suggest that MTX-conjugation is able to promote selective MSN uptake to FR-expressing cells and subsequently compromise cell survival in the targeted cell population. Administration of

MTX-conjugated MSNs to a co-culture of both cell types would further test the targeting capability of the developed carrier system. It is likely that the free MTX and the particleconjugated MTX are transported via different endocytic pathways, which may lead to reduced drug-efflux and higher intracellular accumulation of MTX when it is in the particle-attached form. Such mechanisms could mediate the enhanced MTX cytotoxicity that was observed in HeLa cells upon treatment with MTX-functionalized hybrid MSNs. Liong et al. (2008) reported cell growth inhibition by FA-functionalized MSNs containing the cancer drug camptothecin adsorbed inside the particle pores. In their study, about 40% of FR-expressing human pancreatic carcinoma cells were viable after 24h incubation, while 70% of the human foreskin fibroblasts, which do not express FR, were viable at the same time point (Liong et al. 2008). Also Zhu et al. (2009) reported a fairly high cytotoxicity in the non-targeted cells as compared to aptamer-targeted cancer cells (60% vs. 40% viability, respectively) when the cells were treated with doxorubicin loaded MSNs. Both studies show that the cytotoxic action is selectively increased in the FR expressing cell type when the targeting ligand is attached to the MSN carrier system. However, as no comparison to efficacy of the free anticancer agent was included in the studies, it is difficult to judge the therapeutic benefit of the new administration approach.

Interestingly, the covalently attached MTX exerted cytotoxic activity in the cytoplasm, implying that the amide bond between MSN and MTX is broken in the cell interior and that MTX seems to preserve the original structure of the active drug molecule upon detachment. Recently, reduction of the disulfide bond released covalently linked cysteine from thiol-functionalized MSNs when the particles entered the intracellular environment where higher redox-potential prevails (Mortera et al. 2009). It is currently unknown, how MTX is released from the endosomal compartment where the fluorescent particles remain up to 72h (V, Figure 7A), but the enzymatic activity of lysosomal proteases may be responsible for the bond cleavage. We were surprised to find that MTX demonstrated potent cytotoxicity in HeLa cells even when it was covalently conjugated to pore walls prior to PEI-functionalization of the MSN surface, implying that efficient release of MTX must take place inside the cells (V, Supplementary Figure 3). In addition to providing a carrier for passive tumor targeting, conjugation of MTX to the hybrid MSNs would allow simultaneous delivery of other cancer drugs loaded inside the mesoporous matrix. This approach could reduce the dose of MTX-conjugated MSNs that is needed for effective apoptosis induction, and subsequently decrease the off-target toxicity in cells that do not overexpress FR.

The *in vivo* biodistribution and elimination of functionalized MSNs is only starting to be understood, and the relevance of active targeting in the *in vivo* application of MSNs is currently being evaluated. Lu *et al.* (2010) recently demonstrated that MSN-based drug delivery systems are biocompatible and eliminated from the body without causing any adverse effects. However, they did not observe any difference in antitumor efficacy of non-targeted and FA-conjugated MSNs loaded with camptothecin, suggesting that passive targeting mechanisms play a major role in the characterized MSN drug delivery system (Lu *et al.* 2010). The physicochemical properties of silica nanoparticles, such as size (Cho *et al.* 2009) and surface modifications (He *et al.* 2008, Park *et al.* 2009b, Souris *et al.* 2010) have a clear impact on the biodistribution and degradation kinetics of the particles *in vivo*. Mamaeva *et al.* have recently tested the *in vivo* tumor targeting capacity of the hybrid MSN system that was characterized *in vitro* during the course of this thesis work. Rapid clearance of the particles by renal excretion was observed and no toxic adverse effects were detected, but more importantly, prolonged tumor accumulation and significantly

enhanced inhibition of tumor growth were seen, when the FA targeting ligand was conjugated to the PEI-functionalized hybrid MSNs loaded with an anticancer agent (Mamaeva *et al.*).

Alternative ligands will be needed for targeted delivery of drugs into tumors that do not overexpress FR. For example, prostate cancer may require other approaches for MSN delivery and androgen receptors could serve as potential receptors for targeting. In addition to binding nuclear ARs, the lipofilic androgen has been shown to bind factors on the plasma membrane (Kampa *et al.* 2002). The membrane ARs are selectively overexpressed in aggressive prostate tumors in comparison to healthy prostate tissue, and engagement of these receptors by albumin-conjugated androgen in LNCaP prostate cancer cells induces endocytosis of the complex as well as cellular apoptosis (reviewed by Papadopoulou *et al.* 2009). Liposomes with androgen as a targeting ligand have previously been used for cancer drug delivery into AR expressing tissues *in vivo* (Mishra *et al.* 2009). As membrane AR activation has also been shown to enhance the anticancer effects of paclitaxel in prostate cancer cells (Papadopoulou *et al.* 2009), loading of membrane AR targeted hybrid MSNs with various cytotoxic agents, including paclitaxel, would allow efficient drug delivery for targeted elimination of prostate cancer cells.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Cancer-specific cell surface receptors may serve as signposts for drug delivery vehicles, mediating selective uptake of nanometer scale particles that contain therapeutic agents. Other types of receptors, called death receptors, have the ability to induce intracellular signaling cascades leading to apoptotic cell death in a cancer cell-specific manner. In this thesis project, I set out to investigate methods of targeted cancer cell elimination with minimal toxicity to non-cancerous cells.

Active targeting of cancer drugs to tumor cells is currently explored as means to reduce the adverse effects of chemotherapy, to increase the therapeutic efficacy of drugs and to enable the use of cancer drugs that previously have been too toxic or too insoluble for systemic administration. This thesis work aimed at evaluating the cancer cell targeting capacity of a novel drug carrier system consisting of mesoporous silica nanoparticles with hyperbranched poly(ethylene imine) coating. The tested MSNs were functionalized with folic acid to enable their targeted internalization by folate receptor overexpressing cancer cells. The results presented in this thesis demonstrate that the developed carrier system can be employed in vitro for cancer cell-specific delivery of adsorbed or covalently conjugated molecules and furthermore, for selective induction of apoptotic cell death in folate receptor expressing cancer cells. Due to the high drug-loading capacity of the hybrid MSNs, several anticancer agents may be incorporated to this system in the future, as combinatorial chemotherapy is likely to be required for successful cancer treatment. The biocompatibility and in vivo tumor targeting ability of the folic acid -functionalized hybrid MSNs have recently been studied with promising results, and therefore, this drug carrier system has good potential for clinical application in cancer therapy. The challenges of nanotechnology remain especially in finding new and more specific cancer-targeting ligands and designing nanocarriers that optimally deliver their cargo and become then completely eliminated from the body. Also reaching the targeted cell populations that may resign in poorly inaccessible locations, such as the brain or weakly vascularized tumors, needs to be addressed in future studies.

During this thesis work, I have also investigated the anticancer effects that lignans have been reported to induce. Earlier studies have examined the influence of lignans on cell signaling, and shown that lignans can downregulate the activity of various signaling pathways. These studies, however, have been non-systematic in the sense that they only investigated a few lignan compounds at a time. The survival mechanisms of cancer cells, often involving deregulated receptor tyrosine kinase activity, are critical for the malignant cell behavior, whereas inhibition of these signaling pathways provides new opportunities for cancer cell elimination. The findings of this thesis present a novel mechanism of action for lignans, namely sensitization to death receptor-mediated apoptosis, and provide further support for lignans as potent inhibitors of cell survival signaling. Furthermore, increased cross talk between death receptor-mediated signaling and mitochondrial apoptosis pathway was observed upon lignan pretreatment, while lignans alone were non-toxic. Our structureactivity relationship analysis of lignans demonstrated that only dibenzylbutyrolactone lignans are capable of increasing susceptibility of prostate cancer-cells to induction of apoptosis by the tumor-targeting death ligand TRAIL. Of the tested lignans, NTG was identified as the most efficient inhibitor of Akt survival signaling as well as sensitizer to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. This interesting molecule is not found in human diet, but can be extracted from knots of coniferous trees. Dietary lignans or lignans used as chemotherapeutic agents could be employed for priming cancer cells to therapeutic TRAIL receptor agonists, which provides interesting possibilities for cancer treatment. The observations of efficient and rapidly reversible TRAIL-sensitizing activity in androgen-dependent prostate cancer cells, but not in non-malignant prostate cells, encourage to employ NTG in *in vivo* studies together with TRAIL treatment in a mouse model for TRAIL-resistant prostate cancer. Furthermore, potential cancer preventive effects should be examined closer as dibenzylbutyrolactone lignans may increase efficacy of the endogenous TRAIL-mediated immunosurveillance against cancer types that rely on deregulated growth factor signaling for their survival. In fact, it is possible that the combined anticancer effects of plant-derived factors, including lignans and other polyphenols, in human diet can have a significant impact on the life-time risk of cancer.

Taken together, the results of this thesis describe two novel approaches for targeted cancer cell elimination, the first taking advantage of the receptor-mediated endocytosis of multifunctional nanocarriers and the second employing lignans for sensitization to death receptor-mediated apoptosis. Due to acquisition of therapeutic resistance towards single-agent cancer treatments, development of effective and safe treatment protocols for multi-drug cancer therapy is at the focus of cancer research. Recurrence of cancer is currently thought to originate from the multi-drug resistant tumor stem cell population that has capacity for self-renewal and tumor regeneration. Application of the approaches presented in this thesis to targeted elimination of cancer stem cells can provide new and interesting lines of research.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

When I began my PhD studies in 2006, I already knew that I am joining an inspiring and well-functioning working environment at the Turku Centre for Biotechnology, University of Turku and Åbo Akademi University. I am thankful to Professor Riitta Lahesmaa and the very helpful personnel of the CBT for these years; especially the Cell Imaging Core is acknowledged for the excellent technical assistance and almost around the clock trouble-shooting. I would also like to thank Professor Kid Törnqvist and the Department of Biosciences at Åbo Akademi University for the friendly and helpful atmosphere throughout my PhD studies.

I have greatly enjoyed the freedom and open-mindedness of Professor John Eriksson's laboratory during my PhD studies, and I can assure the younger generations that taking the winding road with more responsibility for your projects is eventually worth it. Thank you, John, for the opportunity to join the cell death crew for so many years and for guiding me through this journey, during which I have gotten to know the amazing world of cell biology, the tough lessons of failure and success, and perhaps a hint of patience as well! I would also like to thank Professor Lea Sistonen for the helpful comments on my oral presentations and for the multiple joint events with the Sistonen laboratory. Docent Cecilia Sahlgren is acknowledged for being an important advisor to me and for showing so much passion for science. Altogether, I genuinely feel that I have had the privilege to work in all these research groups as one of the lab members.

I am grateful to Professor Jyrki Heino and Professor Ian Cotgreave for reviewing my thesis and providing valuable suggestions that certainly improved the final outcome of 'my first book'. The critical comments of Aura Kaunisto and Cecilia Sahlgren during the process of writing of this thesis were most helpful and I am thankful for that.

The gains of working in a multi-disciplinary research interphase greatly override any challenges that may emerge. The joint efforts have been most enjoyable and I would like to express my gratitude to my co-authors and collaborators Laurel Bate-Eya, Anders Björkbom, Patrik Eklund, John Eriksson, Thomas Holmbom, Heidi Junnila (née Stykki), Mika Lindén, Annika Meinander, Rasmus Niemi, Adolfo Rivero-Müller, Mika Remes, Jessica Rosenholm, Cecilia Sahlgren, Rainer Sjöholm, Elin Torvaldson and Mikko Unkila.

I would like to thank my dear colleagues who have taught me a lot and been there for the ups and downs during the times of vigorous experimentation. Thanks for laughing at my non-stop stand up comedy and being kind when I got upset after things had gone all wrong! So, thank you Johanna Ahlskog, Julius Anckar, Tomoko Asaoka, Henri Blomster, Johanna Björk, Marek Budzynski, Zhanna Chitikova, Aurelie De Thonel D'orgeix, Alexandra Elsing, Saima Ferraris, Eva Henriksson, Tao He, Ville Hietakangas, Claire Hyder, Susumu Imanishi, Kimmo Isoniemi, Jenny Joutsen, Juha Kastu, Aura Kaunisto, Vitaly Kochin, Annika Meinander, Andrey Mikhailov, Mikko Nieminen, Hanna-Mari Pallari, Minna Poukkula, Mika Remes, Stephanie Robbins-Tran, Pia Roos-Mattjus, Helena Saarento, Anton Sandqvist, Thomas Söderström, Elin Torvaldson, Anniina Vihervaara, Malin Åkerfelt, and Päivi Östling.

Had Thomas not been one of my first lab supervisors, I might have turned out to be a very different scientist. I am deeply thankful to you, Thomas, for showing me the way to the out-of-the-box thinking and having fun at work! Also Annika, Aurelie, Cecilia, Minna and others are thanked for being good models for a junior researcher and showing interest in my projects. Especially Heidi and Mika are acknowledged for their valuable help in the lab along these years, during which some experiments have been more carefully planned than others, and most plans were likely to change at the last minute! I also want to thank all the lab members who have joined me for lunches, dinners and beers etc. as well as exciting conference trips – I have greatly enjoyed your company!

My life is full of happiness because I have so wonderful people around me. Thanks to Piia, Hanna, Paula and Minna for the great friendship that started already during undergraduate studies. I want to thank my cousin Satu for sharing the interest in cell biology as well as the mtDNA that will always keep us together! Thank you Päivi and Petra A. for not allowing me to forget where I come from (!), and for sharing the fun and standing by me. I want to deeply thank my extended family in Turku, including Annie, Kaisa, Petra K., Silja, Thomas and others for being so amazing and making me laugh all the time! Especially, I am grateful to Kim for gently challenging me, and simply existing in my life.

When I grew up, my parents always encouraged me to study and do things that interest me. It has taken me where I want to be, and I cannot thank enough for all the support! I am so grateful to my mother for everything and I want to thank her for always being there for me. Kiitos!

The Magnus Ehrnrooth Foundation, the Cancer Society of Finland, the Cancer Foundation of Southwestern Finland, the Medical Research Foundation "Liv och Hälsa", the K. Albin Johansson Foundation, Stiftelsens för Åbo Akademi forskningsinstitut and Åbo Akademi University are gratefully acknowledged for the financial support of this PhD thesis.

Turku, November 2010

ilia Perla

Emilia Peuhu

REFERENCES

Adlercreutz H. (2007). Lignans and human health. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 44: 483-525.

- Adlercreutz H. (2002). Phyto-oestrogens and cancer. Lancet Oncol 3: 364-373.
- Adlercreutz H, Bannwart C, Wahala K, Mäkelä T, Brunow G, Hase T et al. (1993). Inhibition of human aromatase by mammalian lignans and isoflavonoid phytoestrogens. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 44: 147-153.
- Adolphe JL, Whiting SJ, Juurlink BH, Thorpe LU, Alcorn J. (2010). Health effects with consumption of the flax lignan secoisolariciresinol diglucoside. *Br J Nutr* **103**: 929-938.
- Aggarwal BB. (2003). Signalling pathways of the TNF superfamily: A double-edged sword. Nat Rev Immunol 3: 745-756.
- Alessi DR, James SR, Downes CP, Holmes AB, Gaffney PR, Reese CB et al. (1997). Characterization of a 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase which phosphorylates and activates protein kinase balpha. Curr Biol 7: 261-269.
- Algeciras-Schimnich A, Pietras EM, Barnhart BC, Legembre P, Vijayan S, Holbeck SL et al. (2003). Two CD95 tumor classes with different sensitivities to antitumor drugs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 11445-11450.
- Algeciras-Schimnich A, Shen L, Barnhart BC, Murmann AE, Burkhardt JK, Peter ME. (2002). Molecular ordering of the initial signaling events of CD95. *Mol Cell Biol* 22: 207-220.
- Allan JM, Travis LB. (2005). Mechanisms of therapy-related carcinogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 5: 943-955.
- Altomare DA, Testa JR. (2005). Perturbations of the AKT signaling pathway in human cancer. *Oncogene* 24: 7455-7464.
- Ametller E, Garcia-Recio S, Costamagna D, Mayordomo C, Fernandez-Nogueira P, Carbo N et al. (2010). Tumor promoting effects of CD95 signaling in chemoresistant cells. *Mol Cancer* 9: 161.
- Andersson J, Rosenholm J, Areva S, Lindén M. (2004). Influences of material characteristics on ibuprofen drug loading and release profiles from ordered micro- and mesoporous silica matrices. *Chem Mater* 16: 4160-4167.
- Arap W, Pasqualini R, Ruoslahti E. (1998). Cancer treatment by targeted drug delivery to tumor vasculature in a mouse model. *Science* 279: 377-380.
- Ashkenazi A, Dixit VM. (1999). Apoptosis control by death and decoy receptors. Curr Opin Cell Biol 11: 255-260.
- Ashkenazi A, Herbst RS. (2008). To kill a tumor cell: The potential of proapoptotic receptor agonists. J Clin Invest 118: 1979-1990.
- Ashkenazi A, Pai RC, Fong S, Leung S, Lawrence DA, Marsters SA *et al.* (1999). Safety and antitumor activity of recombinant soluble Apo2 ligand. *J Clin Invest* **104:** 155-162.
- Aslan JE, You H, Williamson DM, Endig J, Youker RT, Thomas L et al. (2009). Akt and 14-3-3 control a PACS-2 homeostatic switch that integrates membrane traffic with TRAIL-induced apoptosis. *Mol Cell* 34: 497-509.

- Attard G, Reid AH, Olmos D, de Bono JS. (2009). Antitumor activity with CYP17 blockade indicates that castration-resistant prostate cancer frequently remains hormone driven. *Cancer Res* **69**: 4937-4940.
- Austin CD, Lawrence DA, Peden AA, Varfolomeev EE, Totpal K, De Maziere AM et al. (2006). Death-receptor activation halts clathrin-dependent endocytosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 10283-10288.
- Axelson M, Sjovall J, Gustafsson BE, Setchell KD. (1982). Origin of lignans in mammals and identification of a precursor from plants. *Nature* 298: 659-660.
- Ayres DC, Loike JD. (1990). Lignans: Chemical, Biological and Clinical Properties. Cambridge University Press: .
- Bae YS, Kang SW, Seo MS, Baines IC, Tekle E, Chock PB et al. (1997). Epidermal growth factor (EGF)-induced generation of hydrogen peroxide. role in EGF receptor-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 272: 217-221.
- Banerjee R, Tyagi P, Li S, Huang L. (2004). Anisamide-targeted stealth liposomes: A potent carrier for targeting doxorubicin to human prostate cancer cells. *Int J Cancer* 112: 693-700.
- Barnhart BC, Alappat EC, Peter ME. (2003). The CD95 type I/type II model. *Semin Immunol* 15: 185-193.
- Barnhart BC, Legembre P, Pietras E, Bubici C, Franzoso G, Peter ME. (2004). CD95 ligand induces motility and invasiveness of apoptosis-resistant tumor cells. *EMBO J* 23: 3175-3185.
- Basu HS, Thompson TA, Church DR, Clower CC, Mehraein-Ghomi F, Amlong CA *et al.* (2009). A small molecule polyamine oxidase inhibitor blocks androgen-induced oxidative stress and delays prostate cancer progression in the transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate model. *Cancer Res* 69: 7689-7695.
- Berges RR, Vukanovic J, Epstein JI, CarMichel M, Cisek L, Johnson DE et al. (1995). Implication of cell kinetic changes during the progression of human prostatic cancer. Clin Cancer Res 1: 473-480.
- Bergman Jungestrom M, Thompson LU, Dabrosin C. (2007). Flaxseed and its lignans inhibit estradiol-induced growth, angiogenesis, and secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor in human breast cancer xenografts in vivo. *Clin Cancer Res* **13**: 1061-1067.
- Black RA, Rauch CT, Kozlosky CJ, Peschon JJ, Slack JL, Wolfson MF *et al.* (1997). A metalloproteinase disintegrin that releases tumour-necrosis factor-alpha from cells. *Nature* **385**: 729-733.
- Boatright KM, Renatus M, Scott FL, Sperandio S, Shin H, Pedersen IM *et al.* (2003). A unified model for apical caspase activation. *Mol Cell* **11**: 529-541.
- Bodmer JL, Holler N, Reynard S, Vinciguerra P, Schneider P, Juo P et al. (2000). TRAIL receptor-2 signals apoptosis through FADD and caspase-8. Nat Cell Biol 2: 241-243.
- Boldin MP, Varfolomeev EE, Pancer Z, Mett IL, Camonis JH, Wallach D. (1995). A novel protein that interacts with the death domain of Fas/APO1 contains a sequence motif related to the death domain. *J Biol Chem* **270**: 7795-7798.
- Bonzon C, Bouchier-Hayes L, Pagliari LJ, Green DR, Newmeyer DD. (2006). Caspase-2-induced apoptosis requires bid cleavage: A physiological role for bid in heat shock-induced death. *Mol Biol Cell* 17: 2150-2157.

- Borriello SP, Setchell KD, Axelson M, Lawson AM. (1985). Production and metabolism of lignans by the human faecal flora. *J Appl Bacteriol* **58**: 37-43.
- Borsotti C, Franklin AR, Lu SX, Kim TD, Smith OM, Suh D et al. (2007). Absence of donor T-cellderived soluble TNF decreases graft-versus-host disease without impairing graft-versus-tumor activity. Blood 110: 783-786.
- Bossi G, Griffiths GM. (1999). Degranulation plays an essential part in regulating cell surface expression of fas ligand in T cells and natural killer cells. *Nat Med* **5**: 90-96.
- Bouchier-Hayes L, Oberst A, McStay GP, Connell S, Tait SW, Dillon CP *et al.* (2009). Characterization of cytoplasmic caspase-2 activation by induced proximity. *Mol Cell* **35:** 830-840.
- Bouillet P, O'Reilly LA. (2009). CD95, BIM and T cell homeostasis. Nat Rev Immunol 9: 514-519.
- Boussif O, Lezoualc'h F, Zanta MA, Mergny MD, Scherman D, Demeneix B et al. (1995). A versatile vector for gene and oligonucleotide transfer into cells in culture and in vivo: Polyethylenimine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92: 7297-7301.
- Brannon-Peppas L, Blanchette JO. (2004). Nanoparticle and targeted systems for cancer therapy. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 56: 1649-1659.
- Breitschopf K, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S. (2000). Ubiquitin-mediated degradation of the proapoptotic active form of bid. A functional consequence on apoptosis induction. *J Biol Chem* 275: 21648-21652.
- Brevet D, Gary-Bobo M, Raehm L, Richeter S, Hocine O, Amro K et al. (2009). Mannose-targeted mesoporous silica nanoparticles for photodynamic therapy. Chem Commun (Camb) (12): 1475-1477.
- Broughton BR, Reutens DC, Sobey CG. (2009). Apoptotic mechanisms after cerebral ischemia. *Stroke* **40**: e331-9.
- Brown KC. (2010). Peptidic tumor targeting agents: The road from phage display peptide selections to clinical applications. *Curr Pharm Des* 16: 1040-1054.
- Brunner T, Yoo NJ, LaFace D, Ware CF, Green DR. (1996). Activation-induced cell death in murine T cell hybridomas. differential regulation of fas (CD95) versus fas ligand expression by cyclosporin A and FK506. *Int Immunol* 8: 1017-1026.
- Bröker LE, Kruyt FA, Giaccone G. (2005). Cell death independent of caspases: A review. *Clin Cancer Res* 11: 3155-3162.
- Buck E, Eyzaguirre A, Rosenfeld-Franklin M, Thomson S, Mulvihill M, Barr S et al. (2008). Feedback mechanisms promote cooperativity for small molecule inhibitors of epidermal and insulin-like growth factor receptors. *Cancer Res* 68: 8322-8332.
- Bucur O, Ray S, Bucur MC, Almasan A. (2006). APO2 ligand/tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand in prostate cancer therapy. *Front Biosci* 11: 1549-1568.
- Bylund A, Saarinen N, Zhang JX, Bergh A, Widmark A, Johansson A et al. (2005). Anticancer effects of a plant lignan 7-hydroxymatairesinol on a prostate cancer model in vivo. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 230: 217-223.
- Cardone MH, Roy N, Stennicke HR, Salvesen GS, Franke TF, Stanbridge E *et al.* (1998). Regulation of cell death protease caspase-9 by phosphorylation. *Science* **282**: 1318-1321.

- Carpenter CL, Auger KR, Chanudhuri M, Yoakim M, Schaffhausen B, Shoelson S *et al.* (1993). Phosphoinositide 3-kinase is activated by phosphopeptides that bind to the SH2 domains of the 85-kDa subunit. *J Biol Chem* **268**: 9478-9483.
- Carson JP, Kulik G, Weber MJ. (1999). Antiapoptotic signaling in LNCaP prostate cancer cells: A survival signaling pathway independent of phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase and Akt/protein kinase B. *Cancer Res* 59: 1449-1453.
- Castedo M, Perfettini JL, Roumier T, Andreau K, Medema R, Kroemer G. (2004). Cell death by mitotic catastrophe: A molecular definition. *Oncogene* 23: 2825-2837.
- Chai J, Du C, Wu JW, Kyin S, Wang X, Shi Y. (2000). Structural and biochemical basis of apoptotic activation by Smac/DIABLO. *Nature* **406**: 855-862.
- Chambers AF, Groom AC, MacDonald IC. (2002). Dissemination and growth of cancer cells in metastatic sites. *Nat Rev Cancer* **2:** 563-572.
- Chan FK. (2007). Three is better than one: Pre-ligand receptor assembly in the regulation of TNF receptor signaling. *Cytokine* **37**: 101-107.
- Chan FK, Chun HJ, Zheng L, Siegel RM, Bui KL, Lenardo MJ. (2000). A domain in TNF receptors that mediates ligand-independent receptor assembly and signaling. *Science* **288**: 2351-2354.
- Chang DW, Xing Z, Pan Y, Algeciras-Schimnich A, Barnhart BC, Yaish-Ohad S *et al.* (2002). c-FLIP(L) is a dual function regulator for caspase-8 activation and CD95-mediated apoptosis. *EMBO J* **21**: 3704-3714.
- Chaudhary PM, Eby M, Jasmin A, Bookwalter A, Murray J, Hood L. (1997). Death receptor 5, a new member of the TNFR family, and DR4 induce FADD-dependent apoptosis and activate the NFkappaB pathway. *Immunity* 7: 821-830.
- Chaudhary PM, Eby M, Jasmin A, Bookwalter A, Murray J, Hood L. (1997). Death receptor 5, a new member of the TNFR family, and DR4 induce FADD-dependent apoptosis and activate the NFkappaB pathway. *Immunity* 7: 821-830.
- ^bChen AM, Zhang M, Wei D, Stueber D, Taratula O, Minko T *et al.* (2009). Co-delivery of doxorubicin and bcl-2 siRNA by mesoporous silica nanoparticles enhances the efficacy of chemotherapy in multidrug-resistant cancer cells. *Small* 5: 2673-2677.
- Chen CD, Welsbie DS, Tran C, Baek SH, Chen R, Vessella R *et al.* (2004). Molecular determinants of resistance to antiandrogen therapy. *Nat Med* **10**: 33-39.
- Chen CJ, Chin JE, Ueda K, Clark DP, Pastan I, Gottesman MM *et al.* (1986). Internal duplication and homology with bacterial transport proteins in the mdr1 (P-glycoprotein) gene from multidrug-resistant human cells. *Cell* **47**: 381-389.
- Chen J, Thompson LU. (2003). Lignans and tamoxifen, alone or in combination, reduce human breast cancer cell adhesion, invasion and migration in vitro. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* **80:** 163-170.
- Chen J, Wang L, Thompson LU. (2006). Flaxseed and its components reduce metastasis after surgical excision of solid human breast tumor in nude mice. *Cancer Lett* **234**: 168-175.
- Chen L, Park SM, Tumanov AV, Hau A, Sawada K, Feig C *et al.* (2010). CD95 promotes tumour growth. *Nature* **465**: 492-496.

- Chen LH, Fang J, Li H, Demark-Wahnefried W, Lin X. (2007). Enterolactone induces apoptosis in human prostate carcinoma LNCaP cells via a mitochondrial-mediated, caspase-dependent pathway. *Mol Cancer Ther* 6: 2581-2590.
- ^aChen LH, Fang J, Sun Z, Li H, Wu Y, Demark-Wahnefried W *et al.* (2009). Enterolactone inhibits insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor signaling in human prostatic carcinoma PC-3 cells. *J Nutr* **139**: 653-659.
- ^aChen M, He H, Zhan S, Krajewski S, Reed JC, Gottlieb RA. (2001). Bid is cleaved by calpain to an active fragment in vitro and during myocardial ischemia/reperfusion. *J Biol Chem* 276: 30724-30728.
- Chen M, Orozco A, Spencer DM, Wang J. (2002). Activation of initiator caspases through a stable dimeric intermediate. J Biol Chem 277: 50761-50767.
- ^bChen X, Thakkar H, Tyan F, Gim S, Robinson H, Lee C *et al.* (2001). Constitutively active akt is an important regulator of TRAIL sensitivity in prostate cancer. *Oncogene* **20**: 6073-6083.
- Chinnaiyan AM, O'Rourke K, Tewari M, Dixit VM. (1995). FADD, a novel death domain-containing protein, interacts with the death domain of fas and initiates apoptosis. *Cell* **81**: 505-512.
- Chipuk JE, Kuwana T, Bouchier-Hayes L, Droin NM, Newmeyer DD, Schuler M et al. (2004). Direct activation of bax by p53 mediates mitochondrial membrane permeabilization and apoptosis. Science 303: 1010-1014.
- Cho JY, Park J, Kim PS, Yoo ES, Baik KU, Park MH. (2001). Savinin, a lignan from pterocarpus santalinus inhibits tumor necrosis factor-alpha production and T cell proliferation. *Biol Pharm Bull* 24: 167-171.
- Cho M, Cho WS, Choi M, Kim SJ, Han BS, Kim SH *et al.* (2009). The impact of size on tissue distribution and elimination by single intravenous injection of silica nanoparticles. *Toxicol Lett* 189: 177-183.
- Cho MK, Jang YP, Kim YC, Kim SG. (2004). Arctigenin, a phenylpropanoid dibenzylbutyrolactone lignan, inhibits MAP kinases and AP-1 activation via potent MKK inhibition: The role in TNFalpha inhibition. *Int Immunopharmacol* 4: 1419-1429.
- Cho MK, Park JW, Jang YP, Kim YC, Kim SG. (2002). Potent inhibition of lipopolysaccharideinducible nitric oxide synthase expression by dibenzylbutyrolactone lignans through inhibition of I-kappaBalpha phosphorylation and of p65 nuclear translocation in macrophages. *Int Immunopharmacol* 2: 105-116.
- Choi K, Ryu SW, Song S, Choi H, Kang SW, Choi C. (2010). Caspase-dependent generation of reactive oxygen species in human astrocytoma cells contributes to resistance to TRAIL-mediated apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ* 17: 833-845.
- Chou JJ, Li H, Salvesen GS, Yuan J, Wagner G. (1999). Solution structure of BID, an intracellular amplifier of apoptotic signaling. *Cell* 96: 615-624.
- Clancy L, Mruk K, Archer K, Woelfel M, Mongkolsapaya J, Screaton G et al. (2005). Preligand assembly domain-mediated ligand-independent association between TRAIL receptor 4 (TR4) and TR2 regulates TRAIL-induced apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102: 18099-18104.
- Clarke MF, Dick JE, Dirks PB, Eaves CJ, Jamieson CH, Jones DL *et al.* (2006). Cancer stem cells-perspectives on current status and future directions: AACR workshop on cancer stem cells. *Cancer Res* 66: 9339-9344.
- Conner SD, Schmid SL. (2003). Regulated portals of entry into the cell. Nature 422: 37-44.

- Cosentino M, Marino F, Maio RC, Delle Canne MG, Luzzani M, Paracchini S *et al.* (2010). Immunomodulatory activity of the lignan 7-hydroxymatairesinol potassium acetate (HMR/lignan) extracted from the heartwood of norway spruce (picea abies). *Int Immunopharmacol* **10:** 339-343.
- Coti KK, Belowich ME, Liong M, Ambrogio MW, Lau YA, Khatib HA *et al.* (2009). Mechanised nanoparticles for drug delivery. *Nanoscale* 1: 16-39.
- Cretney E, McQualter JL, Kayagaki N, Yagita H, Bernard CC, Grewal IS *et al.* (2005). TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)/Apo2L suppresses experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in mice. *Immunol Cell Biol* **83**: 511-519.
- Cretney E, Takeda K, Yagita H, Glaccum M, Peschon JJ, Smyth MJ. (2002). Increased susceptibility to tumor initiation and metastasis in TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-deficient mice. *J Immunol* **168**: 1356-1361.
- Cretney E, Uldrich AP, Berzins SP, Strasser A, Godfrey DI, Smyth MJ. (2003). Normal thymocyte negative selection in TRAIL-deficient mice. J Exp Med 198: 491-496.
- Cretney E, Uldrich AP, McNab FW, Godfrey DI, Smyth MJ. (2008). No requirement for TRAIL in intrathymic negative selection. *Int Immunol* **20**: 267-276.
- Cross DA, Alessi DR, Cohen P, Andjelkovich M, Hemmings BA. (1995). Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated by protein kinase B. *Nature* **378**: 785-789.
- Dan HC, Sun M, Kaneko S, Feldman RI, Nicosia SV, Wang HG et al. (2004). Akt phosphorylation and stabilization of X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein (XIAP). J Biol Chem 279: 5405-5412.
- Datta SR, Brunet A, Greenberg ME. (1999). Cellular survival: A play in three akts. *Genes Dev* 13: 2905-2927.
- Datta SR, Dudek H, Tao X, Masters S, Fu H, Gotoh Y *et al.* (1997). Akt phosphorylation of BAD couples survival signals to the cell-intrinsic death machinery. *Cell* **91**: 231-241.
- de Bruin EC, Medema JP. (2008). Apoptosis and non-apoptotic deaths in cancer development and treatment response. *Cancer Treat Rev* **34**: 737-749.
- Deeb D, Jiang H, Gao X, Al-Holou S, Danyluk AL, Dulchavsky SA et al. (2007). Curcumin [1,7bis(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-1-6-heptadine-3,5-dione; C21H20O6] sensitizes human prostate cancer cells to tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand/Apo2L-induced apoptosis by suppressing nuclear factor-kappaB via inhibition of the prosurvival akt signaling pathway. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 321: 616-625.
- Degli-Esposti M, Ferry G, Masdehors P, Boutin JA, Hickman JA, Dive C. (2003). Post-translational modification of bid has differential effects on its susceptibility to cleavage by caspase 8 or caspase 3. J Biol Chem 278: 15749-15757.
- Dembic Z, Loetscher H, Gubler U, Pan YC, Lahm HW, Gentz R *et al.* (1990). Two human TNF receptors have similar extracellular, but distinct intracellular, domain sequences. *Cytokine* **2:** 231-237.
- Demeneix B, Hassani Z, Behr JP. (2004). Towards multifunctional synthetic vectors. Curr Gene Ther 4: 445-455.
- Desagher S, Osen-Sand A, Montessuit S, Magnenat E, Vilbois F, Hochmann A et al. (2001). Phosphorylation of bid by casein kinases I and II regulates its cleavage by caspase 8. Mol Cell 8: 601-611.

- Desbarats J, Newell MK. (2000). Fas engagement accelerates liver regeneration after partial hepatectomy. Nat Med 6: 920-923.
- Di Pasqua AJ, Sharma KK, Shi YL, Toms BB, Ouellette W, Dabrowiak JC *et al.* (2008). Cytotoxicity of mesoporous silica nanomaterials. *J Inorg Biochem* **102**: 1416-1423.
- Diehl GE, Yue HH, Hsieh K, Kuang AA, Ho M, Morici LA *et al.* (2004). TRAIL-R as a negative regulator of innate immune cell responses. *Immunity* **21**: 877-889.
- DiNitto JP, Cronin TC, Lambright DG. (2003). Membrane recognition and targeting by lipid-binding domains. Sci STKE 2003: re16.
- Dobrovolskaia MA, McNeil SE. (2007). Immunological properties of engineered nanomaterials. Nat Nanotechnol 2: 469-478.
- Du C, Fang M, Li Y, Li L, Wang X. (2000). Smac, a mitochondrial protein that promotes cytochrome c-dependent caspase activation by eliminating IAP inhibition. *Cell* **102**: 33-42.
- Eckelman BP, Salvesen GS. (2006). The human anti-apoptotic proteins cIAP1 and cIAP2 bind but do not inhibit caspases. J Biol Chem 281: 3254-3260.
- Egorova A, Kiselev A, Hakli M, Ruponen M, Baranov V, Urtti A. (2009). Chemokine-derived peptides as carriers for gene delivery to CXCR4 expressing cells. *J Gene Med* **11**: 772-781.
- Ehrhardt H, Fulda S, Schmid I, Hiscott J, Debatin KM, Jeremias I. (2003). TRAIL induced survival and proliferation in cancer cells resistant towards TRAIL-induced apoptosis mediated by NFkappaB. Oncogene 22: 3842-3852.
- Ekman R, Willför S, Sjöholm R, Reunanen M, Mäki J, Lehtilä R *et al.* (2002). Identification of the lignan nortrachelogenin in knot and branch heartwood of scots pine (pinus sylvestris). *Holzforschung* 56: 253-256.
- Engelman JA. (2009). Targeting PI3K signalling in cancer: Opportunities, challenges and limitations. Nat Rev Cancer 9: 550-562.
- Engelman JA, Luo J, Cantley LC. (2006). The evolution of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases as regulators of growth and metabolism. *Nat Rev Genet* **7**: 606-619.
- Engqvist-Goldstein AE, Drubin DG. (2003). Actin assembly and endocytosis: From yeast to mammals. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* **19**: 287-332.
- Eramo A, Sargiacomo M, Ricci-Vitiani L, Todaro M, Stassi G, Messina CG et al. (2004). CD95 death-inducing signaling complex formation and internalization occur in lipid rafts of type I and type II cells. Eur J Immunol 34: 1930-1940.
- Fang JY, Lee WR, Shen SC, Huang YL. (2006). Effect of liposome encapsulation of tea catechins on their accumulation in basal cell carcinomas. *J Dermatol Sci* 42: 101-109.
- Farokhzad OC, Cheng J, Teply BA, Sherifi I, Jon S, Kantoff PW et al. (2006). Targeted nanoparticleaptamer bioconjugates for cancer chemotherapy in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103: 6315-6320.
- Farokhzad OC, Langer R. (2009). Impact of nanotechnology on drug delivery. ACS Nano 3: 16-20.
- Feig C, Tchikov V, Schutze S, Peter ME. (2007). Palmitoylation of CD95 facilitates formation of SDS-stable receptor aggregates that initiate apoptosis signaling. *EMBO J* 26: 221-231.

- Fini L, Hotchkiss E, Fogliano V, Graziani G, Romano M, De Vol EB et al. (2008). Chemopreventive properties of pinoresinol-rich olive oil involve a selective activation of the ATM-p53 cascade in colon cancer cell lines. Carcinogenesis 29: 139-146.
- Finnberg N, Klein-Szanto AJ, El-Deiry WS. (2008). TRAIL-R deficiency in mice promotes susceptibility to chronic inflammation and tumorigenesis. *J Clin Invest* **118**: 111-123.
- Fisher GH, Rosenberg FJ, Straus SE, Dale JK, Middleton LA, Lin AY *et al.* (1995). Dominant interfering fas gene mutations impair apoptosis in a human autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome. *Cell* **81:** 935-946.
- Fisichella M, Dabboue H, Bhattacharyya S, Lelong G, Saboungi ML, Warmont F et al. (2010). Uptake of functionalized mesoporous silica nanoparticles by human cancer cells. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 10: 2314-2324.
- Fizazi K, Sternberg CN, Fitzpatrick JM, Watson RW, Tabesh M. (2010). Role of targeted therapy in the treatment of advanced prostate cancer. *BJU Int* **105**: 748-767.
- Franke TF, Kaplan DR, Cantley LC, Toker A. (1997). Direct regulation of the akt proto-oncogene product by phosphatidylinositol-3,4-bisphosphate. *Science* 275: 665-668.
- Fulda S, Meyer E, Debatin KM. (2002). Inhibition of TRAIL-induced apoptosis by bcl-2 overexpression. Oncogene 21: 2283-2294.
- Gangadhar T, Schilsky RL, Medscape. (2010). Molecular markers to individualize adjuvant therapy for colon cancer. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* **7:** 318-325.
- Ganten TM, Koschny R, Haas TL, Sykora J, Li-Weber M, Herzer K et al. (2005). Proteasome inhibition sensitizes hepatocellular carcinoma cells, but not human hepatocytes, to TRAIL. *Hepatology* 42: 588-597.
- Ganten TM, Koschny R, Sykora J, Schulze-Bergkamen H, Buchler P, Haas TL *et al.* (2006). Preclinical differentiation between apparently safe and potentially hepatotoxic applications of TRAIL either alone or in combination with chemotherapeutic drugs. *Clin Cancer Res* **12**: 2640-2646.
- Garg A, Tisdale AW, Haidari E, Kokkoli E. (2009). Targeting colon cancer cells using PEGylated liposomes modified with a fibronectin-mimetic peptide. *Int J Pharm* **366**: 201-210.
- Gill C, Walsh SE, Morrissey C, Fitzpatrick JM, Watson RW. (2007). Resveratrol sensitizes androgen independent prostate cancer cells to death-receptor mediated apoptosis through multiple mechanisms. *Prostate* **67**: 1641-1653.
- Giridharan P, Somasundaram ST, Perumal K, Vishwakarma RA, Karthikeyan NP, Velmurugan R *et al.* (2002). Novel substituted methylenedioxy lignan suppresses proliferation of cancer cells by inhibiting telomerase and activation of c-myc and caspases leading to apoptosis. *Br J Cancer* **87**: 98-105.
- Golstein P, Kroemer G. (2007). Cell death by necrosis: Towards a molecular definition. *Trends Biochem Sci* **32**: 37-43.
- Goncharenko-Khaider N, Lane D, Matte I, Rancourt C, Piche A. (2010). The inhibition of bid expression by akt leads to resistance to TRAIL-induced apoptosis in ovarian cancer cells. *Oncogene* **29:** 5523-5536.
- Gonzalvez F, Ashkenazi A. (2010). New insights into apoptosis signaling by Apo2L/TRAIL. Oncogene.

- Goren D, Horowitz AT, Tzemach D, Tarshish M, Zalipsky S, Gabizon A. (2000). Nuclear delivery of doxorubicin via folate-targeted liposomes with bypass of multidrug-resistance efflux pump. *Clin Cancer Res* 6: 1949-1957.
- Gottesman MM, Fojo T, Bates SE. (2002). Multidrug resistance in cancer: Role of ATP-dependent transporters. Nat Rev Cancer 2: 48-58.
- Griffith TS, Brunner T, Fletcher SM, Green DR, Ferguson TA. (1995). Fas ligand-induced apoptosis as a mechanism of immune privilege. *Science* **270**: 1189-1192.
- Gschwind A, Fischer OM, Ullrich A. (2004). The discovery of receptor tyrosine kinases: Targets for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 4: 361-370.
- Gu F, Zhang L, Teply BA, Mann N, Wang A, Radovic-Moreno AF et al. (2008). Precise engineering of targeted nanoparticles by using self-assembled biointegrated block copolymers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105: 2586-2591.
- Gu J, Fan W, Shimojima A, Okubo T. (2007). Organic-inorganic mesoporous nanocarriers integrated with biogenic ligands. Small 3: 1740-1744.
- Gupta PB, Chaffer CL, Weinberg RA. (2009). Cancer stem cells: Mirage or reality? *Nat Med* 15: 1010-1012.
- Gyrd-Hansen M, Meier P. (2010). IAPs: From caspase inhibitors to modulators of NF-kappaB, inflammation and cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* **10**: 561-574.
- Hahn WC, Weinberg RA. (2002). Rules for making human tumor cells. N Engl J Med 347: 1593-1603.
- Halaas O, Vik R, Ashkenazi A, Espevik T. (2000). Lipopolysaccharide induces expression of APO2 ligand/TRAIL in human monocytes and macrophages. *Scand J Immunol* 51: 244-250.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100: 57-70.
- Hankinson SE, Eliassen AH. (2007). Endogenous estrogen, testosterone and progesterone levels in relation to breast cancer risk. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 106: 24-30.
- Hao C, Song JH, Hsi B, Lewis J, Song DK, Petruk KC et al. (2004). TRAIL inhibits tumor growth but is nontoxic to human hepatocytes in chimeric mice. *Cancer Res* 64: 8502-8506.
- Harikumar KB, Sung B, Tharakan ST, Pandey MK, Joy B, Guha S et al. (2010). Sesamin manifests chemopreventive effects through the suppression of NF-kappaB-regulated cell survival, proliferation, invasion, and angiogenic gene products. *Mol Cancer Res* 8: 751-761.
- Harper N, Hughes MA, Farrow SN, Cohen GM, MacFarlane M. (2003). Protein kinase C modulates tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-induced apoptosis by targeting the apical events of death receptor signaling. *J Biol Chem* 278: 44338-44347.
- Harush-Frenkel O, Debotton N, Benita S, Altschuler Y. (2007). Targeting of nanoparticles to the clathrin-mediated endocytic pathway. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 353: 26-32.
- Hausott B, Greger H, Marian B. (2003). Naturally occurring lignans efficiently induce apoptosis in colorectal tumor cells. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 129: 569-576.
- Hayden MS, Ghosh S. (2008). Shared principles in NF-kappaB signaling. Cell 132: 344-362.
- He Q, Zhang J, Shi J, Zhu Z, Zhang L, Bu W *et al.* (2010). The effect of PEGylation of mesoporous silica nanoparticles on nonspecific binding of serum proteins and cellular responses. *Biomaterials* 31: 1085-1092.

- He X, Nie H, Wang K, Tan W, Wu X, Zhang P. (2008). In vivo study of biodistribution and urinary excretion of surface-modified silica nanoparticles. *Anal Chem* **80**: 9597-9603.
- Heald CL, Ritchie MR, Bolton-Smith C, Morton MS, Alexander FE. (2007). Phyto-oestrogens and risk of prostate cancer in scottish men. *Br J Nutr* **98**: 388-396.
- Hedelin M, Klint A, Chang ET, Bellocco R, Johansson JE, Andersson SO *et al.* (2006). Dietary phytoestrogen, serum enterolactone and risk of prostate cancer: The cancer prostate sweden study (sweden). *Cancer Causes Control* **17**: 169-180.
- Heibein JA, Goping IS, Barry M, Pinkoski MJ, Shore GC, Green DR et al. (2000). Granzyme Bmediated cytochrome c release is regulated by the bcl-2 family members bid and bax. J Exp Med 192: 1391-1402.
- Heikkila T, Santos HA, Kumar N, Murzin DY, Salonen J, Laaksonen T et al. (2010). Cytotoxicity study of ordered mesoporous silica MCM-41 and SBA-15 microparticles on caco-2 cells. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 74: 483-494.
- Heinonen S, Nurmi T, Liukkonen K, Poutanen K, Wahala K, Deyama T et al. (2001). In vitro metabolism of plant lignans: New precursors of mammalian lignans enterolactone and enterodiol. J Agric Food Chem 49: 3178-3186.
- Hellawell GO, Brewster SF. (2002). Growth factors and their receptors in prostate cancer. *BJU Int* **89:** 230-240.
- Herbst RS, Mendolson DS, Ebbinghaus S, Gordon MS, O'Dwyer P, Lieberman G et al. (2006). A phase I safety and pharmacokinetic (PK) study of recombinant Apo2L/TRAIL, an apoptosisinducing protein in patients with advanced cancer. J Clin Oncol, ASCO Annual Meeting Proceedings 24: 3013.
- Higano CS, Schellhammer PF, Small EJ, Burch PA, Nemunaitis J, Yuh L *et al.* (2009). Integrated data from 2 randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trials of active cellular immunotherapy with sipuleucel-T in advanced prostate cancer. *Cancer* 115: 3670-3679.
- Hillaireau H, Couvreur P. (2009). Nanocarriers' entry into the cell: Relevance to drug delivery. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 66: 2873-2896.
- Hilliard B, Wilmen A, Seidel C, Liu TS, Goke R, Chen Y. (2001). Roles of TNF-related apoptosisinducing ligand in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol* 166: 1314-1319.
- Hinz S, Trauzold A, Boenicke L, Sandberg C, Beckmann S, Bayer E et al. (2000). Bcl-XL protects pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells against CD95- and TRAIL-receptor-mediated apoptosis. Oncogene 19: 5477-5486.
- Hirano T, Gotoh M, Oka K. (1994). Natural flavonoids and lignans are potent cytostatic agents against human leukemic HL-60 cells. *Life Sci* 55: 1061-1069.
- Ho LH, Taylor R, Dorstyn L, Cakouros D, Bouillet P, Kumar S. (2009). A tumor suppressor function for caspase-2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 5336-5341.
- Hofmann K, Bucher P, Tschopp J. (1997). The CARD domain: A new apoptotic signalling motif. *Trends Biochem Sci* 22: 155-156.
- Holmbom B, Eckerman C, Eklund P, Hemming J, Nisula L, Reunanen M et al. (2004). Knots in trees - a new rich source of lignans. *Phytochemistry Reviews* 2: 331-340.
- Hood JD, Bednarski M, Frausto R, Guccione S, Reisfeld RA, Xiang R et al. (2002). Tumor regression by targeted gene delivery to the neovasculature. *Science* 296: 2404-2407.

- Horoszewicz JS, Leong SS, Kawinski E, Karr JP, Rosenthal H, Chu TM et al. (1983). LNCaP model of human prostatic carcinoma. Cancer Res 43: 1809-1818.
- Hsu H, Xiong J, Goeddel DV. (1995). The TNF receptor 1-associated protein TRADD signals cell death and NF-kappa B activation. *Cell* 81: 495-504.
- Hsu YT, Youle RJ. (1997). Nonionic detergents induce dimerization among members of the bcl-2 family. *J Biol Chem* **272**: 13829-13834.
- Hu S, Vincenz C, Ni J, Gentz R, Dixit VM. (1997). I-FLICE, a novel inhibitor of tumor necrosis factor receptor-1- and CD-95-induced apoptosis. *J Biol Chem* 272: 17255-17257.
- Hu WH, Johnson H, Shu HB. (1999). Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand receptors signal NF-kappaB and JNK activation and apoptosis through distinct pathways. *J Biol Chem* 274: 30603-30610.
- Huang PI, Chang JF, Kirn DH, Liu TC. (2009). Targeted genetic and viral therapy for advanced head and neck cancers. *Drug Discov Today* 14: 570-578.
- Hulten K, Winkvist A, Lenner P, Johansson R, Adlercreutz H, Hallmans G. (2002). An incident casereferent study on plasma enterolactone and breast cancer risk. *Eur J Nutr* 41: 168-176.
- Hylander BL, Pitoniak R, Penetrante RB, Gibbs JF, Oktay D, Cheng J et al. (2005). The anti-tumor effect of Apo2L/TRAIL on patient pancreatic adenocarcinomas grown as xenografts in SCID mice. J Transl Med 3: 22.
- Hymowitz SG, Christinger HW, Fuh G, Ultsch M, O'Connell M, Kelley RF *et al.* (1999). Triggering cell death: The crystal structure of Apo2L/TRAIL in a complex with death receptor 5. *Mol Cell* 4: 563-571.
- Hymowitz SG, O'Connell MP, Ultsch MH, Hurst A, Totpal K, Ashkenazi A *et al.* (2000). A unique zinc-binding site revealed by a high-resolution X-ray structure of homotrimeric Apo2L/TRAIL. *Biochemistry* 39: 633-640.
- Ichikawa K, Liu W, Zhao L, Wang Z, Liu D, Ohtsuka T et al. (2001). Tumoricidal activity of a novel anti-human DR5 monoclonal antibody without hepatocyte cytotoxicity. Nat Med 7: 954-960.
- Irmler M, Thome M, Hahne M, Schneider P, Hofmann K, Steiner V et al. (1997). Inhibition of death receptor signals by cellular FLIP. *Nature* 388: 190-195.
- Ishida O, Maruyama K, Tanahashi H, Iwatsuru M, Sasaki K, Eriguchi M et al. (2001). Liposomes bearing polyethyleneglycol-coupled transferrin with intracellular targeting property to the solid tumors in vivo. *Pharm Res* 18: 1042-1048.
- Ishikawa E, Nakazawa M, Yoshinari M, Minami M. (2005). Role of tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand in immune response to influenza virus infection in mice. J Virol 79: 7658-7663.
- Ishimura N, Isomoto H, Bronk SF, Gores GJ. (2006). Trail induces cell migration and invasion in apoptosis-resistant cholangiocarcinoma cells. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 290: G129-36.
- Itoh N, Nagata S. (1993). A novel protein domain required for apoptosis. mutational analysis of human fas antigen. J Biol Chem 268: 10932-10937.
- Itoh N, Yonehara S, Ishii A, Yonehara M, Mizushima S, Sameshima M et al. (1991). The polypeptide encoded by the cDNA for human cell surface antigen fas can mediate apoptosis. *Cell* 66: 233-243.

- Jacquemin G, Shirley S, Micheau O. (2010). Combining naturally occurring polyphenols with TNFrelated apoptosis-inducing ligand: A promising approach to kill resistant cancer cells? *Cell Mol Life Sci* **67**: 3115-3130.
- Jang YP, Kim SR, Kim YC. (2001). Neuroprotective dibenzylbutyrolactone lignans of torreya nucifera. *Planta Med* 67: 470-472.
- Jemal A, Thun MJ, Ries LA, Howe HL, Weir HK, Center MM et al. (2008). Annual report to the nation on the status of cancer, 1975-2005, featuring trends in lung cancer, tobacco use, and tobacco control. J Natl Cancer Inst 100: 1672-1694.
- Jiang X, Chen S, Asara JM, Balk SP. (2010). Phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway activation in phosphate and tensin homolog (PTEN)-deficient prostate cancer cells is independent of receptor tyrosine kinases and mediated by the p110beta and p110delta catalytic subunits. *J Biol Chem* 285: 14980-14989.
- Jin Z, Li Y, Pitti R, Lawrence D, Pham VC, Lill JR *et al.* (2009). Cullin3-based polyubiquitination and p62-dependent aggregation of caspase-8 mediate extrinsic apoptosis signaling. *Cell* **137**: 721-735.
- Jo M, Kim TH, Seol DW, Esplen JE, Dorko K, Billiar TR *et al.* (2000). Apoptosis induced in normal human hepatocytes by tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand. *Nat Med* **6:** 564-567.
- Joyce JA, Laakkonen P, Bernasconi M, Bergers G, Ruoslahti E, Hanahan D. (2003). Stage-specific vascular markers revealed by phage display in a mouse model of pancreatic islet tumorigenesis. *Cancer Cell* **4**: 393-403.
- Joyce JA, Pollard JW. (2009). Microenvironmental regulation of metastasis. *Nat Rev Cancer* **9:** 239-252.
- Kamer I, Sarig R, Zaltsman Y, Niv H, Oberkovitz G, Regev L *et al.* (2005). Proapoptotic BID is an ATM effector in the DNA-damage response. *Cell* **122:** 593-603.
- Kampa M, Papakonstanti EA, Hatzoglou A, Stathopoulos EN, Stournaras C, Castanas E. (2002). The human prostate cancer cell line LNCaP bears functional membrane testosterone receptors that increase PSA secretion and modify actin cytoskeleton. *FASEB J* 16: 1429-1431.
- Kandasamy K, Srinivasula SM, Alnemri ES, Thompson CB, Korsmeyer SJ, Bryant JL et al. (2003). Involvement of proapoptotic molecules bax and bak in tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosisinducing ligand (TRAIL)-induced mitochondrial disruption and apoptosis: Differential regulation of cytochrome c and Smac/DIABLO release. Cancer Res 63: 1712-1721.
- Kandasamy K, Srivastava RK. (2002). Role of the phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase/PTEN/Akt kinase pathway in tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-induced apoptosis in nonsmall cell lung cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 62: 4929-4937.
- Kane LP, Shapiro VS, Stokoe D, Weiss A. (1999). Induction of NF-kappaB by the Akt/PKB kinase. Curr Biol 9: 601-604.
- Kang K, Lee HJ, Kim CY, Lee SB, Tunsag J, Batsuren D *et al.* (2007). The chemopreventive effects of saussurea salicifolia through induction of apoptosis and phase II detoxification enzyme. *Biol Pharm Bull* **30**: 2352-2359.
- Karasic TB, Hei TK, Ivanov VN. (2010). Disruption of IGF-1R signaling increases TRAIL-induced apoptosis: A new potential therapy for the treatment of melanoma. *Exp Cell Res* 316: 1994-2007.

- Kataoka T, Budd RC, Holler N, Thome M, Martinon F, Irmler M *et al.* (2000). The caspase-8 inhibitor FLIP promotes activation of NF-kappaB and erk signaling pathways. *Curr Biol* **10**: 640-648.
- Kaunisto A, Kochin V, Asaoka T, Mikhailov A, Poukkula M, Meinander A *et al.* (2009). PKCmediated phosphorylation regulates c-FLIP ubiquitylation and stability. *Cell Death Differ* 16: 1215-1226.
- Kavanaugh WM, Williams LT. (1994). An alternative to SH2 domains for binding tyrosinephosphorylated proteins. *Science* 266: 1862-1865.
- Kayagaki N, Yamaguchi N, Nakayama M, Eto H, Okumura K, Yagita H. (1999). Type I interferons (IFNs) regulate tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) expression on human T cells: A novel mechanism for the antitumor effects of type I IFNs. J Exp Med 189: 1451-1460.
- Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Currie AR. (1972). Apoptosis: A basic biological phenomenon with wideranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br J Cancer 26: 239-257.
- Kilkkinen A, Pietinen P, Klaukka T, Virtamo J, Korhonen P, Adlercreutz H. (2002). Use of oral antimicrobials decreases serum enterolactone concentration. *Am J Epidemiol* 155: 472-477.
- Kilkkinen A, Virtamo J, Vartiainen E, Sankila R, Virtanen MJ, Adlercreutz H et al. (2004). Serum enterolactone concentration is not associated with breast cancer risk in a nested case-control study. Int J Cancer 108: 277-280.
- Kilkkinen A, Virtamo J, Virtanen MJ, Adlercreutz H, Albanes D, Pietinen P. (2003). Serum enterolactone concentration is not associated with prostate cancer risk in a nested case-control study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 12: 1209-1212.
- Kim H, Rafiuddin-Shah M, Tu HC, Jeffers JR, Zambetti GP, Hsieh JJ et al. (2006). Hierarchical regulation of mitochondrion-dependent apoptosis by BCL-2 subfamilies. Nat Cell Biol 8: 1348-1358.
- Kim JY, Hwang JH, Cha MR, Yoon MY, Son ES, Tomida A et al. (2010). Arctigenin blocks the unfolded protein response and shows therapeutic antitumor activity. J Cell Physiol 224: 33-40.
- Kim KM, Song JJ, An JY, Kwon YT, Lee YJ. (2005). Pretreatment of acetylsalicylic acid promotes tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-induced apoptosis by down-regulating BCL-2 gene expression. J Biol Chem 280: 41047-41056.
- Kim SH, Jang YP, Sung SH, Kim CJ, Kim JW, Kim YC. (2003). Hepatoprotective dibenzylbutyrolactone lignans of torreya nucifera against CCl4-induced toxicity in primary cultured rat hepatocytes. *Biol Pharm Bull* 26: 1202-1205.
- Kim YH, Lee YJ. (2007). TRAIL apoptosis is enhanced by quercetin through akt dephosphorylation. *J Cell Biochem* **100**: 998-1009.
- Kischkel FC, Hellbardt S, Behrmann I, Germer M, Pawlita M, Krammer PH *et al.* (1995). Cytotoxicity-dependent APO-1 (Fas/CD95)-associated proteins form a death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) with the receptor. *EMBO J* 14: 5579-5588.
- Kischkel FC, Lawrence DA, Chuntharapai A, Schow P, Kim KJ, Ashkenazi A. (2000). Apo2L/TRAIL-dependent recruitment of endogenous FADD and caspase-8 to death receptors 4 and 5. *Immunity* 12: 611-620.

- Kischkel FC, Lawrence DA, Tinel A, LeBlanc H, Virmani A, Schow P et al. (2001). Death receptor recruitment of endogenous caspase-10 and apoptosis initiation in the absence of caspase-8. J Biol Chem 276: 46639-46646.
- Kitamura Y, Yamagishi M, Okazaki K, Son HY, Imazawa T, Nishikawa A *et al.* (2003). Lack of significant inhibitory effects of a plant lignan tracheloside on 2-amino-1-methyl-6phenylimidazo[4,5-b]pyridine (PhIP)-induced mammary carcinogenesis in female spraguedawley rats. *Cancer Lett* **200**: 133-139.
- Kitts DD, Yuan YV, Wijewickreme AN, Thompson LU. (1999). Antioxidant activity of the flaxseed lignan secoisolariciresinol diglycoside and its mammalian lignan metabolites enterodiol and enterolactone. *Mol Cell Biochem* 202: 91-100.
- Klippel A, Kavanaugh WM, Pot D, Williams LT. (1997). A specific product of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase directly activates the protein kinase akt through its pleckstrin homology domain. *Mol Cell Biol* 17: 338-344.
- Kohlhaas SL, Craxton A, Sun XM, Pinkoski MJ, Cohen GM. (2007). Receptor-mediated endocytosis is not required for tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 282: 12831-12841.
- Kohn AD, Summers SA, Birnbaum MJ, Roth RA. (1996). Expression of a constitutively active akt Ser/Thr kinase in 3T3-L1 adipocytes stimulates glucose uptake and glucose transporter 4 translocation. *J Biol Chem* **271**: 31372-31378.
- Koschny R, Walczak H, Ganten TM. (2007). The promise of TRAIL--potential and risks of a novel anticancer therapy. J Mol Med 85: 923-935.
- Krelin Y, Zhang L, Kang TB, Appel E, Kovalenko A, Wallach D. (2008). Caspase-8 deficiency facilitates cellular transformation in vitro. *Cell Death Differ* 15: 1350-1355.
- Krueger A, Schmitz I, Baumann S, Krammer PH, Kirchhoff S. (2001). Cellular FLICE-inhibitory protein splice variants inhibit different steps of caspase-8 activation at the CD95 death-inducing signaling complex. *J Biol Chem* 276: 20633-20640.
- Kuang AA, Diehl GE, Zhang J, Winoto A. (2000). FADD is required for DR4- and DR5-mediated apoptosis: Lack of trail-induced apoptosis in FADD-deficient mouse embryonic fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 275: 25065-25068.
- Kukowska-Latallo JF, Candido KA, Cao Z, Nigavekar SS, Majoros IJ, Thomas TP *et al.* (2005). Nanoparticle targeting of anticancer drug improves therapeutic response in animal model of human epithelial cancer. *Cancer Res* 65: 5317-5324.
- Kumar B, Koul S, Khandrika L, Meacham RB, Koul HK. (2008). Oxidative stress is inherent in prostate cancer cells and is required for aggressive phenotype. *Cancer Res* 68: 1777-1785.
- Kuwana T, Mackey MR, Perkins G, Ellisman MH, Latterich M, Schneiter R *et al.* (2002). Bid, bax, and lipids cooperate to form supramolecular openings in the outer mitochondrial membrane. *Cell* **111:** 331-342.
- LaCasse EC, Mahoney DJ, Cheung HH, Plenchette S, Baird S, Korneluk RG. (2008). IAP-targeted therapies for cancer. *Oncogene* 27: 6252-6275.
- Lacronique V, Mignon A, Fabre M, Viollet B, Rouquet N, Molina T *et al.* (1996). Bcl-2 protects from lethal hepatic apoptosis induced by an anti-fas antibody in mice. *Nat Med* **2:** 80-86.

- Lamhamedi-Cherradi SE, Zheng SJ, Maguschak KA, Peschon J, Chen YH. (2003). Defective thymocyte apoptosis and accelerated autoimmune diseases in TRAIL-/- mice. *Nat Immunol* 4: 255-260.
- Lander HM. (1997). An essential role for free radicals and derived species in signal transduction. *FASEB J* 11: 118-124.
- Lawrence D, Shahrokh Z, Marsters S, Achilles K, Shih D, Mounho B et al. (2001). Differential hepatocyte toxicity of recombinant Apo2L/TRAIL versions. Nat Med 7: 383-385.
- LeBlanc H, Lawrence D, Varfolomeev E, Totpal K, Morlan J, Schow P *et al.* (2002). Tumor-cell resistance to death receptor--induced apoptosis through mutational inactivation of the proapoptotic bcl-2 homolog bax. *Nat Med* **8**: 274-281.
- LeBlanc HN, Ashkenazi A. (2003). Apo2L/TRAIL and its death and decoy receptors. *Cell Death Differ* **10**: 66-75.
- Lee DH, Szczepanski MJ, Lee YJ. (2009). Magnolol induces apoptosis via inhibiting the EGFR/PI3K/Akt signaling pathway in human prostate cancer cells. J Cell Biochem 106: 1113-1122.
- Lee ES, Na K, Bae YH. (2005). Doxorubicin loaded pH-sensitive polymeric micelles for reversal of resistant MCF-7 tumor. J Control Release 103: 405-418.
- Lee JH, Lee JY, Kim TD, Kim CJ. (2010). Antiasthmatic action of dibenzylbutyrolactone lignans from fruits of forsythia viridissima on asthmatic responses to ovalbumin challenge in conscious guinea-pigs. *Phytother Res*.
- Lee KH, Feig C, Tchikov V, Schickel R, Hallas C, Schutze S et al. (2006). The role of receptor internalization in CD95 signaling. EMBO J 25: 1009-1023.
- Lee KH, Tagahara K, Suzuki H, Wu RY, Haruna M, Hall IH *et al.* (1981). Antitumor agents. 49 tricin, kaempferol-3-O-beta-D-glucopyranoside and (+)-nortrachelogenin, antileukemic principles from wikstroemia indica. *J Nat Prod* 44: 530-535.
- Lee SY, Reichlin A, Santana A, Sokol KA, Nussenzweig MC, Choi Y. (1997). TRAF2 is essential for JNK but not NF-kappaB activation and regulates lymphocyte proliferation and survival. *Immunity* 7: 703-713.
- Lei K, Davis RJ. (2003). JNK phosphorylation of bim-related members of the Bcl2 family induces bax-dependent apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100: 2432-2437.
- Lemmon MA, Schlessinger J. (2010). Cell signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. Cell 141: 1117-1134.
- Leu JI, Dumont P, Hafey M, Murphy ME, George DL. (2004). Mitochondrial p53 activates bak and causes disruption of a bak-Mcl1 complex. *Nat Cell Biol* **6**: 443-450.
- Lewis NG, Kato MJ, Lopes N, Davin LB. (1995). Seidl PR, Gottlieb OR, Kaplan MAC (eds). *Chemistry of the Amazon.* American Chemical Society: pp 135.
- Ley R, Balmanno K, Hadfield K, Weston C, Cook SJ. (2003). Activation of the ERK1/2 signaling pathway promotes phosphorylation and proteasome-dependent degradation of the BH3-only protein, bim. J Biol Chem 278: 18811-18816.
- Li D, Yee JA, Thompson LU, Yan L. (1999). Dietary supplementation with secoisolariciresinol diglycoside (SDG) reduces experimental metastasis of melanoma cells in mice. *Cancer Lett* 142: 91-96.

- Li H, Zhu H, Xu CJ, Yuan J. (1998). Cleavage of BID by caspase 8 mediates the mitochondrial damage in the fas pathway of apoptosis. *Cell* **94:** 491-501.
- Li J, Yen C, Liaw D, Podsypanina K, Bose S, Wang SI *et al.* (1997). PTEN, a putative protein tyrosine phosphatase gene mutated in human brain, breast, and prostate cancer. *Science* 275: 1943-1947.
- Li L, Thomas RM, Suzuki H, De Brabander JK, Wang X, Harran PG. (2004). A small molecule smac mimic potentiates TRAIL- and TNFalpha-mediated cell death. *Science* **305**: 1471-1474.
- Li LY, Luo X, Wang X. (2001). Endonuclease G is an apoptotic DNase when released from mitochondria. *Nature* **412**: 95-99.
- Liang J, Slingerland JM. (2003). Multiple roles of the PI3K/PKB (akt) pathway in cell cycle progression. *Cell Cycle* 2: 339-345.
- Liao Y, Hung MC. (2010). Physiological regulation of akt activity and stability. *Am J Transl Res* 2: 19-42.
- Lin X, Switzer BR, Demark-Wahnefried W. (2001). Effect of mammalian lignans on the growth of prostate cancer cell lines. *Anticancer Res* **21**: 3995-3999.
- Lin Y, Devin A, Cook A, Keane MM, Kelliher M, Lipkowitz S et al. (2000). The death domain kinase RIP is essential for TRAIL (Apo2L)-induced activation of IkappaB kinase and c-jun Nterminal kinase. *Mol Cell Biol* 20: 6638-6645.
- Lin YS, Haynes CL. (2010). Impacts of mesoporous silica nanoparticle size, pore ordering, and pore integrity on hemolytic activity. *J Am Chem Soc* 132: 4834-4842.
- Lindsten T, Ross AJ, King A, Zong WX, Rathmell JC, Shiels HA *et al.* (2000). The combined functions of proapoptotic bcl-2 family members bak and bax are essential for normal development of multiple tissues. *Mol Cell* 6: 1389-1399.
- Liong M, Lu J, Kovochich M, Xia T, Ruehm SG, Nel AE et al. (2008). Multifunctional inorganic nanoparticles for imaging, targeting, and drug delivery. ACS Nano 2: 889-896.
- Liu J, Stace-Naughton A, Jiang X, Brinker CJ. (2009). Porous nanoparticle supported lipid bilayers (protocells) as delivery vehicles. *J Am Chem Soc* **131**: 1354-1355.
- Liu S, Yu Y, Zhang M, Wang W, Cao X. (2001). The involvement of TNF-alpha-related apoptosisinducing ligand in the enhanced cytotoxicity of IFN-beta-stimulated human dendritic cells to tumor cells. J Immunol 166: 5407-5415.
- LoRusso P, Hong D, Heath E, Kurzrock R, Wang D, Hsu M et al. (2007). First-in-human study of AMG 655, a pro-apoptotic TRAIL receptor-2 agonist, in adult patients with advanced solid tumors. J Clin Oncol, ASCO Annual Meeting Proceedings 25: 3534.
- Lovell JF, Billen LP, Bindner S, Shamas-Din A, Fradin C, Leber B *et al.* (2008). Membrane binding by tBid initiates an ordered series of events culminating in membrane permeabilization by bax. *Cell* **135**: 1074-1084.
- Lovric MM, Hawkins CJ. (2010). TRAIL treatment provokes mutations in surviving cells. *Oncogene*.
- Low PS, Kularatne SA. (2009). Folate-targeted therapeutic and imaging agents for cancer. *Curr Opin Chem Biol* 13: 256-262.
- Lu J, Choi E, Tamanoi F, Zink JI. (2008). Light-activated nanoimpeller-controlled drug release in cancer cells. Small 4: 421-426.

- Lu J, Liong M, Li Z, Zink JI, Tamanoi F. (2010). Biocompatibility, biodistribution, and drug-delivery efficiency of mesoporous silica nanoparticles for cancer therapy in animals. *Small* **6**: 1794-1805.
- ^bLu J, Liong M, Sherman S, Xia T, Kovochich M, Nel AE *et al.* (2007). Mesoporous silica nanoparticles for cancer therapy: Energy-dependent cellular uptake and delivery of paclitaxel to cancer cells. *Nanobiotechnology* **3**: 89-95.
- ^aLu J, Liong M, Zink JI, Tamanoi F. (2007). Mesoporous silica nanoparticles as a delivery system for hydrophobic anticancer drugs. *Small* **3:** 1341-1346.
- Lu Y, Zi X, Zhao Y, Mascarenhas D, Pollak M. (2001). Insulin-like growth factor-I receptor signaling and resistance to trastuzumab (herceptin). J Natl Cancer Inst 93: 1852-1857.
- Lub-de Hooge MN, de Vries EG, de Jong S, Bijl M. (2005). Soluble TRAIL concentrations are raised in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann Rheum Dis* **64**: 854-858.
- Luo X, Budihardjo I, Zou H, Slaughter C, Wang X. (1998). Bid, a Bcl2 interacting protein, mediates cytochrome c release from mitochondria in response to activation of cell surface death receptors. *Cell* 94: 481-490.
- Luthi AU, Martin SJ. (2007). The CASBAH: A searchable database of caspase substrates. Cell Death Differ 14: 641-650.
- Lu-Yao GL, Albertsen PC, Moore DF, Shih W, Lin Y, DiPaola RS *et al.* (2008). Survival following primary androgen deprivation therapy among men with localized prostate cancer. *JAMA* 300: 173-181.
- MacFarlane M, Cohen GM, Dickens M. (2000). JNK (c-jun N-terminal kinase) and p38 activation in receptor-mediated and chemically-induced apoptosis of T-cells: Differential requirements for caspase activation. *Biochem J* 348 Pt 1: 93-101.
- Maehama T, Dixon JE. (1998). The tumor suppressor, PTEN/MMAC1, dephosphorylates the lipid second messenger, phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate. J Biol Chem 273: 13375-13378.
- Mahadev K, Zilbering A, Zhu L, Goldstein BJ. (2001). Insulin-stimulated hydrogen peroxide reversibly inhibits protein-tyrosine phosphatase 1b in vivo and enhances the early insulin action cascade. *J Biol Chem* 276: 21938-21942.
- Mai J, Song S, Rui M, Liu D, Ding Q, Peng J et al. (2009). A synthetic peptide mediated active targeting of cisplatin liposomes to Tie2 expressing cells. J Control Release 139: 174-181.
- Maksimow M, Söderström TS, Jalkanen S, Eriksson JE, Hänninen A. (2006). Fas costimulation of naive CD4 T cells is controlled by NF-kappaB signaling and caspase activity. *J Leukoc Biol* 79: 369-377.
- Mamaeva M, Rosenholm JM, Bate-Eya LT, Bergman L, Peuhu E, Lindén M *et al*. Mesoporous silica nanoparticles gamma secretase delivery systems for targeted inhibition of notch signaling in breast cancer. *submitted for publication*.
- Mandic A, Viktorsson K, Strandberg L, Heiden T, Hansson J, Linder S et al. (2002). Calpainmediated bid cleavage and calpain-independent bak modulation: Two separate pathways in cisplatin-induced apoptosis. *Mol Cell Biol* 22: 3003-3013.
- Maniati E, Potter P, Rogers NJ, Morley BJ. (2008). Control of apoptosis in autoimmunity. J Pathol 214: 190-198.
- Manzl C, Krumschnabel G, Bock F, Sohm B, Labi V, Baumgartner F *et al.* (2009). Caspase-2 activation in the absence of PIDDosome formation. *J Cell Biol* **185**: 291-303.

- Marchenko ND, Zaika A, Moll UM. (2000). Death signal-induced localization of p53 protein to mitochondria. A potential role in apoptotic signaling. J Biol Chem 275: 16202-16212.
- Margolis B, Skolnik EY. (1994). Activation of ras by receptor tyrosine kinases. J Am Soc Nephrol 5: 1288-1299.
- Mariani SM, Krammer PH. (1998). Differential regulation of TRAIL and CD95 ligand in transformed cells of the T and B lymphocyte lineage. *Eur J Immunol* **28**: 973-982.
- Martinez-Lostao L, Garcia-Alvarez F, Basanez G, Alegre-Aguaron E, Desportes P, Larrad L et al. (2010). Liposome-bound APO2L/TRAIL is an effective treatment in a rabbit model of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 62: 2272-2282.
- Martinon F, Burns K, Tschopp J. (2002). The inflammasome: A molecular platform triggering activation of inflammatory caspases and processing of proIL-beta. *Mol Cell* 10: 417-426.
- Matsumura Y, Maeda H. (1986). A new concept for macromolecular therapeutics in cancer chemotherapy: Mechanism of tumoritropic accumulation of proteins and the antitumor agent smanes. *Cancer Res* 46: 6387-6392.
- Mayo LD, Donner DB. (2001). A phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway promotes translocation of Mdm2 from the cytoplasm to the nucleus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **98**: 11598-11603.
- McCann MJ, Gill CI, Linton T, Berrar D, McGlynn H, Rowland IR. (2008). Enterolactone restricts the proliferation of the LNCaP human prostate cancer cell line in vitro. *Mol.Nutr.Food Res.* 52: 567-580.
- McCann SE, Moysich KB, Freudenheim JL, Ambrosone CB, Shields PG. (2002). The risk of breast cancer associated with dietary lignans differs by CYP17 genotype in women. J Nutr 132: 3036-3041.
- Medema JP, Scaffidi C, Kischkel FC, Shevchenko A, Mann M, Krammer PH *et al.* (1997). FLICE is activated by association with the CD95 death-inducing signaling complex (DISC). *EMBO J* 16: 2794-2804.
- Medola JF, Cintra VP, Pesqueira E Silva EP, de Andrade Royo V, da Silva R, Saraiva J *et al.* (2007).
 (-)-Hinokinin causes antigenotoxicity but not genotoxicity in peripheral blood of wistar rats. *Food Chem Toxicol* 45: 638-642.
- Meijerman I, Beijnen JH, Schellens JH. (2008). Combined action and regulation of phase II enzymes and multidrug resistance proteins in multidrug resistance in cancer. *Cancer Treat Rev* **34:** 505-520.
- Melief CJ, van der Burg SH. (2008). Immunotherapy of established (pre)malignant disease by synthetic long peptide vaccines. *Nat Rev Cancer* 8: 351-360.
- Mellier G, Huang S, Shenoy K, Pervaiz S. (2010). TRAILing death in cancer. *Mol Aspects Med* 31: 93-112.
- Mercer J, Schelhaas M, Helenius A. (2010). Virus entry by endocytosis. Annu Rev Biochem 79: 803-833.
- Merino D, Giam M, Hughes PD, Siggs OM, Heger K, O'Reilly LA et al. (2009). The role of BH3only protein bim extends beyond inhibiting bcl-2-like prosurvival proteins. J Cell Biol 186: 355-362.

- Merino D, Lalaoui N, Morizot A, Schneider P, Solary E, Micheau O. (2006). Differential inhibition of TRAIL-mediated DR5-DISC formation by decoy receptors 1 and 2. *Mol Cell Biol* 26: 7046-7055.
- Migone TS, Zhang J, Luo X, Zhuang L, Chen C, Hu B et al. (2002). TL1A is a TNF-like ligand for DR3 and TR6/DcR3 and functions as a T cell costimulator. *Immunity* 16: 479-492.
- Mishra PK, Gulbake A, Jain A, Vyas SP, Jain SK. (2009). Targeted delivery of an anti-cancer agent via steroid coupled liposomes. *Drug Deliv* 16: 437-447.
- Miura D, Saarinen NM, Miura Y, Santti R, Yagasaki K. (2007). Hydroxymatairesinol and its mammalian metabolite enterolactone reduce the growth and metastasis of subcutaneous AH109A hepatomas in rats. *Nutr Cancer* 58: 49-59.
- Moghimi SM, Hunter AC, Murray JC. (2001). Long-circulating and target-specific nanoparticles: Theory to practice. *Pharmacol Rev* **53**: 283-318.
- Morgan TM, Koreckij TD, Corey E. (2009). Targeted therapy for advanced prostate cancer: Inhibition of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* 9: 237-249.
- Mori E, Thomas M, Motoki K, Nakazawa K, Tahara T, Tomizuka K et al. (2004). Human normal hepatocytes are susceptible to apoptosis signal mediated by both TRAIL-R1 and TRAIL-R2. Cell Death Differ 11: 203-207.
- Mortera R, Vivero-Escoto J, Slowing II, Garrone E, Onida B, Lin VS. (2009). Cell-induced intracellular controlled release of membrane impermeable cysteine from a mesoporous silica nanoparticle-based drug delivery system. *Chem Commun (Camb)* (22): 3219-3221.
- Mueller SO, Simon S, Chae K, Metzler M, Korach KS. (2004). Phytoestrogens and their human metabolites show distinct agonistic and antagonistic properties on estrogen receptor alpha (ERalpha) and ERbeta in human cells. *Toxicol Sci* 80: 14-25.
- Muhlenbeck F, Haas E, Schwenzer R, Schubert G, Grell M, Smith C et al. (1998). TRAIL/Apo2L activates c-jun NH2-terminal kinase (JNK) via caspase-dependent and caspase-independent pathways. J Biol Chem 273: 33091-33098.
- Muller N, Schneider B, Pfizenmaier K, Wajant H. (2010). Superior serum half life of albumin tagged TNF ligands. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **396**: 793-799.
- Muller S, Rihs S, Schneider JM, Paredes BE, Seibold I, Brunner T *et al.* (2009). Soluble TNF-alpha but not transmembrane TNF-alpha sensitizes T cells for enhanced activation-induced cell death. *Eur J Immunol* 39: 3171-3180.
- Muppidi JR, Siegel RM. (2004). Ligand-independent redistribution of fas (CD95) into lipid rafts mediates clonotypic T cell death. *Nat Immunol* 5: 182-189.
- Muta Y, Oyama S, Umezawa T, Shimada M, Inouye K. (2004). Inhibitory effects of lignans on the activity of human matrix metalloproteinase 7 (matrilysin). J Agric Food Chem 52: 5888-5894.
- Muzio M, Chinnaiyan AM, Kischkel FC, O'Rourke K, Shevchenko A, Ni J et al. (1996). FLICE, a novel FADD-homologous ICE/CED-3-like protease, is recruited to the CD95 (Fas/APO-1) deathinducing signaling complex. Cell 85: 817-827.
- Muzio M, Stockwell BR, Stennicke HR, Salvesen GS, Dixit VM. (1998). An induced proximity model for caspase-8 activation. *J Biol Chem* 273: 2926-2930.

- Nakamura T, Yamada Y, Yano K. (2007). Direct synthesis of monodispersed thiol-functionalized nanoporous silica spheres and their application to a colloidal crystal embedded with gold nanoparticles. J Mater Chem 17: 3726–3732.
- Nakano D, Kurumazuka D, Nagai Y, Nishiyama A, Kiso Y, Matsumura Y. (2008). Dietary sesamin suppresses aortic NADPH oxidase in DOCA salt hypertensive rats. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* 35: 324-326.
- Nel AE, Madler L, Velegol D, Xia T, Hoek EM, Somasundaran P *et al.* (2009). Understanding biophysicochemical interactions at the nano-bio interface. *Nat Mater* **8**: 543-557.
- Nesterov A, Lu X, Johnson M, Miller GJ, Ivashchenko Y, Kraft AS. (2001). Elevated AKT activity protects the prostate cancer cell line LNCaP from TRAIL-induced apoptosis. *J Biol Chem* 276: 10767-10774.
- Nguyen DX, Bos PD, Massague J. (2009). Metastasis: From dissemination to organ-specific colonization. *Nat Rev Cancer* **9**: 274-284.
- Nielsen UB, Kirpotin DB, Pickering EM, Hong K, Park JW, Refaat Shalaby M et al. (2002). Therapeutic efficacy of anti-ErbB2 immunoliposomes targeted by a phage antibody selected for cellular endocytosis. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1591: 109-118.
- ^bNieminen AI, Partanen JI, Hau A, Klefstrom J. (2007). c-myc primed mitochondria determine cellular sensitivity to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. *EMBO J* **26:** 1055-1067.
- ^aNieminen AI, Partanen JI, Klefstrom J. (2007). c-myc blazing a trail of death: Coupling of the mitochondrial and death receptor apoptosis pathways by c-myc. *Cell Cycle* **6**: 2464-2472.
- Nikaido T, Ohmoto T, Noguchi H, Kinoshita T, Saitoh H, Sankawa U. (1981). Inhibitors of cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase in medicinal plants. *Planta Med* **43**: 18-23.
- Nikolaev A, McLaughlin T, O'Leary DD, Tessier-Lavigne M. (2009). APP binds DR6 to trigger axon pruning and neuron death via distinct caspases. *Nature* **457**: 981-989.
- Nitsch R, Bechmann I, Deisz RA, Haas D, Lehmann TN, Wendling U *et al.* (2000). Human braincell death induced by tumour-necrosis-factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL). *Lancet* **356**: 827-828.
- Normanno N, De Luca A, Carotenuto P, Lamura L, Oliva I, D'Alessio A. (2009). Prognostic applications of gene expression signatures in breast cancer. Oncology 77 Suppl 1: 2-8.
- Oehm A, Behrmann I, Falk W, Pawlita M, Maier G, Klas C et al. (1992). Purification and molecular cloning of the APO-1 cell surface antigen, a member of the tumor necrosis factor/nerve growth factor receptor superfamily. sequence identity with the fas antigen. J Biol Chem 267: 10709-10715.
- Ogasawara J, Watanabe-Fukunaga R, Adachi M, Matsuzawa A, Kasugai T, Kitamura Y *et al.* (1993). Lethal effect of the anti-fas antibody in mice. *Nature* **364:** 806-809.
- Oikarinen SI, Pajari A, Mutanen M. (2000). Chemopreventive activity of crude hydroxsymatairesinol (HMR) extract in apc(min) mice. *Cancer Lett* **161**: 253-258.
- Oltersdorf T, Elmore SW, Shoemaker AR, Armstrong RC, Augeri DJ, Belli BA *et al.* (2005). An inhibitor of bcl-2 family proteins induces regression of solid tumours. *Nature* **435**: 677-681.
- O'Reilly LA, Tai L, Lee L, Kruse EA, Grabow S, Fairlie WD *et al.* (2009). Membrane-bound fas ligand only is essential for fas-induced apoptosis. *Nature* **461**: 659-663.

- Pagliari LJ, Kuwana T, Bonzon C, Newmeyer DD, Tu S, Beere HM et al. (2005). The multidomain proapoptotic molecules bax and bak are directly activated by heat. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102: 17975-17980.
- Pan JY, Chen SL, Yang MH, Wu J, Sinkkonen J, Zou K. (2009). An update on lignans: Natural products and synthesis. *Nat Prod Rep* 26: 1251-1292.
- Panka DJ, Mano T, Suhara T, Walsh K, Mier JW. (2001). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt activity regulates c-FLIP expression in tumor cells. J Biol Chem 276: 6893-6896.
- Papadopoulou N, Papakonstanti EA, Kallergi G, Alevizopoulos K, Stournaras C. (2009). Membrane androgen receptor activation in prostate and breast tumor cells: Molecular signaling and clinical impact. *IUBMB Life* 61: 56-61.
- Papoff G, Hausler P, Eramo A, Pagano MG, Di Leve G, Signore A et al. (1999). Identification and characterization of a ligand-independent oligomerization domain in the extracellular region of the CD95 death receptor. J Biol Chem 274: 38241-38250.
- Park IY, Kim IY, Yoo MK, Choi YJ, Cho MH, Cho CS. (2008). Mannosylated polyethylenimine coupled mesoporous silica nanoparticles for receptor-mediated gene delivery. *Int J Pharm* 359: 280-287.
- ^bPark JH, Gu L, von Maltzahn G, Ruoslahti E, Bhatia SN, Sailor MJ. (2009). Biodegradable luminescent porous silicon nanoparticles for in vivo applications. *Nat Mater* **8:** 331-336.
- ^aPark SY, Wilkens LR, Franke AA, Le Marchand L, Kakazu KK, Goodman MT *et al.* (2009). Urinary phytoestrogen excretion and prostate cancer risk: A nested case-control study in the multiethnic cohort. *Br J Cancer* 101: 185-191.
- Paulos CM, Reddy JA, Leamon CP, Turk MJ, Low PS. (2004). Ligand binding and kinetics of folate receptor recycling in vivo: Impact on receptor-mediated drug delivery. *Mol Pharmacol* 66: 1406-1414.
- Penalvo JL, Heinonen SM, Aura AM, Adlercreutz H. (2005). Dietary sesamin is converted to enterolactone in humans. J Nutr 135: 1056-1062.
- Perez C, Albert I, DeFay K, Zachariades N, Gooding L, Kriegler M. (1990). A nonsecretable cell surface mutant of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) kills by cell-to-cell contact. *Cell* 63: 251-258.
- Petrylak DP, Tangen CM, Hussain MH, Lara PN, Jr, Jones JA, Taplin ME *et al.* (2004). Docetaxel and estramustine compared with mitoxantrone and prednisone for advanced refractory prostate cancer. N Engl J Med 351: 1513-1520.
- Pietinen P, Stumpf K, Männistö S, Kataja V, Uusitupa M, Adlercreutz H. (2001). Serum enterolactone and risk of breast cancer: A case-control study in eastern finland. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 10: 339-344.
- Pirollo KF, Chang EH. (2008). Does a targeting ligand influence nanoparticle tumor localization or uptake? *Trends Biotechnol* 26: 552-558.
- Pitti RM, Marsters SA, Lawrence DA, Roy M, Kischkel FC, Dowd P et al. (1998). Genomic amplification of a decoy receptor for fas ligand in lung and colon cancer. Nature 396: 699-703.
- Pitti RM, Marsters SA, Ruppert S, Donahue CJ, Moore A, Ashkenazi A. (1996). Induction of apoptosis by apo-2 ligand, a new member of the tumor necrosis factor cytokine family. *J Biol Chem* 271: 12687-12690.

- Pool-Zobel BL, Adlercreutz H, Glei M, Liegibel UM, Sittlingon J, Rowland I et al. (2000). Isoflavonoids and lignans have different potentials to modulate oxidative genetic damage in human colon cells. *Carcinogenesis* 21: 1247-1252.
- Pop C, Fitzgerald P, Green DR, Salvesen GS. (2007). Role of proteolysis in caspase-8 activation and stabilization. *Biochemistry* 46: 4398-4407.
- Prasad K. (2000). Antioxidant activity of secoisolariciresinol diglucoside-derived metabolites, secoisolariciresinol, enterodiol, and enterolactone. *Int J Angiol* **9**: 220-225.
- Prasad KV, Prabhakar BS. (2003). Apoptosis and autoimmune disorders. Autoimmunity 36: 323-330.
- Qi XJ, Wildey GM, Howe PH. (2006). Evidence that Ser87 of BimEL is phosphorylated by akt and regulates BimEL apoptotic function. *J Biol Chem* **281**: 813-823.
- Radu DR, Lai CY, Jeftinija K, Rowe EW, Jeftinija S, Lin VS. (2004). A polyamidoamine dendrimercapped mesoporous silica nanosphere-based gene transfection reagent. J Am Chem Soc 126: 13216-13217.
- Raja SM, Chen S, Yue P, Acker TM, Lefkove B, Arbiser JL et al. (2008). The natural product honokiol preferentially inhibits cellular FLICE-inhibitory protein and augments death receptorinduced apoptosis. *Mol Cancer Ther* 7: 2212-2223.
- Raught B, Gingras AC, Sonenberg N. (2001). The target of rapamycin (TOR) proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98: 7037-7044.
- Ravi R, Bedi A. (2002). Requirement of BAX for TRAIL/Apo2L-induced apoptosis of colorectal cancers: Synergism with sulindac-mediated inhibition of bcl-x(L). *Cancer Res* **62**: 1583-1587.
- Ravi R, Jain AJ, Schulick RD, Pham V, Prouser TS, Allen H *et al.* (2004). Elimination of hepatic metastases of colon cancer cells via p53-independent cross-talk between irinotecan and Apo2 ligand/TRAIL. *Cancer Res* 64: 9105-9114.
- Ray S, Bucur O, Almasan A. (2005). Sensitization of prostate carcinoma cells to Apo2L/TRAIL by a bcl-2 family protein inhibitor. *Apoptosis* 10: 1411-1418.
- Reiners JJ,Jr, Caruso JA, Mathieu P, Chelladurai B, Yin XM, Kessel D. (2002). Release of cytochrome c and activation of pro-caspase-9 following lysosomal photodamage involves bid cleavage. *Cell Death Differ* 9: 934-944.
- Rejman J, Oberle V, Zuhorn IS, Hoekstra D. (2004). Size-dependent internalization of particles via the pathways of clathrin- and caveolae-mediated endocytosis. *Biochem J* 377: 159-169.
- Renatus M, Stennicke HR, Scott FL, Liddington RC, Salvesen GS. (2001). Dimer formation drives the activation of the cell death protease caspase 9. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98: 14250-14255.
- Rieux-Laucat F, Le Deist F, Hivroz C, Roberts IA, Debatin KM, Fischer A *et al.* (1995). Mutations in fas associated with human lymphoproliferative syndrome and autoimmunity. *Science* **268**: 1347-1349.
- Ripple MO, Henry WF, Rago RP, Wilding G. (1997). Prooxidant-antioxidant shift induced by androgen treatment of human prostate carcinoma cells. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **89**: 40-48.
- Rohn TT. (2010). The role of caspases in alzheimer's disease; potential novel therapeutic opportunities. *Apoptosis*.
- Rokhlin OW, Taghiyev AF, Guseva NV, Glover RA, Syrbu SI, Cohen MB. (2002). TRAIL-DISC formation is androgen-dependent in the human prostatic carcinoma cell line LNCaP. *Cancer.Biol.Ther.* 1: 631-637.

- Rosato RR, Almenara JA, Coe S, Grant S. (2007). The multikinase inhibitor sorafenib potentiates TRAIL lethality in human leukemia cells in association with mcl-1 and cFLIPL down-regulation. *Cancer Res* 67: 9490-9500.
- Rosenholm JM, Lindén M. (2008). Towards establishing structure-activity relationships for mesoporous silica in drug delivery applications. J Control Release 128: 157-164.
- Rosenholm JM, Lindén M. (2007). Wet-chemical analysis of surface concentration of accessible groups on different amino-functionalized mesoporous SBA-15 silicas. *Chem Mater* 19: 5023– 5034.
- Rosenholm JM, Penninkangas A, Lindén M. (2006). Amino-functionalization of large-pore mesoscopically ordered silica by a one-step hyperbranching polymerization of a surface-grown polyethyleneimine. *Chem Commun (Camb)* (37): 3909-3911.
- Rosenholm JM, Sahlgren C, Lindén M. (2010). Towards multifunctional, targeted drug delivery systems using mesoporous silica nanoparticles opportunities & challenges. *Nanoscale*.
- Rossin A, Derouet M, Abdel-Sater F, Hueber AO. (2009). Palmitoylation of the TRAIL receptor DR4 confers an efficient TRAIL-induced cell death signalling. *Biochem J* 419: 185-92, 2 p following 192.
- Russell PJ, Kingsley EA. (2003). Human prostate cancer cell lines. Methods Mol Med 81: 21-39.
- Saarinen NM, Penttinen PE, Smeds AI, Hurmerinta TT, Mäkelä SI. (2005). Structural determinants of plant lignans for growth of mammary tumors and hormonal responses in vivo. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 93: 209-219.
- Saarinen NM, Thompson LU. (2010). Prolonged administration of secoisolariciresinol diglycoside increases lignan excretion and alters lignan tissue distribution in adult male and female rats. Br J Nutr 1-9.
- Saarinen NM, Wärri A, Airio M, Smeds A, Mäkelä S. (2007). Role of dietary lignans in the reduction of breast cancer risk. *Mol.Nutr.Food Res.* 51: 857-866.
- Saarinen NM, Wärri A, Dings RP, Airio M, Smeds AI, Mäkelä S. (2008). Dietary lariciresinol attenuates mammary tumor growth and reduces blood vessel density in human MCF-7 breast cancer xenografts and carcinogen-induced mammary tumors in rats. *Int J Cancer* 123: 1196-1204.
- Saarinen NM, Wärri A, Mäkelä SI, Eckerman C, Reunanen M, Ahotupa M et al. (2000). Hydroxymatairesinol, a novel enterolactone precursor with antitumor properties from coniferous tree (picea abies). Nutr Cancer 36: 207-216.
- Safa AR, Day TW, Wu CH. (2008). Cellular FLICE-like inhibitory protein (C-FLIP): A novel target for cancer therapy. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets* 8: 37-46.
- Saggar JK, Chen J, Corey P, Thompson LU. (2010). The effect of secoisolariciresinol diglucoside and flaxseed oil, alone and in combination, on MCF-7 tumor growth and signaling pathways. *Nutr Cancer* 62: 533-542.
- Saleem M, Kim HJ, Ali MS, Lee YS. (2005). An update on bioactive plant lignans. Nat Prod Rep 22: 696-716.
- Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM, Sabatini DM. (2005). Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. *Science* 307: 1098-1101.

- Sarker D, Reid AH, Yap TA, de Bono JS. (2009). Targeting the PI3K/AKT pathway for the treatment of prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* **15**: 4799-4805.
- Scaffidi C, Fulda S, Srinivasan A, Friesen C, Li F, Tomaselli KJ et al. (1998). Two CD95 (APO-1/Fas) signaling pathways. EMBO J 17: 1675-1687.
- Schlessinger J. (2000). Cell signaling by receptor tyrosine kinases. Cell 103: 211-225.
- Schmiegelow K. (2009). Advances in individual prediction of methotrexate toxicity: A review. Br J Haematol 146: 489-503.
- Schmitt CA, Rosenthal CT, Lowe SW. (2000). Genetic analysis of chemoresistance in primary murine lymphomas. *Nat Med* 6: 1029-1035.
- Schneider P, Olson D, Tardivel A, Browning B, Lugovskoy A, Gong D et al. (2003). Identification of a new murine tumor necrosis factor receptor locus that contains two novel murine receptors for tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL). J Biol Chem 278: 5444-5454.
- Schneider P, Thome M, Burns K, Bodmer JL, Hofmann K, Kataoka T et al. (1997). TRAIL receptors 1 (DR4) and 2 (DR5) signal FADD-dependent apoptosis and activate NF-kappaB. *Immunity* 7: 831-836.
- Schneider-Brachert W, Tchikov V, Neumeyer J, Jakob M, Winoto-Morbach S, Held-Feindt J et al. (2004). Compartmentalization of TNF receptor 1 signaling: Internalized TNF receptosomes as death signaling vesicles. *Immunity* 21: 415-428.
- Schutze S, Tchikov V, Schneider-Brachert W. (2008). Regulation of TNFR1 and CD95 signalling by receptor compartmentalization. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **9**: 655-662.
- Secchiero P, Gonelli A, Carnevale E, Milani D, Pandolfi A, Zella D *et al.* (2003). TRAIL promotes the survival and proliferation of primary human vascular endothelial cells by activating the akt and ERK pathways. *Circulation* **107**: 2250-2256.
- Sedger LM, Glaccum MB, Schuh JC, Kanaly ST, Williamson E, Kayagaki N *et al.* (2002). Characterization of the in vivo function of TNF-alpha-related apoptosis-inducing ligand, TRAIL/Apo2L, using TRAIL/Apo2L gene-deficient mice. *Eur J Immunol* **32:** 2246-2254.
- Setchell KD, Lawson AM, Borriello SP, Harkness R, Gordon H, Morgan DM *et al.* (1981). Lignan formation in man--microbial involvement and possible roles in relation to cancer. *Lancet* **2**: 4-7.
- Shamay Y, Paulin D, Ashkenasy G, David A. (2009). E-selectin binding peptide-polymer-drug conjugates and their selective cytotoxicity against vascular endothelial cells. *Biomaterials* **30**: 6460-6468.
- Shankar S, Ganapathy S, Chen Q, Srivastava RK. (2008). Curcumin sensitizes TRAIL-resistant xenografts: Molecular mechanisms of apoptosis, metastasis and angiogenesis. *Mol Cancer* 7: 16.
- Sharma PR, Shanmugavel M, Saxena AK, Qazi GN. (2008). Induction of apoptosis by a synergistic lignan composition from cedrus deodara in human cancer cells. *Phytother Res* 22: 1587-1594.
- Shepard DR, Raghavan D. (2010). Innovations in the systemic therapy of prostate cancer. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* **7:** 13-21.
- Sheu ML, Chiang CK, Tsai KS, Ho FM, Weng TI, Wu HY et al. (2008). Inhibition of NADPH oxidase-related oxidative stress-triggered signaling by honokiol suppresses high glucose-induced human endothelial cell apoptosis. Free Radic Biol Med 44: 2043-2050.

- Shmeeda H, Tzemach D, Mak L, Gabizon A. (2009). Her2-targeted pegylated liposomal doxorubicin: Retention of target-specific binding and cytotoxicity after in vivo passage. J Control Release 136: 155-160.
- Siegel RM, Frederiksen JK, Zacharias DA, Chan FK, Johnson M, Lynch D et al. (2000). Fas preassociation required for apoptosis signaling and dominant inhibition by pathogenic mutations. *Science* 288: 2354-2357.
- Siegel RM, Muppidi JR, Sarker M, Lobito A, Jen M, Martin D et al. (2004). SPOTS: Signaling protein oligomeric transduction structures are early mediators of death receptor-induced apoptosis at the plasma membrane. J Cell Biol 167: 735-744.
- Siegelin MD, Siegelin Y, Habel A, Gaiser T. (2009). Genistein enhances proteasomal degradation of the short isoform of FLIP in malignant glioma cells and thereby augments TRAIL-mediated apoptosis. *Neurosci Lett* 453: 92-97.
- Simon AK, Williams O, Mongkolsapaya J, Jin B, Xu XN, Walczak H et al. (2001). Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand in T cell development: Sensitivity of human thymocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98: 5158-5163.
- Simons K, Gerl MJ. (2010). Revitalizing membrane rafts: New tools and insights. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 11: 688-699.
- Singh SK, Shanmugavel M, Kampasi H, Singh R, Mondhe DM, Rao JM *et al.* (2007). Chemically standardized isolates from cedrus deodara stem wood having anticancer activity. *Planta Med* 73: 519-526.
- Slowing I, Trewyn BG, Lin VS. (2006). Effect of surface functionalization of MCM-41-type mesoporous silica nanoparticles on the endocytosis by human cancer cells. J Am Chem Soc 128: 14792-14793.
- Slowing II, Trewyn BG, Lin VS. (2007). Mesoporous silica nanoparticles for intracellular delivery of membrane-impermeable proteins. J Am Chem Soc 129: 8845-8849.
- Slowing II, Vivero-Escoto JL, Wu CW, Lin VS. (2008). Mesoporous silica nanoparticles as controlled release drug delivery and gene transfection carriers. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 60: 1278-1288.
- Son YG, Kim EH, Kim JY, Kim SU, Kwon TK, Yoon AR et al. (2007). Silibinin sensitizes human glioma cells to TRAIL-mediated apoptosis via DR5 up-regulation and down-regulation of c-FLIP and survivin. Cancer Res 67: 8274-8284.
- Song JH, Tse MC, Bellail A, Phuphanich S, Khuri F, Kneteman NM et al. (2007). Lipid rafts and nonrafts mediate tumor necrosis factor related apoptosis-inducing ligand induced apoptotic and nonapoptotic signals in non small cell lung carcinoma cells. *Cancer Res* 67: 6946-6955.
- Song K, Chen Y, Goke R, Wilmen A, Seidel C, Goke A et al. (2000). Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) is an inhibitor of autoimmune inflammation and cell cycle progression. J Exp Med 191: 1095-1104.
- Songyang Z, Shoelson SE, Chaudhuri M, Gish G, Pawson T, Haser WG et al. (1993). SH2 domains recognize specific phosphopeptide sequences. Cell 72: 767-778.
- Souris JS, Lee CH, Cheng SH, Chen CT, Yang CS, Ho JA *et al.* (2010). Surface charge-mediated rapid hepatobiliary excretion of mesoporous silica nanoparticles. *Biomaterials* **31**: 5564-5574.

- Sprick MR, Rieser E, Stahl H, Grosse-Wilde A, Weigand MA, Walczak H. (2002). Caspase-10 is recruited to and activated at the native TRAIL and CD95 death-inducing signalling complexes in a FADD-dependent manner but can not functionally substitute caspase-8. *EMBO J* 21: 4520-4530.
- Sprick MR, Weigand MA, Rieser E, Rauch CT, Juo P, Blenis J *et al.* (2000). FADD/MORT1 and caspase-8 are recruited to TRAIL receptors 1 and 2 and are essential for apoptosis mediated by TRAIL receptor 2. *Immunity* **12**: 599-609.
- Srinivasula SM, Datta P, Fan XJ, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Huang Z, Alnemri ES. (2000). Molecular determinants of the caspase-promoting activity of Smac/DIABLO and its role in the death receptor pathway. *J Biol Chem* 275: 36152-36157.
- Staal SP. (1987). Molecular cloning of the akt oncogene and its human homologues AKT1 and AKT2: Amplification of AKT1 in a primary human gastric adenocarcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 84: 5034-5037.
- Stattin P, Bylund A, Biessy C, Kaaks R, Hallmans G, Adlercreutz H. (2004). Prospective study of plasma enterolactone and prostate cancer risk (sweden). *Cancer Causes Control* **15**: 1095-1102.
- Stoka V, Turk B, Schendel SL, Kim TH, Cirman T, Snipas SJ *et al.* (2001). Lysosomal protease pathways to apoptosis. cleavage of bid, not pro-caspases, is the most likely route. *J Biol Chem* **276**: 3149-3157.
- Strasser A, Harris AW, Bath ML, Cory S. (1990). Novel primitive lymphoid tumours induced in transgenic mice by cooperation between myc and bcl-2. *Nature* **348**: 331-333.
- Strasser A, Harris AW, Huang DC, Krammer PH, Cory S. (1995). Bcl-2 and Fas/APO-1 regulate distinct pathways to lymphocyte apoptosis. *EMBO J* 14: 6136-6147.
- Suda T, Takahashi T, Golstein P, Nagata S. (1993). Molecular cloning and expression of the fas ligand, a novel member of the tumor necrosis factor family. *Cell* **75:** 1169-1178.
- Sudimack J, Lee RJ. (2000). Targeted drug delivery via the folate receptor. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* **41**: 147-162.
- Sun S, Wang X, Wang C, Nawaz A, Wei W, Li J *et al.* (2010). Arctigenin suppresses unfolded protein response and sensitizes glucose deprivation-mediated cytotoxicity of cancer cells. *Planta Med*.
- Sun SY, Yue P, Zhou JY, Wang Y, Choi Kim HR, Lotan R et al. (2001). Overexpression of BCL2 blocks TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)-induced apoptosis in human lung cancer cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 280: 788-797.
- Susin SA, Lorenzo HK, Zamzami N, Marzo I, Snow BE, Brothers GM *et al.* (1999). Molecular characterization of mitochondrial apoptosis-inducing factor. *Nature* **397**: 441-446.
- Sutton VR, Davis JE, Cancilla M, Johnstone RW, Ruefli AA, Sedelies K *et al.* (2000). Initiation of apoptosis by granzyme B requires direct cleavage of bid, but not direct granzyme B-mediated caspase activation. *J Exp Med* **192:** 1403-1414.
- Suzuki Y, Imai Y, Nakayama H, Takahashi K, Takio K, Takahashi R. (2001). A serine protease, HtrA2, is released from the mitochondria and interacts with XIAP, inducing cell death. *Mol Cell* 8: 613-621.

- Söderström TS, Poukkula M, Holmström TH, Heiskanen KM, Eriksson JE. (2002). Mitogenactivated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase signaling in activated T cells abrogates TRAIL-induced apoptosis upstream of the mitochondrial amplification loop and caspase-8. J Immunol 169: 2851-2860.
- Tait SW, de Vries E, Maas C, Keller AM, D'Santos CS, Borst J. (2007). Apoptosis induction by bid requires unconventional ubiquitination and degradation of its N-terminal fragment. J Cell Biol 179: 1453-1466.
- Tait SW, Green DR. (2010). Mitochondria and cell death: Outer membrane permeabilization and beyond. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 11: 621-632.
- Takahashi T, Tanaka M, Brannan CI, Jenkins NA, Copeland NG, Suda T *et al.* (1994). Generalized lymphoproliferative disease in mice, caused by a point mutation in the fas ligand. *Cell* **76**: 969-976.
- Takasaki M, Konoshima T, Komatsu K, Tokuda H, Nishino H. (2000). Anti-tumor-promoting activity of lignans from the aerial part of saussurea medusa. *Cancer Lett* **158**: 53-59.
- Takeda K, Smyth MJ, Cretney E, Hayakawa Y, Kayagaki N, Yagita H et al. (2002). Critical role for tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand in immune surveillance against tumor development. J Exp Med 195: 161-169.
- Tan KO, Tan KM, Yu VC. (1999). A novel BH3-like domain in BID is required for intramolecular interaction and autoinhibition of pro-apoptotic activity. *J Biol Chem* 274: 23687-23690.
- Tan W, Wang K, He X, Zhao XJ, Drake T, Wang L et al. (2004). Bionanotechnology based on silica nanoparticles. Med Res Rev 24: 621-638.
- Tanaka M, Suda T, Takahashi T, Nagata S. (1995). Expression of the functional soluble form of human fas ligand in activated lymphocytes. *EMBO J* 14: 1129-1135.
- Tannock IF, de Wit R, Berry WR, Horti J, Pluzanska A, Chi KN et al. (2004). Docetaxel plus prednisone or mitoxantrone plus prednisone for advanced prostate cancer. N Engl J Med 351: 1502-1512.
- Tao Z, Toms BB, Goodisman J, Asefa T. (2009). Mesoporosity and functional group dependent endocytosis and cytotoxicity of silica nanomaterials. *Chem Res Toxicol* 22: 1869-1880.
- Tartaglia LA, Ayres TM, Wong GH, Goeddel DV. (1993). A novel domain within the 55 kd TNF receptor signals cell death. Cell 74: 845-853.
- Thiery JP, Acloque H, Huang RY, Nieto MA. (2009). Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in development and disease. Cell 139: 871-890.
- Thomas TP, Choi SK, Li MH, Kotlyar A, Baker JR, Jr. (2010). Design of riboflavin-presenting PAMAM dendrimers as a new nanoplatform for cancer-targeted delivery. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* **20:** 5191-5194.
- Thome M, Schneider P, Hofmann K, Fickenscher H, Meinl E, Neipel F *et al.* (1997). Viral FLICEinhibitory proteins (FLIPs) prevent apoptosis induced by death receptors. *Nature* **386**: 517-521.
- Thome M, Tschopp J. (2001). Regulation of lymphocyte proliferation and death by FLIP. *Nat Rev Immunol* 1: 50-58.
- Thompson LU, Seidl MM, Rickard SE, Orcheson LJ, Fong HH. (1996). Antitumorigenic effect of a mammalian lignan precursor from flaxseed. *Nutr Cancer* 26: 159-165.

- Tiwari AK, Srinivas PV, Kumar SP, Rao JM. (2001). Free radical scavenging active components from cedrus deodara. *J Agric Food Chem* **49**: 4642-4645.
- Tkachenko AG, Xie H, Coleman D, Glomm W, Ryan J, Anderson MF *et al.* (2003). Multifunctional gold nanoparticle-peptide complexes for nuclear targeting. *J Am Chem Soc* **125**: 4700-4701.
- Todaro M, Lombardo Y, Francipane MG, Alea MP, Cammareri P, Iovino F *et al.* (2008). Apoptosis resistance in epithelial tumors is mediated by tumor-cell-derived interleukin-4. *Cell Death Differ* **15:** 762-772.
- Torney F, Trewyn BG, Lin VS, Wang K. (2007). Mesoporous silica nanoparticles deliver DNA and chemicals into plants. *Nat Nanotechnol* **2:** 295-300.
- Torrance SJ, Hoffmann JJ, Cole JR. (1979). Wikstromol, antitumor lignan from wikstroemia foetida var. oahuensis gray and wikstroemia uva-ursi gray (thymelaeaceae). J Pharm Sci 68: 664-665.
- Tournée-Péeteilh C, Brunel D, Bégu S, Ciche B, Fajula F, Lerner DA *et al.* (2003). Synthesis and characterisation of ibuprofen-anchored MCM-41 silica and silica gel. *New J Chem* **27**: 1415–141.
- Tran C, Ouk S, Clegg NJ, Chen Y, Watson PA, Arora V *et al.* (2009). Development of a secondgeneration antiandrogen for treatment of advanced prostate cancer. *Science* **324**: 787-790.
- Tran SE, Holmström TH, Ahonen M, Kähäri VM, Eriksson JE. (2001). MAPK/ERK overrides the apoptotic signaling from fas, TNF, and TRAIL receptors. *J Biol Chem* **276:** 16484-16490.
- Tran SE, Meinander A, Eriksson JE. (2004). Instant decisions: Transcription-independent control of death-receptor-mediated apoptosis. *Trends Biochem Sci* **29:** 601-608.
- Trauth BC, Klas C, Peters AM, Matzku S, Moller P, Falk W *et al.* (1989). Monoclonal antibodymediated tumor regression by induction of apoptosis. *Science* **245**: 301-305.
- Tsai C-, Chen C-, Hung Y, Chang F-, Mou C-. (2009). Monoclonal antibody-functionalized mesoporous silica nanoparticles (MSN) for selective targeting breast cancer cells. *J Mater Chem* 19: 5737–5743.
- Turk MJ, Waters DJ, Low PS. (2004). Folate-conjugated liposomes preferentially target macrophages associated with ovarian carcinoma. *Cancer Lett* 213: 165-172.
- Vallet-Regi M, Rámila A, del Real RP, Pérez-Pariente J. (2001). A new property of MCM-41: Drug delivery system . *Chem Mater* **13**: 308–311.
- Vandenabeele P, Declercq W, Beyaert R, Fiers W. (1995). Two tumour necrosis factor receptors: Structure and function. *Trends Cell Biol* **5**: 392-399.
- Varfolomeev E, Maecker H, Sharp D, Lawrence D, Renz M, Vucic D et al. (2005). Molecular determinants of kinase pathway activation by Apo2 ligand/tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand. J Biol Chem 280: 40599-40608.
- Vasilcanu D, Girnita A, Girnita L, Vasilcanu R, Axelson M, Larsson O. (2004). The cyclolignan PPP induces activation loop-specific inhibition of tyrosine phosphorylation of the insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor. link to the phosphatidyl inositol-3 kinase/Akt apoptotic pathway. Oncogene 23: 7854-7862.
- Vassalli P. (1992). The pathophysiology of tumor necrosis factors. Annu Rev Immunol 10: 411-452.
- Vaux DL, Cory S, Adams JM. (1988). Bcl-2 gene promotes haemopoietic cell survival and cooperates with c-myc to immortalize pre-B cells. *Nature* 335: 440-442.

- Veldscholte J, Berrevoets CA, Ris-Stalpers C, Kuiper GG, Jenster G, Trapman J et al. (1992). The androgen receptor in LNCaP cells contains a mutation in the ligand binding domain which affects steroid binding characteristics and response to antiandrogens. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 41: 665-669.
- Velentzis LS, Cantwell MM, Cardwell C, Keshtgar MR, Leathem AJ, Woodside JV. (2009). Lignans and breast cancer risk in pre- and post-menopausal women: Meta-analyses of observational studies. *Br J Cancer* 100: 1492-1498.
- Verhagen AM, Ekert PG, Pakusch M, Silke J, Connolly LM, Reid GE et al. (2000). Identification of DIABLO, a mammalian protein that promotes apoptosis by binding to and antagonizing IAP proteins. Cell 102: 43-53.
- Vincenz C, Dixit VM. (1997). Fas-associated death domain protein interleukin-1beta-converting enzyme 2 (FLICE2), an ICE/Ced-3 homologue, is proximally involved in CD95- and p55mediated death signaling. *J Biol Chem* 272: 6578-6583.
- Vivero-Escoto JL, Slowing II, Trewyn BG, Lin VS. (2010). Mesoporous silica nanoparticles for intracellular controlled drug delivery. Small 6: 1952-1967.
- Vivero-Escoto JL, Slowing II, Wu CW, Lin VS. (2009). Photoinduced intracellular controlled release drug delivery in human cells by gold-capped mesoporous silica nanosphere. J Am Chem Soc 131: 3462-3463.
- Vlietstra RJ, van Alewijk DC, Hermans KG, van Steenbrugge GJ, Trapman J. (1998). Frequent inactivation of PTEN in prostate cancer cell lines and xenografts. *Cancer Res* 58: 2720-2723.
- Vogler M, Walczak H, Stadel D, Haas TL, Genze F, Jovanovic M et al. (2009). Small molecule XIAP inhibitors enhance TRAIL-induced apoptosis and antitumor activity in preclinical models of pancreatic carcinoma. Cancer Res 69: 2425-2434.
- Wagner KW, Punnoose EA, Januario T, Lawrence DA, Pitti RM, Lancaster K et al. (2007). Deathreceptor O-glycosylation controls tumor-cell sensitivity to the proapoptotic ligand Apo2L/TRAIL. Nat Med 13: 1070-1077.
- Wagner V, Dullaart A, Bock AK, Zweck A. (2006). The emerging nanomedicine landscape. Nat Biotechnol 24: 1211-1217.
- Walczak H, Bouchon A, Stahl H, Krammer PH. (2000). Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosisinducing ligand retains its apoptosis-inducing capacity on bcl-2- or bcl-xL-overexpressing chemotherapy-resistant tumor cells. *Cancer Res* 60: 3051-3057.
- Walczak H, Miller RE, Ariail K, Gliniak B, Griffith TS, Kubin M et al. (1999). Tumoricidal activity of tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand in vivo. Nat Med 5: 157-163.
- Wandinger KP, Lunemann JD, Wengert O, Bellmann-Strobl J, Aktas O, Weber A et al. (2003). TNFrelated apoptosis inducing ligand (TRAIL) as a potential response marker for interferon-beta treatment in multiple sclerosis. Lancet 361: 2036-2043.
- Wang HG, Pathan N, Ethell IM, Krajewski S, Yamaguchi Y, Shibasaki F et al. (1999). Ca2+-induced apoptosis through calcineurin dephosphorylation of BAD. Science 284: 339-343.
- Wang J, Chun HJ, Wong W, Spencer DM, Lenardo MJ. (2001). Caspase-10 is an initiator caspase in death receptor signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98: 13884-13888.
- Wang M, Thanou M. (2010). Targeting nanoparticles to cancer. Pharmacol Res 62: 90-99.
- Watanabe-Fukunaga R, Brannan CI, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, Nagata S. (1992). Lymphoproliferation disorder in mice explained by defects in fas antigen that mediates apoptosis. *Nature* 356: 314-317.
- Wei MC, Zong WX, Cheng EH, Lindsten T, Panoutsakopoulou V, Ross AJ *et al.* (2001). Proapoptotic BAX and BAK: A requisite gateway to mitochondrial dysfunction and death. *Science* **292**: 727-730.
- Weitman SD, Weinberg AG, Coney LR, Zurawski VR, Jennings DS, Kamen BA. (1992). Cellular localization of the folate receptor: Potential role in drug toxicity and folate homeostasis. *Cancer Res* 52: 6708-6711.
- Wertz IE, Dixit VM. (2010). Regulation of death receptor signaling by the ubiquitin system. Cell Death Differ 17: 14-24.
- Wiezorek J, Holland P, Graves J. (2010). Death receptor agonists as a targeted therapy for cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* **16**: 1701-1708.
- Wiley SR, Schooley K, Smolak PJ, Din WS, Huang CP, Nicholl JK *et al.* (1995). Identification and characterization of a new member of the TNF family that induces apoptosis. *Immunity* **3:** 673-682.
- Willför SM, Ahotupa MO, Hemming JE, Reunanen MH, Eklund PC, Sjöholm RE et al. (2003). Antioxidant activity of knotwood extractives and phenolic compounds of selected tree species. J Agric Food Chem 51: 7600-7606.
- Wilson NS, Dixit V, Ashkenazi A. (2009). Death receptor signal transducers: Nodes of coordination in immune signaling networks. *Nat Immunol* 10: 348-355.
- Wood KC, Azarin SM, Arap W, Pasqualini R, Langer R, Hammond PT. (2008). Tumor-targeted gene delivery using molecularly engineered hybrid polymers functionalized with a tumor-homing peptide. *Bioconjug Chem* 19: 403-405.
- Wosikowski K, Biedermann E, Rattel B, Breiter N, Jank P, Loser R *et al.* (2003). In vitro and in vivo antitumor activity of methotrexate conjugated to human serum albumin in human cancer cells. *Clin Cancer Res* **9**: 1917-1926.
- Wu GS, Burns TF, Zhan Y, Alnemri ES, El-Deiry WS. (1999). Molecular cloning and functional analysis of the mouse homologue of the KILLER/DR5 tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosisinducing ligand (TRAIL) death receptor. *Cancer Res* 59: 2770-2775.
- Wyllie AH, Kerr JF, Currie AR. (1980). Cell death: The significance of apoptosis. *Int Rev Cytol* 68: 251-306.
- Xia T, Kovochich M, Liong M, Meng H, Kabehie S, George S *et al.* (2009). Polyethyleneimine coating enhances the cellular uptake of mesoporous silica nanoparticles and allows safe delivery of siRNA and DNA constructs. *ACS Nano* **3**: 3273-3286.
- Xu Z, Chen L, Gu W, Gao Y, Lin L, Zhang Z *et al.* (2009). The performance of docetaxel-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles targeted to hepatocellular carcinoma. *Biomaterials* **30**: 226-232.
- Xu ZP, Niebert M, Porazik K, Walker TL, Cooper HM, Middelberg AP *et al.* (2008). Subcellular compartment targeting of layered double hydroxide nanoparticles. *J Control Release* **130**: 86-94.
- Yang L, Mao H, Cao Z, Wang YA, Peng X, Wang X et al. (2009). Molecular imaging of pancreatic cancer in an animal model using targeted multifunctional nanoparticles. *Gastroenterology* 136: 1514-25.e2.

- Yee KS, Vousden KH. (2005). Complicating the complexity of p53. Carcinogenesis 26: 1317-1322.
- Yeh WC, Itie A, Elia AJ, Ng M, Shu HB, Wakeham A et al. (2000). Requirement for casper (c-FLIP) in regulation of death receptor-induced apoptosis and embryonic development. *Immunity* 12: 633-642.
- Yin XM, Wang K, Gross A, Zhao Y, Zinkel S, Klocke B et al. (1999). Bid-deficient mice are resistant to fas-induced hepatocellular apoptosis. *Nature* 400: 886-891.
- Yokoyama T, Okano M, Noshita T, Funayama S, Ohtsuki K. (2003). Characterization of (-)matairesinol as a potent inhibitor of casein kinase I in vitro. *Biol Pharm Bull* 26: 371-374.
- Yoo JH, Lee HJ, Kang K, Jho EH, Kim CY, Baturen D et al. (2010). Lignans inhibit cell growth via regulation of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. Food Chem Toxicol 48: 2247-2252.
- Yoshida T, Shiraishi T, Horinaka M, Nakata S, Yasuda T, Goda AE et al. (2007). Lipoxygenase inhibitors induce death receptor 5/TRAIL-R2 expression and sensitize malignant tumor cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis. Cancer Sci 98: 1417-1423.
- Younes A, Vose JM, Zelenetz AD, Smith MR, Burris H, Ansell S et al. (2005). Results of a phase 2 trial of HGS-ETR1 (agonistic human monoclonal antibody to TRAIL receptor 1) in subjects with relapsed/refractory non-hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL). Blood (ASH Annu Meet Abstr) 489.
- Yu J, Zhang Y, McIlroy J, Rordorf-Nikolic T, Orr GA, Backer JM. (1998). Regulation of the p85/p110 phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase: Stabilization and inhibition of the p110alpha catalytic subunit by the p85 regulatory subunit. *Mol Cell Biol* 18: 1379-1387.
- Yu S, Shen G, Khor TO, Kim JH, Kong AN. (2008). Curcumin inhibits Akt/mammalian target of rapamycin signaling through protein phosphatase-dependent mechanism. *Mol Cancer Ther* 7: 2609-2620.
- Yuan XJ, Whang YE. (2002). PTEN sensitizes prostate cancer cells to death receptor-mediated and drug-induced apoptosis through a FADD-dependent pathway. Oncogene 21: 319-327.
- Yuan ZP, Chen LJ, Fan LY, Tang MH, Yang GL, Yang HS et al. (2006). Liposomal quercetin efficiently suppresses growth of solid tumors in murine models. *Clin Cancer Res* 12: 3193-3199.
- Yuasa T, Ohno S, Kehrl JH, Kyriakis JM. (1998). Tumor necrosis factor signaling to stress-activated protein kinase (SAPK)/Jun NH2-terminal kinase (JNK) and p38. germinal center kinase couples TRAF2 to mitogen-activated protein kinase/ERK kinase kinase 1 and SAPK while receptor interacting protein associates with a mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase upstream of MKK6 and p38. J Biol Chem 273: 22681-22692.
- Yue HH, Diehl GE, Winoto A. (2005). Loss of TRAIL-R does not affect thymic or intestinal tumor development in p53 and adenomatous polyposis coli mutant mice. *Cell Death Differ* 12: 94-97.
- Zerafa N, Westwood JA, Cretney E, Mitchell S, Waring P, Iezzi M et al. (2005). Cutting edge: TRAIL deficiency accelerates hematological malignancies. *J Immunol* **175**: 5586-5590.
- Zha J, Harada H, Yang E, Jockel J, Korsmeyer SJ. (1996). Serine phosphorylation of death agonist BAD in response to survival factor results in binding to 14-3-3 not BCL-X(L). *Cell* 87: 619-628.
- Zha J, Weiler S, Oh KJ, Wei MC, Korsmeyer SJ. (2000). Posttranslational N-myristoylation of BID as a molecular switch for targeting mitochondria and apoptosis. *Science* **290**: 1761-1765.
- Zhang HY, Man JH, Liang B, Zhou T, Wang CH, Li T et al. (2010). Tumor-targeted delivery of biologically active TRAIL protein. Cancer Gene Ther 17: 334-343.

- Zhang W, Wang X, Liu Y, Tian H, Flickinger B, Empie MW *et al.* (2008). Effects of dietary flaxseed lignan extract on symptoms of benign prostatic hyperplasia. *J Med Food* **11**: 207-214.
- Zhang XD, Borrow JM, Zhang XY, Nguyen T, Hersey P. (2003). Activation of ERK1/2 protects melanoma cells from TRAIL-induced apoptosis by inhibiting Smac/DIABLO release from mitochondria. *Oncogene* 22: 2869-2881.
- Zhang Z, Chen J, Ding L, Jin H, Lovell JF, Corbin IR *et al.* (2010). HDL-mimicking peptide-lipid nanoparticles with improved tumor targeting. *Small* **6**: 430-437.
- Zhao R, Gish K, Murphy M, Yin Y, Notterman D, Hoffman WH *et al.* (2000). Analysis of p53regulated gene expression patterns using oligonucleotide arrays. *Genes Dev* 14: 981-993.
- Zhu C-, Song X-, Zhou W-, Yang H-, Wen Y-, Wang X-. (2009). An efficient cell-targeting and intracellular controlled-release drug delivery system based on MSN-PEM-aptamer conjugates. J Mater Chem 19: 7765–7770.
- Zinkel SS, Hurov KE, Ong C, Abtahi FM, Gross A, Korsmeyer SJ. (2005). A role for proapoptotic BID in the DNA-damage response. *Cell* **122:** 579-591.
- Zou H, Li Y, Liu X, Wang X. (1999). An APAF-1.cytochrome c multimeric complex is a functional apoptosome that activates procaspase-9. *J Biol Chem* **274:** 11549-11556.
- Özören N, El-Deiry WS. (2002). Defining characteristics of types I and II apoptotic cells in response to TRAIL. *Neoplasia* 4: 551-557.
- Özören N, Kim K, Burns TF, Dicker DT, Moscioni AD, El-Deiry WS. (2000). The caspase 9 inhibitor Z-LEHD-FMK protects human liver cells while permitting death of cancer cells exposed to tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand. *Cancer Res* **60**: 6259-6265.

ISBN 978-952-12-2502-4

Painosalama Oy – Turku, Finland 2010